
Hamilton County Board of County Commissioners

Commissioner Graham

AGENDA May 06, 2015

ROLL CALL

INVOCATION -

PLEDGE TO THE FLAG - Commissioner Graham

Presentation Circuit Court Clerk Presentation - Agenda Session Only

Minutes Recessed Meeting - April 8, 2015

Minutes Agenda Session - April 8, 2015

Minutes Regular Meeting - April 15, 2015

Report Trustee Monthly Report March 2015

Report Trustee Excess Fee Report March 2015

Report Quarterly Investment Report

Report Criminal Court Clerk's Reports Revised December 2014; January and February 2015

Res. No. 515-1 A Resolution to approve and accept applications for notary public positions, the bond of Deputy
Sheriff, and the oaths of Deputy Sheriffs.

Res. No. 515-2 A Resolution to confirm the appointment by the County Mayor of Bart McKinney as Director of
the Information Technology Services Department.

Res. No. 515-3 A Resolution confirming the appointment of one member and reappointment of two members by
the County Mayor to the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Hospital Authority Financial Review
Committee with terms expiring May 6, 2018.

Res. No. 515-4 A Resolution to confirm the appointment of one member and reappointment of one member by
the County Mayor to the Hamilton County Citizens Advisory Board for Recreation for a term
ending April 17, 2017.

Res. No. 515-5 A Resolution confirming the reappointment by the County Mayor of two members to the
Hamilton County Beer Board with term expiring May 2, 2018 and May 18, 2019.

Res. No. 515-6 A Resolution accepting the bid of Mountain View Ford for one (1) high top cargo van amounting
to $32,793.00 for the Sheriff’s Department and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any
contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 515-7 A Resolution accepting the bid of CDJR of Columbia for one (1) seven passenger van
amounting to $21,315.00 for Juvenile Court and to amend the Juvenile Court General Fund
Capital Outlay Budget from previously unbudgeted funds in the amount of $14,515.00 and
authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 515-8 A Resolution authorizing repayment to the County General Fund from the Hamilton County
Department of Education's subsequent year's revenue growth of appropriations paid on behalf of
the Department of Education, as approved and requested by the Hamilton County School Board
for Public Education Projects submitted during a current fiscal year, as may be approved by this
County Legislative body.

Res. No. 515-9 A Resolution accepting the proposal of Verizon Wireless to provide wireless communications
service for Hamilton County from May 6, 2015 through May 5, 2018, with renewal options, and to
authorize the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 515-10 A Resolution accepting the bid of the Southeastern Communication Services, Inc. for the
installation, termination, testing, programming and certification of an Apogee sound system at
East Brainerd Elementary School for the telecommunications office amounting to $36,770.67
and to authorize the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.



Res. No. 515-11 A Resolution accepting the quotation from Physio Control, Inc.  for a two (2) year service
contract for Lifepak  defibrillator / cardiac monitors beginning July 1, 2015, through June 30,
2017, amounting to $82,859.90 per term for Emergency Medical Services and authorizing the
County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 515-12 A Resolution authorizing the County Mayor to apply to the Tennessee Department of
Transportation and accept a litter prevention and trash collection grant in the amount of
$108,900 with a contract period beginning July 1, 2015 and ending June 30, 2016.

Res. No. 515-13 A Resolution accepting the bids of Bound Tree Medical, LLC and Nashville Medical and EMS
Products, Inc. for one (1) year contract pricing, beginning May 7, 2015, through May 6, 2016, for
medical supplies for Emergency Medical Services and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any
contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 515-14 A Resolution approving the expenditure of Sixty Thousand Dollars ($60,000.00) in Discretionary
Bond Funds (as allotted to District Seven) to assist with the building of a restroom facility for the
Athletic Complex at East Hamilton Middle/High School.

Res. No. 515-15 A Resolution approving the expenditure of Fifteen Thousand Eighty Five Dollars ($15,085.00) in
Bond Discretionary Funds (as allotted to District Three) toward the purchase of ISG S200 Demo
Thermal Imaging Cameras with Truck Mount for the Dallas Bay Volunteer Fire Department.

Res. No. 515-16 A Resolution ratifying the purchase of gasoline and diesel fuel for the period of March 1, 2015,
through March 31, 2015, and to authorize the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to
implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 515-17 A Resolution accepting the bid of SHI International Corporation for contract unit pricing for
Microsoft Surface Pro 3 and IPAD Air 2, beginning May 6, 2015 through May 5, 2016, with the
option to renew for one additional one (1) year term, for the Information Technology Services
Department and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this
Resolution.

Res. No. 515-18 A Resolution to amend the “Master List of Roads and Speed Limits” so as to accept the following
district roads and to establish speed limits therefore: Vintage Lane, an extension of Satjanon
Drive and an extension of Raydoe Road.

Res. No. 515-19 A Resolution accepting the bid of Evans-Ailey Construction, Inc. for construction of the Sale
Creek Volunteer Fire Department Headquarters amounting to $4,192,000 and authorizing the
County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 515-20 A Resolution approving the submission of a request for lease proposals to Natural Resources
Conservation Service (NRCS) and to authorize the County Mayor, on behalf of Hamilton County,
to negotiate and execute a five-year succeeding lease agreement between Hamilton County and
the United States of America (USA) for office space within the J. Merle Crawley Agriculture
Center, said lease commencing August 1, 2015 and terminating July 31, 2020.

Res. No. 515-21 A Resolution accepting the bid of Rentenbach Constructors, Inc. for construction of the Ganns
Middle Valley Elementary School amounting to $29,414,000.00 and authorizing the County
Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this Resolution.

Res. No. 515-22 A Resolution to authorize the County Mayor to amend a contract between the State of
Tennessee, Department of Health and Hamilton County, Tennessee, Health Services Division,
operating as the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department for the provision of
Community Health Prevention Services using funds from the State of Tennessee, Department of
Health in the amount not to exceed $90,600.00 thereby requiring the health department’s
revenue and expense budget be increased by $20,000.00 for the period beginning May 15,
2015, ending June 30, 2015.

Res. No. 515-23 A Resolution to authorize the County Mayor to execute a contract between the State of
Tennessee, Department of Health and Hamilton County, Tennessee, Health Services Division,
operating as the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department for the provision of Health
Promotion Services using funds from the State of Tennessee, Department of Health in the
amount not to exceed $121,700.00 for the period beginning July 1, 2015, ending June 30, 2016.

Res. No. 515-24 A Resolution authorizing the County Mayor to sign a continuation contract with the Tennessee
Department of Health and Hamilton County, Tennessee, the Health Services Division, operating
as the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department, for the fiscal year 2015-2016 contract
period, in an amount not to exceed $447,100.00 to provide TENNderCare outreach program
services.



Res. No. 515-25 A Resolution authorizing the County Mayor on behalf of Hamilton County, Tennessee, the
Health Services Division, operating as the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department, to
sign an amendment to the contract with the Tennessee Department of Health to provide medical
case management of persons infected with HIV/AIDS in Hamilton County for the time period
April 1, 2015  – March 31, 2016 (Resolution 1214-7), and to amend the revenue and expenditure
budgets to decrease the HIV/AIDS Medical Case Management budget by $15,500.00.

Res. No. 515-26 A Resolution authorizing the County Mayor on behalf of Hamilton County, Tennessee, the
Health Services Division, operating as the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department to
sign a continuation contract with the Tennessee Department of Health in the amount of
$303,400.00 to provide Tuberculosis Controls Services in Hamilton County for a time period of
July 1, 2015 through June 30, 2016.

Res. No. 515-27 A Resolution to authorize the County Mayor on behalf of Hamilton County, Tennessee,  Health
Services Division, operating as the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department, to enter
into and execute a letter of agreement with the State of Tennessee, Department of Health for the
provision of Tobacco Use Prevention Services, using tobacco settlement funds received from
the State of Tennessee, Department of Health in the amount of $256,649.00, and thereby
amending the FY15 revenue and expense budget of the Health Department by increasing the
budget by $256,649.00 through December 31, 2015, and with the remaining revenue balance
carrying forward to the next fiscal year.

Res. No. 515-28 A Resolution to make certain findings relating to the Heritage-MaClellan Apartments, LLC
project, to delegate certain authority to the Health, Educational, and Housing Facility Board of
the City of Chattanooga, Tennessee, and to authorize the County Mayor to enter into and
execute an agreement for Payments in Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes.

ANNOUNCEMENTS

DELEGATIONS ON MATTERS OTHER THAN ZONING

Any invocation that may be offered before the official start of the Commission
meeting shall be the voluntary offering of a private citizen, to and for the
benefit of the Commission.  The views or beliefs expressed by the invocation
speaker have not been previously reviewed or approved by the Commission
and do not necessarily represent the religious beliefs or views of the
Commission in part or as a whole.  No member of the community is required to
attend or participate in the invocation and such decision will have no impact on
their right to actively participate in the business of the Commission.



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

APRIL 8, 2015 
 

1 
 

STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Recessed Meeting 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON  )  April 8, 2015 

 

 BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this 8th day of April, 2015, a Recessed Meeting of 

the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners was begun and held at the Courthouse, 

in the City of Chattanooga, in the County Commission Room, when the following 

proceedings were held, to wit:-- 

 

 Present and presiding was the Honorable Jim Fields, Chairman, County Clerk Bill 

Knowles called the roll of the County Commission and the following, constituting a 

quorum, answered to their names:  Commissioner Bankston, Commissioner Beck, 

Commissioner Boyd, Commissioner Fairbanks, Commissioner Graham, Commissioner 

Haynes, Commissioner Mackey, Commissioner Smedley, and Chairman Fields. Total 

present – 9.  Total absent -0. 

 

 Also in attendance were County Mayor Jim Coppinger, members of his 

administrative staff, County Attorney Rheubin Taylor, and County Auditor Bill McGriff. 

 

 Commissioner Haynes introduced Pastor Nancy Harrison, First Church of Christ, 

Scientist, who gave the invocation.  Commissioner Haynes led in the pledge to the flag. 



RECESSED MEETING 
HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

APRIL 8, 2015 
 

2 
 

 

 Chairman Fields announced that there was not any scheduled business for the 

Recessed Meeting and asked if anyone had any announcements. 

 

 Being no further business Chairman Fields declared the recessed meeting 

adjourned. 

 

 
     Respectfully submitted: 
 
 
 
 
      
     _______________________________ 
     William F. (Bill) Knowles, County Clerk 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Approved: 
 
 
______ 
Date  Clerk’s Initials 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

APRIL 8, 2015 
 
 

 1

STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Agenda Preparation Session 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON  )  April 8, 2015 

 

BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this 8th day of April, 2015, an Agenda Preparation 

Session of the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners was begun and held at the 

Courthouse, in the City of Chattanooga, in the County Commission Room, when the 

following proceedings were held, to wit:-- 

 

Present and presiding was the Honorable Jim Fields, Chairman, County Clerk Bill 

Knowles called the roll of the County Commission and the following, constituting a 

quorum, answered to their names:  Commissioner Bankston, Commissioner Beck, 

Commissioner Boyd, Commissioner Fairbanks, Commissioner Graham, Commissioner 

Haynes, Commissioner Mackey, Commissioner Smedley, and Chairman Fields. Total 

present – 9.  Total absent -0. 

 

Also in attendance were County Mayor Jim Coppinger, members of his 

administrative staff, County Attorney Rheubin Taylor, and County Auditor Bill McGriff. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

APRIL 8, 2015 
 
 

 2

COMMITTEE ASSIGNMENTS 

 

Chairman Fields indicated the upcoming agenda items would be considered as 

follows: 

 A Three Star Compliance Report would be submitted and made a matter of 
record. 

 An Order of Designation to the Planning Commission would be submitted as a 
matter of record. 

 Resolution No. 415-13 was the usual County Clerk item regarding notaries, etc.  
This required no committee assignment. 

 Resolutions No. 415-17 through 415-19, 415-22 through 415-27, 415-29, and 
415-30 were assigned to the Finance Committee, chaired by Commissioner 
Graham. 

 Resolution No. 415-28 was assigned to the Legal Committee, chaired by 
Commissioner Bankston. 

 Resolutions No. 415-14 through 415-16, 415-20, and 415-21 were heard by a 
Committee of the Whole. 

 

Chairman Fields stated that Resolutions No. 415-14 through 415-16, 415-20, and 

415-21 would now be heard by the Committee of the Whole. 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 415-14 

 

This item appoints Joseph G. DeGaetano as one regular member, and 

Commissioner Marty Haynes and Melinda Volker as two associate members to the 

Hamilton County Board of Zoning Appeals. There were no questions regarding this 

Resolution.  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

APRIL 8, 2015 
 
 

 3

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 415-15 

 

Mayor Coppinger spoke regarding the Resolution, which would confirm the 

appointment of Thomas Lamb as Director of the Parks and Recreation Department 

effective with the retirement of Ron Priddy. Mayor Coppinger introduced Mr. Lamb and 

asked that he stand. He complimented Mr. Lamb for his work during his 14 years of 

employment with Hamilton County. It was noted that Mr. Lamb was highly 

recommended by Mr. Priddy for this position. 

 

Mayor Coppinger and several members of the Commission also thanked Mr. 

Priddy for his service to Hamilton County. 

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 415-16 

 

Mayor Coppinger spoke regarding this Resolution, which would reappoint Jack 

Studer to the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Hospital Authority Board of Trustees for a 

term ending April 18, 2019. 

 

In response to Commissioner Boyd’s question, Mayor Coppinger noted that he 

had always found Mr. Studer to be accessible. Commissioner Boyd added he was 

interested in reaching Mr. Studer for a personal interview.  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

APRIL 8, 2015 
 
 

 4

 

Mayor Coppinger emphasized that board members do not receive compensation 

for their services. He made it known that he has never attempted to influence a board 

member on how they should vote. In closing, he noted that Mr. Studer stays informed 

and manages his duties as a board member very efficiently.  

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 415-20 

 

Mayor Coppinger spoke regarding this Resolution which authorizes the County 

Mayor to enter into an agreement with WTCI to produce a best practices video series. 

The series will be designed to help meet the needs of Hamilton County educators, 

parents, and students. The total cost is to be $100,000, and the Resolution authorizes 

an immediate expenditure of $30,000 to be paid from current fiscal year funds. The 

Mayor said the balance would be provided in the new budget. He highly praised the 

program. 

 

Mayor Coppinger introduced Shaun Townley, Vice President of Content and 

Digital Strategy at WTCI, and Paul Grove, General Manager of WTCI. Mr. Townley 

presented a video for members of the Commission and audience to view. He explained 

that the goal of the program is to give teachers an additional opportunity for professional 

development. He added that WTCI would film teachers at the direction of school 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

APRIL 8, 2015 
 
 

 5

authorities who have exceptional programs or teaching methods, and other teachers 

would have the opportunity to view the methods captured by video. He added that some 

of the funding would be used to build awareness for PBS learning media, which 

contains at home training videos at no charge for topics that may be more challenging 

for students. It was noted that Superintendent Rick Smith issued a letter in support of 

the program. 

 

In response to Commissioner Boyd’s question, Mr. Townley added that the 

request for funding has not been presented to the school board.  

 

Commissioner Boyd suggested that the project be funded using the growth funds 

from the increase in the school board’s budget. 

 

In response to Commissioner Fairbanks question, Mr. Townley explained that 

Superintendent Smith and his team would be responsible for the content of the videos.  

 

Mayor Coppinger voiced his support for the program and explained the necessity 

for providing funds for the program before the end of the current school year. The Mayor 

added that Superintendent Smith was supportive of this program, and he was confident 

the school board would be in support too. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

APRIL 8, 2015 
 
 

 6

Commissioner Graham stated that he would be supporting this program, but he 

would prefer to get approval from the school board before voting. 

 

In response to Commissioner Boyd’s comments, Mayor Coppinger clarified that 

this approval is a time sensitive item because of the production component. He stated 

that the goal is to have the program operating by the beginning of the next school year.  

 

Superintendent Smith’s letter of support was distributed to members of the 

Commission and the County Clerk’s office. 

 

In response to Commissioner Mackey’s question, Chairman Fields explained that 

the Commission could ask Superintendent Smith to attend next week’s meeting. 

 

In response to Commissioner Graham’s question, Chairman Fields clarified that 

Resolution No. 215-20 would be voted on next week unless a request to pull the 

resolution was made before then.  

 

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE – RESOLUTION NO. 415-21 

 

Attorney Taylor spoke regarding this item, which would authorize the payment of 

$200,000 in settlement of an alleged wrongful death claim against Hamilton County 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

APRIL 8, 2015 
 
 

 7

brought by the parents and next friends of Austin Dakota Wallace. Attorney Taylor 

explained that this figure was a result of mediation.  

 

ANNOUNCEMENTS 

 

Chairman Fields asked for announcements from members of the Commission.  

 

Mayor Coppinger announced that Hamilton County has retained its AAA bond 

rating from the three big rating agencies. He added that this news is beneficial because 

the Commission would be issuing bonds later in the month.  

 

Mayor Coppinger and several members of the Commissioner praised Finance 

Administrator Albert Kiser and his staff for their work.  

 

Attorney Taylor requested that Commissioners and the Mayor meet with him in 

the adjacent conference room following today’s Agenda Session for a brief legal 

meeting. 

 

Commissioner Smedley spoke about the tour she took of the new East Brainerd 

School. She praised the design of the facility for being able to accommodate more 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

APRIL 8, 2015 
 
 

 8

students. Commissioner Smedley spoke highly of fellow Commissioners for being pro-

education. 

 

Commissioner Fairbanks announced that AT&T would be hosting 30 students 

from Sequoyah High School to allow them to job shadow and educate them on being 

out in the work force. He praised the company for allowing students to come visit their 

facility. 

 

Commissioner Bankston, Chairman of the Legal Committee, stated the Legal 

Committee would meet in the adjacent conference room after today’s Agenda Session. 

 

Commissioner Bankston announced that the Audit Committee meeting was 

rescheduled for April 29th following the Agenda Session.  

 

In response to a request made at last week’s meeting, Commissioner Bankston 

spoke about property tax relief programs currently in place for elderly or disabled 

homeowners, and disabled veteran homeowners. Elderly homeowners must be 65 or 

older and have a combined annual income that cannot exceed $28,270. Disabled 

homeowners must be rated totally and permanently disabled by the Social Security 

Administration and have a combined annual income that cannot exceed $28,270. 

Determination of eligibility for Disabled veteran homeowners or widow(er) of a disabled 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

APRIL 8, 2015 
 
 

 9

veteran will be made based on information provided by the VA through use of consent 

forms available at the County Trustee’s office. The deadline to apply is April 5th. He 

added that currently 2500 people in Hamilton County are participating in the tax relief 

program.  

 

Commissioner Graham asked for a copy of the documents regarding tax relief in 

Hamilton County. 

 

Commissioner Graham, Chairman of the Finance Committee announced that the 

Finance Committee would be meeting in the Commission Room immediately after the 

Agenda Session. Commissioner Graham added that he had an idea regarding school 

funding to discuss with the Finance Committee and invited any Commissioner who 

wished to attend.  

 

Commissioner Mackey spoke about the importance of a property tax freeze 

program for senior citizens and veterans.  

 

Commissioner Haynes spoke about attending the Superintendent’s Honors 

Banquet, which honored the top 10 percent of each graduating class at Hamilton 

County’s 17 high schools. He added that the opportunity for those students to stay and 

become employed in Hamilton County has grown significantly. He also spoke about his 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

APRIL 8, 2015 
 
 

 10

concern over the dwindling number of young men included in the top 10 percent of 

students, and the effort he has made in his district to improve that number.  

 

Commissioner Beck added that brochures about the current property tax relief 

programs are available in the County Trustee’s office.  

 

Commissioner Graham announced that there would be a meeting with 

Superintendent Smith in District 6 at the John A. Patten Recreation Center tomorrow 

night at 7:00 pm. He added that the school board member for District 6 would be 

present at the meeting as well. 

 

In response to Commissioner Mackey’s question, Mayor Coppinger and Mr. Kiser 

provided standards involved for the government to meet before receiving a AAA bond 

rating.  

 

Chairman Fields recognized school board member Donna Horn in the audience.  

 

 

 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

APRIL 8, 2015 
 
 

 11

DELEGATIONS 

 

Chairman Fields asked for delegations on matters other than zoning. 

 

Jim Snuggs residing at 9854 Leslie Sandidge Dr. Ooltewah, TN 37363 

addressed the Commission regarding funding for schools. He urged the Commission to 

support Superintendent Smith’s plan to obtain additional funding for education. 

 

Commissioner Graham responded to Mr. Snuggs comments by explaining that 

due to economic development and growth, the school budget has increased significantly 

each year with only one property tax increase. 

 

Mr. Snuggs added that having the best teachers and the right resources are an 

important part in improving schools in Hamilton County.   

 

Commissioner Smedley thanked Mr. Snuggs for attending today’s meeting and 

emphasized the importance the Commissioners place on education.  

 

 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
AGENDA PREPARATION SESSION 

APRIL 8, 2015 
 
 

 12

 

Being no further business, Chairman Fields declared the meeting adjourned until 

Wednesday, April 15th at 9:30 AM. 

 

 

 

Respectfully submitted: 

      

      _________________________________   
      William F. (Bill) Knowles, County Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Approved: 
 
           

__________  
Date      Clerk’s Initials 
 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

APRIL 15, 2015 
 

1 

 

STATE OF TENNESSEE  )  Regular Meeting 

COUNTY OF HAMILTON  )  April 15, 2015 

 

BE IT REMEMBERED, that on this 15th day of April, 2015, a Regular Meeting of 

the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners was begun and held at the Courthouse, 

in the City of Chattanooga, in the County Commission Room, when the following 

proceedings were held, to wit:-- 

 

Present and presiding was the Honorable Jim Fields, Chairman. County Clerk Bill 

Knowles called the roll of the County Commission and the following, constituting a 

quorum, answered to their names: Commissioner Bankston, Commissioner Boyd, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, Commissioner Graham, Commissioner Haynes, 

Commissioner Mackey, Commissioner Smedley, and Chairman Fields. Commissioner 

Beck was in the office and arrived moments after the roll call. Total present – 9. Total 

absent – 0. 

 

Also in attendance were County Mayor Jim Coppinger, members of his 

administrative staff, County Attorney Rheubin Taylor, and County Auditor Bill McGriff. 

 

Attached hereto is a copy of the Public Notice of this meeting, which was 

published in a local newspaper and made a matter of record of this meeting. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

APRIL 15, 2015 
 

2 

 

Commissioner Haynes introduced Pastor Vahid Alavian, Spiritual Assembly of 

the Baha’is, who gave the invocation. Commissioner Haynes led in the pledge to the 

flag. 

 

PRESENTATION – TRUSTEE BILL HULLANDER – PROPERTY TAX RELIEF 

PROGRAM 

 

 County Trustee Bill Hullander addressed the Commission and discussed 

property tax relief in Hamilton County. He distributed a handout to members of the 

Commission and the County Clerk.  

 

Trustee Hullander also reported that legislation (House Bill No. 1197 – Senate 

Bill No. 1136) was presently being considered by the State Legislature. If adopted it 

would change various aspects of the Tax Relief program.  

 

 In response to Commissioner Beck’s question, Trustee Hullander stated that his 

office prints tax relief information on bills sent to Hamilton County homeowners 

annually. He added that according to US Census reports approximately 90 percent of 

qualified elderly homeowners are already enrolled. 

 

 Several members of the Commission thanked Trustee Hullander for his 

presentation and for making the information easily accessible. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

APRIL 15, 2015 
 

3 

 

 In response to Commissioner Boyd’s question, Trustee Hullander clarified the 

maximum amount listed on the handout for a municipality. 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Bankston, seconded by Commissioner Beck, that 

the minutes of the Recessed Meeting of March 25, 2015, the Agenda Preparation 

Session of March 25, 2015, and the Regular Meeting of April 1, 2015, be approved, 

treat same as read, made a matter of record and filed. The foregoing Motion was 

unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County 

Commission being present and voting as follows: Commissioner Bankston, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Fields, “Aye”. Total 

present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 9.  Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

THREE STAR COMPLIANCE REPORT 

 

 Mayor Coppinger submitted for the record a letter reflecting Hamilton County’s 

compliance with the Three Star Program. 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

APRIL 15, 2015 
 

4 

 

ORDER OF DESIGNATION 

 

 An order was submitted for the record designating Todd Leamon to sit as the 

County Mayor’s representative on the Planning Commission for the meeting April 13, 

2015. 

 

RESOLUTION 415-13 A RESOLUTION TO APPROVE AND ACCEPT 

APPLICATIONS FOR NOTARY PUBLIC POSITIONS, CONTINUATION 

CERTIFICATES FOR THE BONDS OF HAMILTON COUNTY 911 EMERGENCY 

COMMUNICATIONS DISTRICT, AND OATHS OF DEPUTY SHERIFFS. 

 

 ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Boyd, to 

adopt Resolution No. 415-13. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a 

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows: Commissioner Bankston, “Aye”, Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Fields, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total 

“Aye” votes – 9. Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

 Chairman Fields asked that Resolution 415-28 be considered at this time.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

APRIL 15, 2015 
 

5 

 

RESOLUTION 415-28 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR ON 

BEHALF OF HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE, THE HEALTH SERVICES 

DIVISION, OPERATING AS THE CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH 

DEPARTMENT TO SIGN A CO-APPLICANT AGREEMENT WITH THE CO-

APPLICANT BOARD OF THE HOMELESS HEALTH CARE CENTER (HHC) AS 

REQUIRED BY THE HEALTH RESOURCES AND SERVICES ADMINISTRATION 

(HRSA). 

 

 Chairman Fields reported that Resolution 415-28 was heard by the Legal and 

Legislative Committee. 

 

 Commissioner Bankston, Chairman of the Legal and Legislative Committee, 

spoke about this Resolution. He explained this was a matter of retaining funding, and 

the Committee recommended approval.  

 

Chairman Fields asked if there was any discussion regarding this item. There 

was none. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Bankston, seconded by Commissioner Mackey, 

to adopt Resolution No. 415-28. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on 

a Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present 

and voting as follows: Commissioner Bankston, “Aye”, Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

APRIL 15, 2015 
 

6 

 

Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Fields, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total 

“Aye” votes – 9. Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

 Chairman Fields asked that Resolution Nos. 415-17 through 415-19, 415-22 

through 415-27, 415-29, and 415-30 be considered together at this time. 

 

RESOLUTION 415-17 A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF ON DUTY DEPOT 

FOR ONE (1) YEAR CONTRACT UNIT PRICING, BEGINNING APRIL 15, 2015 

THROUGH APRIL 14, 2016, FOR VEHICLE UPFITTING EQUIPMENT FOR THE 

SHERIFF’S VEHICLES AND TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY 

CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

RESOLUTION 415-18 A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF DIVERSIFIED 

COMPANIES, LLC FOR A THREE (3) YEAR CONTRACT FOR PRINTING AND 

PROCESSING DELINQUENT TAX SUMMONS, BEGINNING APRIL 15, 2015 

THROUGH APRIL 14, 2018, FOR THE TRUSTEE’S OFFICE AND TO AUTHORIZE 

THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT 

THIS RESOLUTION. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

APRIL 15, 2015 
 

7 

 

RESOLUTION 415-19 A RESOLUTION TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO 

APPROPRIATE $250,000 FROM BOND PROCEEDS TO REIMBURSE THE 

STADIUM CORPORATION FOR REPLACEMENT OF THE STADIUM FIELD 

SURFACE. 

 

RESOLUTION 415-22 A RESOLUTION TO AUTHORIZE PAYMENT OF $31,111.49 

TO FARMERS INSURANCE COMPANY FOR PROPERTY DAMAGE INCURRED BY 

THEIR INSURED AS A RESULT OF AN AUTOMOBILE ACCIDENT WITH A 

HAMILTON COUNTY HIGHWAY DEPARTMENT VEHICLE. 

 

RESOLUTION 415-23 A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE HIGHEST AND BEST BID 

FOR CERTAIN PARCELS OF PROPERTY ACQUIRED BY HAMILTON COUNTY 

THROUGH PREVIOUS DELINQUENT TAX SALES AND AUTHORIZING THE 

COUNTY MAYOR AND COUNTY TRUSTEE TO ENTER INTO AND EXECUTE 

DEEDS CONVEYING SAID PARCELS TO INDIVIDUALS LISTED HEREIN BELOW. 

 

RESOLUTION 415-24 A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF ELECTRONIC 

CONTROLS, INC. FOR HVAC CONTROLS MODIFICATIONS FOR THE HAMILTON 

COUNTY CORRECTIONS BUILDING AMOUNTING TO $20,400.00 AND 

AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY 

TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

APRIL 15, 2015 
 

8 

 

RESOLUTION 415-25 A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SOFTWARE SUPPORT AND 

MAINTENANCE CONTRACT FROM ESRI, INC. FOR ONE (1) YEAR, BEGINNING 

JUNE 9, 2015, THROUGH JUNE 8, 2016, FOR THE GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION 

SYSTEMS DEPARTMENT AMOUNTING TO $74,344.45 AND AUTHORIZING THE 

COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS 

RESOLUTION. 

 

RESOLUTION 415-26 A RESOLUTION RATIFYING THE PURCHASE OF GASOLINE 

AND DIESEL FUEL FOR THE PERIOD OF FEBRUARY 1, 2015, THROUGH 

FEBRUARY 28, 2015, AND TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY 

CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

RESOLUTION 415-27 A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE PURCHASE OF FLU 

VACCINE FROM NOVARTIS, SANOFI-PASTEUR, McKESSON MED-SURG MN 

SUPPLY, AT STATEWIDE CONTRACT PRICING AND, IF NECESSARY, OTHER 

FIRMS AT THE LOWEST AND BEST AVAILABLE PRICING QUOTE FOR THE 

HEALTH DEPARTMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY 

CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

APRIL 15, 2015 
 

9 

 

RESOLUTION 415-29 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR ON 

BEHALF OF HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE, THE HEALTH SERVICES 

DIVISION, OPERATING AS THE CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH 

DEPARTMENT TO SIGN AN AMENDMENT CONTRACT WITH THE TENNESSEE 

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH IN THE AMOUNT OF $147,292.00 TO PROVIDE 

HEALTH CARE SAFETY NET PRIMARY CARE SERVICES TO UNINSURED 

ADULTS IN HAMILTON COUNTY AT THE HOMELESS HEALTH CARE CENTER 

FOR THE TIME PERIOD JULY 1,  2014 THROUGH JUNE 30, 2015. 

 

RESOLUTION 415-30 A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE PROPOSAL OF FAIRWAY 

OUTDOOR ADVERTISING COMPANY FOR A TOBACCO EXPOSURE PREVENTION 

BILLBOARD CAMPAIGN FOR AN INITIAL TWELVE (12) WEEK PERIOD 

AMOUNTING TO $16,650.00, WITH RENEWAL OPTIONS AMOUNTING TO 

$27,750.00 PER CAMPAIGN, FOR THE HEALTH SERVICES DIVISION, OPERATING 

AS THE CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT AND 

AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY 

TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 

 

 Commissioner Graham provided details regarding Resolution Nos. 415-17 

through 415-19, 415-22 through 415-27, 415-29, and 415-30, and stated that the 

Finance Committee reviewed and recommended approval. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

APRIL 15, 2015 
 

10 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Mackey, to 

adopt Resolution Nos. 415-17 through 415-19, 415-22 through 415-27, 415-29, and 

415-30. 

 

In response to Commissioner Haynes question about Resolution No. 415-27 and 

the availability of flu vaccines in schools, Health Services Administrator, Becky Barnes, 

clarified that this Resolution only allows for the purchase of the vaccine at the lowest 

available price. In closing, she stated she was open to including the school system. 

 

 The foregoing Resolutions were unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with 

the following members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Bankston, “Aye”, Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 

Fields, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 9. Total “Nay” 

votes – 0. 

 

Chairman Fields asked that Resolution 415-14 be considered at this time.  

 

RESOLUTION 415-14 A RESOLUTION TO APPOINT A REGULAR MEMBER TO 

THE HAMILTON COUNTY BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS, AND TO APPOINT (2) 

TWO ASSOCIATE MEMBERS THEREOF. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

APRIL 15, 2015 
 

11 

 

 This Resolution appoints Commissioner Marty Haynes, Melinda Volker, and 

Joseph G. DeGaetano to the Hamilton County Board of Zoning Appeals. 

  

Chairman Fields reported that Resolution No. 415-14 was heard by a Committee 

of the Whole.  

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Bankston, seconded by Commissioner Beck, to 

adopt Resolution No. 415-14.  

 

Commissioner Haynes stated he wished to abstain from voting due to a conflict 

of interest. 

 

The foregoing Resolution was adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following 

members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Bankston, “Aye”, Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Fields, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Haynes abstained from voting. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 

8. Total “Nay” votes – 0. Total Abstentions – 1. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

APRIL 15, 2015 
 

12 

 

RESOLUTION 415-15 A RESOLUTION TO CONFIRM THE APPOINTMENT BY THE 

COUNTY MAYOR OF THOMAS LAMB AS DIRECTOR OF THE PARKS AND 

RECREATION DEPARTMENT. 

 

 Chairman Fields reported that Resolution No. 415-15 was heard by a Committee 

of the Whole.  

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Bankston, seconded by Commissioner Beck, to 

adopt Resolution No. 415-15. The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a 

Roll Call vote, with the following members of the County Commission being present and 

voting as follows: Commissioner Bankston, “Aye”, Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Graham, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Fields, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total 

“Aye” votes – 9. Total “Nay” votes – 0. 

 

 

 

 

 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

APRIL 15, 2015 
 

13 

 

RESOLUTION 415-16 A RESOLUTION CONFIRMING THE REAPPOINTMENT BY 

THE COUNTY MAYOR OF ONE MEMBER TO THE CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON 

COUNTY HOSPITAL AUTHORITY BOARD OF TRUSTEES FOR A TERM ENDING 

APRIL 18, 2019. 

 

 Chairman Fields reported that Resolution No. 415-16 was heard by a Committee 

of the Whole. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Boyd, seconded by Commissioner Smedley, to 

adopt Resolution No. 415-16.  

 

Chairman Fields asked if there was any discussion. There was none. 

 

The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the 

following members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Bankston, “Aye”, Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 

Fields, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 9. Total “Nay” 

votes – 0. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

APRIL 15, 2015 
 

14 

 

RESOLUTION 415-20 A RESOLUTION TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO 

ENTER INTO AND EXECUTE AN AGREEMENT WITH WTCI TO DEVELOP AND 

PROVIDE A BEST PRACTICES VIDEO SERIES TO MEET THE NEEDS OF  

HAMILTON COUNTY EDUCATORS FOR AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $100,000 

IN TOTAL AND TO EXPEND $30,000 IN THE CURRENT FISCAL YEAR. 

 

 This Resolution was pulled from the agenda.  

 

RESOLUTION 415-21 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE PAYMENT OF TWO 

HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS ($200,000.00) IN SETTLEMENT OF AN 

ALLEGED WRONGFUL DEATH CLAIM AGAINST HAMILTON COUNTY AS 

BROUGHT BY THE PARENTS AND NEXT FRIENDS OF AUSTIN DAKOTA 

WALLACE. 

 

Chairman Fields reported that Resolution No. 415-21 was heard by a Committee 

of the Whole. 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Graham, seconded by Commissioner Boyd, to 

adopt Resolution No. 415-21.  

 

Chairman Fields asked if there was any discussion. There was none.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

APRIL 15, 2015 
 

15 

 

The foregoing Resolution was unanimously adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the 

following members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Bankston, “Aye”, Commissioner Beck, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Fairbanks, “Aye”, Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Mackey, “Aye”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman 

Fields, “Aye”. Total present – 9. Total absent – 0. Total “Aye” votes – 9. Total “Nay” 

votes – 0. 

 

RESOLUTION 415-31 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE PAYMENT OF 

SEVENTY FIVE THOUSAND DOLLARS ($75,000.00) IN SETTLEMENT OF A 

LAWSUIT AGAINST HAMILTON COUNTY AS BROUGHT BY NICHOLAS 

AGOSTINACCIDO, ET AL FOR INJURIES SUSTAINED AS A RESULT OF A FALL 

ON PROPERTY JOINTLY OWNED BY HAMILTON COUNTY AND THE CITY OF 

CHATTANOOGA. 

 

 Chairman Fields reported that this was a late item added to the agenda.  

 

 County Attorney Rheubin Taylor, spoke regarding this Resolution. He explained 

the settlement was a result of a fall that occurred on property at the Aquarium jointly 

owned by Hamilton County and the City of Chattanooga. Attorney Taylor added the 

figure was suggested as a result of mediation, and would be shared by the City and the 

County. He clarified the fall occurred on the passageway beside the Aquarium.  



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

APRIL 15, 2015 
 

16 

 

ON MOTION of Commissioner Bankston, seconded by Commissioner Haynes, to 

adopt Resolution No. 415-31 

 

 In response to questions by Commissioner Graham and Commissioner Haynes, 

Attorney Taylor confirmed the city and the county would each be responsible for half of 

the settlement. The city has already voted to pay their portion of the settlement. 

 

The foregoing Resolution was  adopted on a Roll Call vote, with the following 

members of the County Commission being present and voting as follows: 

Commissioner Bankston, “Aye”, Commissioner Boyd, “Aye”, Commissioner Fairbanks, 

“Aye”, Commissioner Graham, “Aye”, Commissioner Haynes, “Aye”, Commissioner 

Mackey, “Nay”, Commissioner Smedley, “Aye”, and Chairman Fields, “Aye”, 

Commissioner Beck was absent for the vote. Total present – 8. Total absent – 1. Total 

“Aye” votes – 8. Total “Nay” votes – 1. 

 

RESOLUTION 415-32 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING REPAYMENT TO THE 

COUNTY GENERAL FUND FROM THE HAMILTON COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF 

EDUCATION'S SUBSEQUENT YEAR'S REVENUE GROWTH OF APPROPRIATIONS 

PAID ON BEHALF OF THE DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION, AS APPROVED AND 

REQUESTED BY THE HAMILTON COUNTY SCHOOL BOARD FOR PUBLIC 

EDUCATION PROJECTS SUBMITTED DURING A CURRENT FISCAL YEAR, AS 

MAY BE APPROVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY. 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

APRIL 15, 2015 
 

17 

 

Chairman Fields reported that without objection Resolution No. 415-32, was 

added as a late item, and would be deferred to the Agenda Session on April 29th, 2015.  

 

ANNOUNCEMENTS 

  

Chairman Fields asked for announcements from members of the Commission. 

 

Commissioner Graham thanked Superintendent Rick Smith for the meeting he 

held in District 6 about his vision for the school system. He also thanked those who 

attended for the discussion.  

 

Commissioner Boyd reported that on April 14, 2015 at the Tivoli Theatre, he was 

the keynote speaker at the Young Southern Student Writers awards ceremony, co-

sponsored by the Southern Literature Alliance. He spoke about the event, noting there 

were 5,000 entries and over 400 awards given out. Due to the large turnout, the 

ceremony was split into two separate events: one for kindergarten through fifth-grade 

students and another for middle and high schoolers. Commissioner Boyd emphasized 

the importance of literacy at all levels of education. 

 

Commissioner Bankston announced the Audit Committee meeting would take 

place on April 29, 2015 following the Agenda Session.  

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

APRIL 15, 2015 
 

18 

 

Commissoner Bankston spoke about the community meeting at Wallace A. Smith 

Elementary School with Superintendent Rick Smith. He thanked those who attended for 

their particiaption.  

 

Commissioner Fairbanks reminded everyone that today was the last day to file a 

2014 federal tax return. 

 

Commissioner Beck reported that Districts 4 and 5 would be having a meeting at 

Brainerd High School with Superintendent Rick Smith on April 15, 2015. 

 

Chairman Fields announced that county commission budget hearings have been 

rescheduled.  Hearings are now set to begin May 20, 2015. 

 



HAMILTON COUNTY COMMISSION 
REGULAR MEETING 

APRIL 15, 2015 
 

19 

 

DELEGATIONS 

 

Chairman Fields asked for delegations on matters other than zoning. There were 

none. 

 

There being no further business, Chairman Fields declared the meeting in recess 

until Wednesday, April 29, 2015 at 9:30 AM. 

 

 

 

 

 

      Respectfully submitted: 
 
 
 
 
      _____________________________________ 
      William F. (Bill) Knowles, County Clerk 
Approved: 
 

   

________  
Date  Clerk’s Initials 









































No. 515-1 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 6, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
   A RESOLUTION TO APPROVE AND ACCEPT APPLICATIONS FOR 

NOTARY PUBLIC POSITIONS, THE BOND OF DEPUTY SHERIFF, 
AND THE OATHS OF DEPUTY SHERIFFS. 

 
   
WHEREAS, William F. (Bill) Knowles, Hamilton County Clerk, has certified according to the 

records of his office that the persons named on the attached listing labeled 
"HAMILTON COUNTY NOTARY PUBLIC APPLICATIONS" have duly 
applied for the positions so sought; and 

 
WHEREAS, said Bill Knowles has certified according to the records of his office that the 

person named on the attached listing labeled "THE BOND OF DEPUTY 
SHERIFF" has presented the bond of office; and 

 
WHEREAS, said Bill Knowles has certified according to the records of his office that the 

persons named on the attached listing labeled "OATHS OF DEPUTY 
SHERIFFS" have taken the oath of office; and 

 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY BOARD OF 
COMMISSIONERS: 
 

1. That the persons named on the listing labeled “HAMILTON COUNTY 
NOTARY PUBLIC APPLICATIONS” are hereby approved as applicants 
therefore; and 
 

2. That the person named on the listing labeled "THE BOND OF DEPUTY 
SHERIFF" is accepted and the bond therefore is approved as taken; and  

 
3. That the persons named on the listing labeled "OATHS OF DEPUTY 

SHERIFFS" are accepted and the oaths therefore are approved as taken; and  



 

 

 
 4. That each such person named on the listing hereinabove mentioned (which listing 

is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference) is hereby deemed to have 
been individually considered according to the particular matter relating thereto. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER PASSAGE. 
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 6, 2015 

  
Date 

 

































































No. 515-2 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 6, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION TO CONFIRM THE APPOINTMENT BY THE COUNTY MAYOR OF 
BART MCKINNEY AS DIRECTOR OF THE INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 
SERVICES  DEPARTMENT. 
 
WHEREAS,   Brian Turner has retired as the Director of Information Technology Services 
effective May 1, 2015 and created a vacancy in the Information Technology Services 
Department; and, 
 
WHEREAS,   the County Mayor has appointed Bart McKinney as the Director of Information 
Technology Services, effective May 6, 2015, at Salary Range 84, with an annual salary of 
$100,410.27. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the appointment of Bart McKinney as Director of the Information Technology Services 
Department is hereby confirmed for a salary stated above and becoming effective May 6, 
2015. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 
 
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 6, 2015 

  
Date 

 



Bart McKinney 
115 East Seventh St. | Chattanooga TN, 37492 | 423.313.2734 | bartm@hamiltontn.gov 

Application Development Manager 

SOFTWARE/RDBMS DEVELOPMENT | BUSINESS PROCESS DEVELOPMENT | SYSTEMS INTEGRATION  

• Experienced software develop manager offering 18 years of management  success leading all phases of diverse 
technology projects.    

• Business strategist; plan and manage multi-agency projects aligning business goals with technology solutions to drive 
process improvements. 

• Excellent communicator; leverage technical and business acumen to communicate effectively with agency leaders and their 
respective teams. 

 

Skills Summary 

Project Management: 
Custom Software Development 

Database Design (RDBMS) 
System Migrations/Integrations 
Multi-agency Implementations 

IT Project Lifecycle: 
Requirements Analysis 

ROI Analysis 
Costing & Budgeting 
Project Scheduling 

Testing/QA/Rollout/Support 

Value-Added Leadership: 
Cross-Functional Supervision 
Team Building & Mentoring 

User Relations & Presentations 
Business & IT Planning 
Vendor Management 

 

Career Progression 

Hamilton County  ITS, Application Development  Manager, 1996 to Present 

Hamilton County  ITS, Sr. Systems Analyst, 1990 to 1996 

Hamilton County  ITS, Systems Analyst, 1986 to 1990 

Hamilton County  ITS, Sr. Programmer Analyst, 1985 to 1986 

Container  General Corporation  (Chattanooga, TN) , Sr. Programmer Analyst, 1984 to 1985 

Standard Coosa Thatcher  (Chattanooga, TN) ,  Programmer Analyst, 1979 to 1984 

Achievement Highlights 

• Designed, created, and  implemented many of Hamilton County's applications systems including Criminal Justice (CJUS), Juvenile 

Court, Election Commission, and many others.  

• Managed the Y2K readiness project for all of Hamilton County's systems. 

• Developed and executed a plan to rewrite all of Hamilton County's systems from an IBM Mainframe COBOL/CICS system to a 

Microsoft Windows client-server system. 

• Worked as an analyst and developer on the Methamphetamine Task Force TMIS system which is being used by several states and 

counties across the country.   

Education  

AS in Data Processing, Chattanooga State Technical Community College ,1979 

Attended University of TN-Chattanooga, 1981- 1982 

Hamilton County Personnel Dept., various  supervisory and leadership courses throughout tenure 

 



No. 515-3 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 6, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION CONFIRMING THE APPOINTMENT OF ONE MEMBER AND 
REAPPOINTMENT OF TWO MEMBERS BY THE COUNTY MAYOR TO THE 
CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY HOSPITAL AUTHORITY FINANCIAL 
REVIEW COMMITTEE WITH TERMS EXPIRING MAY 6, 2018. 
 
WHEREAS,              pursuant to Chapter No. 297 of the Private Acts of 1976 (Chapter 11), as 

amended by Chapter No. 125 of the Private Acts of 1977 (Section 10), 
certain members of the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Hospital 
Authority Financial Review Committee are appointed by the County 
Mayor and confirmed by the Board of County Commissioners; and, 

 
WHEREAS,               the County Mayor has appointed David Queen for a term of three years, 

beginning May 6, 2015, and ending May 6, 2018; and, 
 
WHEREAS,              the County Mayor has reappointed David J. DiStefano and Stephanie 

Lee Hall for terms of three years, beginning May 6, 2015, and ending 
May 6, 2018. 

 
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY 
IN SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the appointment of David Queen and the reappointments of David J. DiStefano and 
Stephanie Lee Hall by the County Mayor are hereby confirmed for the terms as stated above; 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 6, 2015 

  
Date 

 









No. 515-4 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 6, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION TO CONFIRM THE APPOINTMENT OF ONE MEMBER AND 
REAPPOINTMENT OF ONE MEMBER BY THE COUNTY MAYOR TO THE 
HAMILTON COUNTY CITIZENS ADVISORY BOARD FOR RECREATION FOR A 
TERM ENDING APRIL 17, 2017. 
 
WHEREAS,   pursuant to Hamilton County Resolution No. 380-8 and 480-14, certain 

members of the Hamilton County Citizens Advisory Board for Recreation are 
appointed by the County Mayor and confirmed by the Board of County 
Commissioners; and,  

 
WHEREAS,   the County Mayor has appointed Michael Kirk to a term of two (2) years 

beginning, April 17, 2015 and ending April 17, 2017; and, 
 
WHEREAS,   the County Mayor has reappointed Gary Haskew to a term of two (2) years 

beginning April 17, 2015 and ending April 17, 2017. 
 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the appointment of Michael Kirk and reappointment of Gary Haskew is hereby confirmed 
for the term as stated above; 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.  
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 6, 2015 

  
Date 

 









No. 515-5 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 6, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION CONFIRMING THE REAPPOINTMENT BY THE COUNTY 
MAYOR OF TWO MEMBERS TO THE HAMILTON COUNTY BEER BOARD 
WITH TERM EXPIRING MAY 2, 2018 AND MAY 18, 2019. 
 
WHEREAS,             pursuant to T.C.A., Section 57-205, members of the Hamilton County 

Beer Board are appointed by the County Mayor and confirmed by the 
Board of County Commissioners; and, 

 
WHEREAS,              the County Mayor has reappointed George Wright to a term of three (3) 

years beginning May 2, 2015 and ending May 2, 2018; and, 
 
WHEREAS,             the County Mayor has reappointed Don Welch to a term of four (4) 

years beginning May 18, 2015 and ending May 18, 2019. 
 
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY 
IN SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the reappointment of George Wright and Don Welch is hereby confirmed for the terms as 
stated above; 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 6, 2015 

  
Date 

 







No. 515-6 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 6, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF MOUNTAIN VIEW FORD FOR ONE (1) 
HIGH TOP CARGO VAN AMOUNTING TO $32,793.00 FOR THE SHERIFF’S 
DEPARTMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY 
CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for one (1) high top 

cargo van for the Sheriff’s Department; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the bid from Mountain View Ford amounting to $32,793.00 was considered 

to be the lowest and best bid; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded 

through the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the 
requisitioning department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond 
proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid of Mountain View Ford for one (1) high top cargo van amounting to $32,793.00 
for the Sheriff’s Department is hereby accepted, said bid being the lowest and best bid 
received, and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this 
resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 6, 2015 

  
Date 

 



























No. 515-7 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 6, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF CDJR OF COLUMBIA FOR ONE (1) SEVEN 
PASSENGER VAN AMOUNTING TO $21,315.00 FOR JUVENILE COURT AND TO AMEND 
THE JUVENILE COURT GENERAL FUND CAPITAL OUTLAY BUDGET FROM PREVIOUSLY 
UNBUDGETED FUNDS IN THE AMOUNT OF $14,515.00 AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY 
MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for one (1) seven passenger 

van for Juvenile Court; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the bid from CDJR of Columbia amounting to $21,315.00 was considered to be the 

lowest and best bid; and, 
 
WHEREAS, Juvenile Court received from the at fault party’s insurance company a settlement in 

the amount of $6,800.00; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there is a need for a van for Juvenile Court and the Juvenile Court General Fund 

Capital Outlay Budget will be amended from previously unbudgeted funds in the 
amount of $14,515.00. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid of CDJR of Columbia for one (1) seven passenger van amounting to $21,315.00 for 
Juvenile Court and to amend the Juvenile Court General Fund Capital Outlay Budget from previously 
unbudgeted funds amounting to $14,515.00 is hereby accepted, said bid being the lowest and best bid 
received, and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this 
resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 6, 2015 

  
Date 

 

























No. 515-8 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 6, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING REPAYMENT TO THE COUNTY GENERAL FUND FROM THE 
HAMILTON COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION’S SUBSEQUENT YEAR’S REVENUE 
GROWTH OF APPROPRIATIONS PAID ON BEHALF OF THE DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION,  
AS APPROVED AND REQUESTED BY THE HAMILTON COUNTY SCHOOL BOARD FOR PUBLIC 
EDUCATION PROJECTS SUBMITTED DURING A CURRENT FISCAL YEAR, AS MAY BE 
APPROVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY. 
 

WHEREAS,  during each Hamilton County (“County”) fiscal year certain funds are 
received by the County which may exceed the previous year’s revenues (as 
generated through real and personal property and sales taxes); and said 
additional revenues are categorized and referred to as “Revenue Growth”; and  

 
WHEREAS,  by the laws of the State of Tennessee said Revenue Growth is delegated and 

proportioned for use between the Hamilton County General Fund, and the 
Hamilton County Department of Education General Fund; and  

 
WHEREAS,  it is the desire of this county legislative body that any funds appropriated by 

this body for academically supportive and/or enhancing projects that have 
been and/or will be presented to, and approved and submitted by, the 
Hamilton County School Board (“Board”) which were not included in said 
Board’s then current fiscal year’s budget be repaid to the County General 
Fund from the Department of Education’s (DOE) property tax revenue 
growth in the immediately following fiscal year budget; and 

 
WHEREAS, this will be accomplished by reducing the DOE’s property tax levy and 

correspondingly increasing the general fund tax levy by the same amount 
sufficient enough to cover these expenditures.  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 

 
That the procedures utilized by Hamilton County in appropriating post-budget expenditures for 
any funds approved and appropriated by this body for academically supportive or enhancing 
projects that have been and/or will be presented to, and approved and submitted by, the 
Hamilton County School Board (“Board”) and/or the Superintendent of Schools which were not 
included in said Board’s then current fiscal year’s budget be repaid to the County General Fund 
in the following fiscal year budget from revenue growth  by reducing the Department of  
 



 

 

Education’s tax levy and increasing the Hamilton County General Fund tax levy by the same 
amount.  

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER ITS 
PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 6, 2015 

  
Date 

 



No. 515-9 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 6, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE PROPOSAL OF VERIZON WIRELESS TO PROVIDE 
WIRELESS COMMUNICATIONS SERVICE FOR HAMILTON COUNTY FROM MAY 6, 2015 
THROUGH MAY 5, 2018, WITH RENEWAL OPTIONS, AND TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY 
MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS,  proposals were received in response to public advertisement for a three (3) year 

contract, with the option to renew for two (2) additional one (1) year terms, for 
wireless communications service for Hamilton County; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the proposal received from Verizon Wireless was considered to provide the best 

quality of wireless communications service; and, 
 
WHEREAS: there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded through the 

operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the requisitioning 
department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY  
IN SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the proposal from Verizon Wireless for wireless communications service for Hamilton County 
from May 6, 2015 through May 5, 2018, with renewal options, is hereby accepted, said proposal being 
the best proposal received, and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to 
implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM  
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 6, 2015 

  
Date 

 









No. 515-10 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 6, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF THE SOUTHEASTERN COMMUNICATION 
SERVICES, INC. FOR THE INSTALLATION, TERMINATION, TESTING, PROGRAMMING 
AND CERTIFICATION OF AN APOGEE SOUND SYSTEM AT EAST BRAINERD 
ELEMENTARY SCHOOL FOR THE TELECOMMUNICATIONS OFFICE AMOUNTING TO 
$36,770.67 AND TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS 
NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for an Apogee Sound System 

for East Brainerd Elementary School for the Telecommunications Office; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the bid from Southeastern Communication Services, Inc. was the only bid received, but 

said bid is deemed reasonable; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded through the 

operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the requisitioning 
department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY 
IN SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid of Southeastern Communication Services, Inc. for the installation, termination, testing, 
programming, and certification of an Apogee Sound System for East Brainerd  Elementary School for 
the Telecommunications Office amounting to $36,770.67 is hereby accepted, and authorizing the 
County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM  
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 6, 2015 

  
Date 

 







































































No. 515-11 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 6, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE QUOTATION FROM PHYSIO CONTROL, INC.  FOR A 
TWO (2) YEAR SERVICE CONTRACT FOR LIFEPAK  DEFIBRILLATOR / CARDIAC 
MONITORS BEGINNING JULY 1, 2015, THROUGH JUNE 30, 2017, AMOUNTING TO 
$82,859.90 PER TERM FOR EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICES AND AUTHORIZING THE 
COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS 
RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, the quotation received for a two (2) year technical service agreement amounting to 

$82,859.90 per term to be paid in annual installments of $41,429.95 for Emergency 
Medical Services; and, 

 
WHEREAS, Physio Control, Inc. is considered a sole source; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the amount of $82,859.90 per term is considered economically fair; and, 
 
WHEREAS: there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded through 

the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the requisitioning 
department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the quotation from Physio Control, Inc. amounting to $82,859.90 per term, for a two (2) year 
service contract for Lifepak defibrillator/cardiac monitors beginning July 1, 2015, through June 30, 
2017, for Emergency Medical Services is hereby accepted, said quotation being the most economical, 
and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 6, 2015 

  
Date 

 



















No. 515-12 

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

May 6, 2015 
Date (Month, Day, Year) 

 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO APPLY TO 
THE TENNESSEE DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION AND ACCEPT 
A LITTER PREVENTION AND TRASH COLLECTION GRANT IN THE 
AMOUNT OF $108,900 WITH A CONTRACT PERIOD BEGINNING JULY 
1, 2015 AND ENDING JUNE 30, 2016 

WHEREAS, Hamilton County will apply to TDOT for a grant in the amount of $108,900 for 
the prevention and collection of litter and trash in Hamilton County; and, 

WHEREAS, no matching funds are required to receive this grant, which has been previously 
budgeted; and, 

WHEREAS, copies of all agreements and required reports stipulated in the grant contract 
will be kept on file in the Courts Community Service Program Office and will 
be available for public inspection during normal office hours;   

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 

The County Mayor is hereby authorized to apply for, accept, and sign a contract 
with the Tennessee Department of Transportation for a grant in the amount of 
$108,900 to provide litter and trash collection throughout Hamilton County 
with a contract period beginning July 1, 2015 and ending June 30, 2016. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT AT AND 
FROM ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 



 

 

 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 6, 2015 

  
Date 

 



No. 515-13 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 6, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BIDS OF BOUND TREE MEDICAL, LLC AND NASHVILLE 
MEDICAL AND EMS PRODUCTS, INC. FOR ONE (1) YEAR CONTRACT PRICING, 
BEGINNING MAY 7, 2015, THROUGH MAY 6, 2016, FOR MEDICAL SUPPLIES FOR 
EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICES AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN 
ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for contract pricing for medical 

supplies for Emergency Medical Services; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the bids from Bound Tree Medical, LLC and Nashville Medical and EMS Products, 

Inc. were considered to be the lowest and best overall bids received; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded 

through the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the 
requisitioning department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond 
proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bids of Bound Tree Medical, LLC. and Nashville Medical and EMS Products, Inc. for one (1) 
year contract pricing, beginning May 7, 2015, through May 6, 2016, for medical supplies for 
Emergency Medical Services are hereby accepted, said bids being the lowest and best  overall bids 
received, and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this 
resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.  
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 6, 2015 

  
Date 

 

































































No. 515-14 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 6, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE EXPENDITURE OF SIXTY THOUSAND DOLLARS 
($60,000.00) IN DISCRETIONARY BOND FUNDS (AS ALLOTTED TO DISTRICT SEVEN) 
TO ASSIST WITH THE BUILDING OF A RESTROOM FACILITY FOR THE ATHLETIC 
COMPLEX AT EAST HAMILTON MIDDLE/HIGH SCHOOL. 

 
WHEREAS, it is necessary that restroom facilities be built for the athletic complex at East 

Hamilton Middle/High School; and 
 
WHEREAS, County Commissioner Sabrena Smedley has expressed her desire to use Sixty 

Thousand Dollars ($60,000.00) of Discretionary Bond Funds allotted to District 
Seven to assist with the construction of the restroom facility; and 

 
WHEREAS, the County Legislative Body deems said purchase to be in the best interest of the 

citizens of Hamilton County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the expenditure of Sixty Thousand Dollars ($60,000.00) in Discretionary Bond Funds allotted to 
District Seven be approved to assist with the construction of restroom facilities for the athletic 
complex at East Hamilton Middle/High School. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 6, 2015 

  
Date 

 



No. 515-15 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 6, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE EXPENDITURE OF FIFTEEN THOUSAND EIGHTY 
FIVE DOLLARS ($15,085.00) IN DISCRETIONARY BOND FUNDS (AS ALLOTTED TO 
DISTRICT THREE) TOWARD THE PURCHASE OF ISG S200 DEMO THERMAL IMAGING 
CAMERAS WITH TRUCK MOUNT FOR THE DALLAS BAY VOLUNTEER FIRE 
DEPARTMENT. 
 
WHEREAS, Dallas Bay Volunteer Fire Department has negotiated with North America Fire 

Equipment Company (NAFECO) for the purchase of three ISG Thermal SYS Model 
#S200 Imaging Cameras with Truck Mount to be installed on their fire engines; and 

 
WHEREAS, said fire engines are jointly owned by Hamilton County and Dallas Bay Volunteer Fire 

Department; and 
 
WHEREAS, the image cameras have been developed by ISG for sole distribution by NAFECO; and 
 
WHEREAS, County Commissioner Marty Haynes has expressed his desire to use Fifteen Thousand 

Eighty Five Dollars ($15,085.00) of Discretionary Bond Funds allotted to District 
Three to be applied toward the purchase of said cameras; and 

 
WHEREAS, this County Legislative Body deems said purchase to be in the best interest of the 

citizens of Hamilton County. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IS SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the expenditure of Fifteen Thousand Eighty Five Dollars ($15,085.00) in Discretionary Bond 
Funds allotted to District Three be approved to assist Dallas Bay Volunteer Fire Department in 
purchasing three ISG Thermal SYS Model #S200 Imaging Cameras with Truck Mount to be installed 
on their fire engines. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 6, 2015 

  
Date 

 



No. 515-16 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 6, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION RATIFYING THE PURCHASE OF GASOLINE AND DIESEL FUEL FOR THE 
PERIOD OF MARCH 1, 2015, THROUGH MARCH 31, 2015, AND TO AUTHORIZE THE 
COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS 
RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, the Purchasing Department was authorized to make purchases of petroleum products 

on the open market; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the following purchases were made between March 1, 2015, through March 31, 2015.  
 
 March 3, 2015, $12,982.24 for 8,061 gallons of E10 gasoline at 1.6105 per gallon from 

Sweetwater Valley Oil Co., Inc.  
 
 March 6, 2015, $1,279.50 for 500 gallons of regular unleaded gasoline at 2.5590 per 

gallon from Jat Oil and Supply, Inc.  
 
 March 9, 2015, $1,140.59 for 200 gallons of regular unleaded gasoline at 2.5558 per 

gallon and 250 gallons of diesel fuel at 2.5177 per gallon from Sweetwater Valley Oil 
Co., Inc. 

 
 March 13, 2015, $1,388.05 for 603 gallons of regular unleaded gasoline at 2.3019 per 

gallon from Jat Oil and Supply, Inc.  
  
 March 19, 2015, $12,673.55 for 8,037 gallons of E10 gasoline at 1.5769 per gallon 

from Sweetwater Valley Oil Co., Inc.  
 
 March 25, 2015, $12,671.10 for 8,038 gallons of E10 gasoline at 1.5764 per gallon 

from Sweetwater Valley Oil Co., Inc.  
  
 March 25, 2015, $2,723.00 for 1,400 gallons of regular unleaded gasoline at 1.9450 

per gallon from Collins Oil Co., Inc.  
  
 March 26, 2015, $13,041.23 for 8,016 gallons of E10 gasoline at 1.6269 per gallon 

from Sweetwater Valley Oil Co., Inc.  



 

 

 
  March 27, 2015, $14,315.20 for 8,000 gallons of diesel fuel at 1.7894 per gallon from 

Sweetwater Valley Oil Co., Inc.  
 
 March 30, 2015, $11,579.33 for 7,500 gallons of E10 gasoline at 1.54391 per gallon 

from Parman Lubricants. 
 
 March 30, 2015, $1,324.68 for 249 gallons of regular unleaded gasoline at 2.5051 per 

gallon and 284 gallons of diesel fuel at 2.4680 per gallon from Sweetwater Valley Oil 
Co., Inc. 

 
  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED:  
 
That the above purchases be ratified in the best interest of Hamilton County, and the County Mayor is 
authorized to sign any contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 6, 2015 

  
Date 

 







No. 515-17 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 6, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF SHI INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION FOR 
CONTRACT UNIT PRICING FOR MICROSOFT SURFACE PRO 3 AND IPAD AIR 2, 
BEGINNING MAY 6, 2015 THROUGH MAY 5, 2016, WITH THE OPTION TO RENEW FOR ONE 
ADDITIONAL ONE (1) YEAR TERM, FOR THE INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY SERVICES 
DEPARTMENT AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS 
NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for contract unit pricing for 

Microsoft Surface Pro 3 and IPAD Air 2 for the Information Technology Services 
Department; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the bid from SHI International Corporation was considered to be the lowest and best 

bid received; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded through 

the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the requisitioning 
department from bond proceeds (for projets funded from bond proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid of SHI International Corporation for contract unit pricing, beginning May 6, 2015 through 
May 5, 2016, with the option to new for one additional one (1) year term for the Information 
Technology Services Department is hereby accepted, said bid being the lowest and best bid received, 
and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER 
ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 6, 2015 

  
Date 

 



























No. 515-18 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 6, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION TO AMEND THE “MASTER LIST OF ROADS AND SPEED 
LIMITS” SO AS TO ACCEPT THE FOLLOWING DISTRICT ROADS AND TO 
ESTABLISH SPEED LIMITS THEREFORE: Vintage Lane, an extension of Satjanon 
Drive and an extension of Raydoe Road. 
 
 
WHEREAS, The above listed roads are new subdivision roads in the highlands at 

Belleau Ridge Subdivision and have been inspected by the Hamilton 
County Division of Public Works and meet current County Subdivision 
Regulations; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the list of roads, a copy of which is attached hereto and incorporated 

herein by reference thereto as though fully and completely copied 
verbatim herein, completely describes the amendments to be made to 
the “Master List of Roads and Speed Limits”. 

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY 
IN SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
 1. That the above named roads be declared district roads, 2nd class. 
 
 2. That the attached amendments to the “Master List of Roads and Speed Limits” 

are hereby adopted and approved. 
 
 3. That the “Master List of Roads and Speed Limits” is hereby amended. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 6, 2015 

  
Date 

 



ROAD NAME                                     DESCRIPTION 
 
 
Vintage Lane Vintage Lane is in the 2nd Civil District, the 

9th County Commission District, in the 
Highlands at Belleau Ridge Subdivision on 
State Tax Map Number 123, leading from 
Satjanon Drive north 0.06 miles to a 
turnaround, has a 40 foot right-of-way, a 8 
inch stone base, a 2 inch plant mix 
pavement with concrete curbs, and was built 
by Barry Higgins Construction and Card 
Paving Inc. for the developer Fatherson 
Partnership Two. 

 
 
  The speed limit on said road shall be 20 

M.P.H. and that violation of the same, when 
posted, shall be a misdemeanor and 
punishable as such as provided by the laws 
of the State. 

   
 
Satjanon Drive Resolution No. 507-6 dated May 2, 2007 

shows the mileage of Satjanon Drive as 
being 0.06 miles, described as leading from 
Belleau Ridge Drive south to a temporary 
turnaround; whereas, a new extension of 
Satjanon Drive was constructed leading 
from the existing Satjanon Drive 0.20 miles 
to a temporary turnaround, has a 50 foot  
right-of-way, a 8 inch stone base, a 2 inch 
plant mix pavement with concrete curbs, 
and was built by Barry Higgins Construction 
and Card Paving Inc. for the developer 
Fatherson Partnership Two; and, whereas, 
Satjanon Drive is in the 2nd  Civil District, 
the 9th  County Commission District in 
Highlands at Belleau Ridge Subdivision on 
State Tax Map Number 123, leading from 
Belleau Ridge Drive south  0.26 miles  to a 
temporary turnaround. 

 
  The speed limit on said road shall be 20 

M.P.H. and that violation of the same, when 
posted, shall be a misdemeanor and 
punishable as such as provided by the laws 
of the State. 

 
 



 
 
 

Raydoe Road Resolution No. 1053- dated October 28, 
1953 shows the mileage of Raydoe Road as 
being 0.24 miles, described as leading from 
Ooltewah-Georgetown Road east  to a  
deadend; whereas, a new extension of 
Raydoe Road was constructed leading from 
the existing Raydoe Road 0.06 miles to a 
Satjanon Drive, has a 30 foot  right-of-way, 
a 8 inch stone base, a chip seal pavement, 
and was built by Barry Higgins Construction 
and Card Paving Inc. for the developer 
Fatherson Partnership Two.; and, whereas, 
Raydoe Road is in the 2nd  Civil District, the 
9th  County Commission District in the 
Meadow Stream Subdivision on State Tax 
Map Number 123, leading from Ooltewah-
Georgetown Road east  0.30 miles  to 
Satjanon Drive. 

 
  The speed limit on said road shall be 25 

M.P.H. and that violation of the same, when 
posted, shall be a misdemeanor and 
punishable as such as provided by the laws 
of the State. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 



No. 515-19 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 6, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF EVANS-AILEY CONSTRUCTION, INC. 
FOR CONSTRUCTION OF THE SALE CREEK VOLUNTEER FIRE DEPARTMENT 
HEADQUARTERS AMOUNTING TO $4,192,000 AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY 
MAYOR TO SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS 
RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS,  bids were received in response to public advertisement for construction of the 

Sale Creek Volunteer Fire Department Headquarters; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the bid from Evans-Ailey Construction, Inc. amounting to $4,192,000 was 

considered to be the lowest and best bid received; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded 

through the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the 
requisitioning department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond 
proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid of Evans-Ailey Construction, Inc. for construction of the Sale Creek Volunteer 
Fire Department Headquarters amounting to $4,192,000 is hereby accepted; said bid being the 
lowest and best bid received, and authorizing the County Mayor to sign any contracts 
necessary to implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 6, 2015 

  
Date 

 









No. 515-20 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 6, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE SUBMISSION OF A REQUEST FOR LEASE 
PROPOSALS TO NATURAL RESOURCES CONSERVATION SERVICE (NRCS) 
AND TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR, ON BEHALF OF HAMILTON 
COUNTY, TO NEGOTIATE AND EXECUTE A FIVE-YEAR SUCCEEDING 
LEASE AGREEMENT BETWEEN HAMILTON COUNTY AND THE UNITED 
STATES OF AMERICA (USA) FOR OFFICE SPACE WITHIN THE J. MERLE 
CRAWLEY AGRICULTURE CENTER, SAID LEASE COMMENCING AUGUST 
1, 2015 AND TERMINATING JULY 31, 2020. 
 
WHEREAS, on May 2, 1990, the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

approved Resolution 590-9 authorizing a lease agreement with the 
United States Government (USA) for office space for the Soil 
Conservation Service and approved Resolution 406-39 on April 19, 
2006 renewing said lease agreement until March 31, 2011, and on 
April 6, 2011, the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners approved 
Resolution 411-16 which approved an 18 month holdover of said lease 
due to changes in the Federal Management Regulation (FMR) Bulletin 
2008-B-1 then extended the lease through July 31, 2015; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the USA desires to continue leasing said office space consisting of 

1,058 square feet at the rate of $12.00 per square foot at a monthly rate 
of $1,058 and an annual rate of $12,696 for a term beginning August 1, 
2015 and terminating July 31, 2020, but now requires the submission 
of the Request for Lease Proposals to NCRS for negotiating the five-
year succeeding lease; and, 

 
WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of Hamilton County to continue to provide 

leased office space to the USA (Soil Conservation Service) at the J. 
Merle Crawley Agriculture Center located within the Bonny Oaks 
Industrial Park.  

    
 



 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
 That the submission of a Request for Lease Proposal to NCRS is hereby 

approved  and the County Mayor is authorized, on behalf of Hamilton County, 
to negotiate and execute a five-year succeeding lease agreement between 
Hamilton County and the United States of America for 1,058 square feet of 
office space within the J. Merle Crawley Agriculture Center at the rate of 
$12.00 per square foot at a monthly rate of $1,058 and an annual rate of 
$12,696 for the lease term commencing August 1, 2015 and terminating July 
31, 2020.. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.      
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 6, 2015 

  
Date 

 







No. 515-21 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 6, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE BID OF RENTENBACH CONSTRUCTORS, INC. 
FOR CONSTRUCTION OF THE GANNS MIDDLE VALLEY ELEMENTARY SCHOOL  
AMOUNTING TO $29,414,000.00 AND AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO 
SIGN ANY CONTRACTS NECESSARY TO IMPLEMENT THIS RESOLUTION. 
 
WHEREAS, bids were received in response to public advertisement for construction of the 

Ganns Middle Valley Elementary School; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the bid from Rentenbach Constructors, Inc. amounting to $29,414,000.00 was 

considered to be the lowest and best bid received; and, 
 
WHEREAS, there are sufficient previously budgeted funds available (for projects funded 

through the operating budget) and sufficient allocated funds available to the 
requisitioning department from bond proceeds (for projects funded from bond 
proceeds). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY, IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
That the bid of Rentenbach Constructors, Inc. for construction of the Ganns Middle Valley 
Elementary School amounting to $29,414,000.00 is hereby accepted, said bid being the lowest 
and best bid received, and the County Mayor is authorized to sign any contracts necessary to 
implement this resolution. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 6, 2015 

  
Date 

 









No. 515 -22 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 6, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO AMEND A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE 
STATE OF TENNESSEE, DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE, 
HEALTH SERVICES DIVISION, OPERATING AS THE CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY 
HEALTH DEPARTMENT FOR THE PROVISION OF COMMUNITY HEALTH PREVENTION SERVICES 
USING FUNDS FROM THE STATE OF TENNESSEE, DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH IN THE AMOUNT 
NOT TO EXCEED $90,600.00 THEREBY REQUIRING THE HEALTH DEPARTMENT’S REVENUE AND 
EXPENSE BUDGET BE INCREASED BY $20,000.00 FOR THE PERIOD BEGINNING MAY 15, 2015, 
ENDING JUNE 30, 2015. 
 
WHEREAS,   the State of Tennessee, Department of Health has allocated an additional $20,000.00 to the   
          Health Services Division of Hamilton County, Tennessee, operating as the Chattanooga-   
                       Hamilton County Health Department, for the purpose of providing increased services  
                       associated with our Community Health Prevention Program (Chronic Disease/School Health  
                       Contract); and 
 
WHEREAS,   the additional services will include increased promotion of local Farmers Markets and  
                       incentives for Gold Sneaker Programs; and              
 
WHEREAS,   the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department is seeking to amend the contractual  
                       arrangement with the State of Tennessee, Department of Health for the provision of  
                       additional services for an amount not to exceed $90,600.00 for the period beginning  
                       May 15, 2015, ending June 30, 2015. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
          That the County Mayor be authorized to amend a contract between the State of Tennessee,  
                        Department of Health and the Health Services Division, Hamilton County, Tennessee, doing 
                        business as the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department for the provision of  
                        Community Health Prevention Services for an amount not to exceed $90,600.00, which  
                        requires that the revenue and expense budget for the Health Department, for the period  
                        beginning May 15, 2015, ending June 30, 2015 be increased by $20,000.00. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER ITS 
PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 6, 2015 

  
Date 

 





































No. 515-23 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 6, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE STATE OF 
TENNESSEE, DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE, HEALTH SERVICES 
DIVISION, OPERATING AS THE CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT FOR THE 
PROVISION OF HEALTH PROMOTION SERVICES USING FUNDS FROM THE STATE OF TENNESSEE, 
DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH IN THE AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $121,700.00 FOR THE PERIOD BEGINNING JULY 
1, 2015, ENDING JUNE 30, 2016. 
 
WHEREAS,   the State of Tennessee, Department of Health has allocated $121,700.00 to the   
         Health Services Division of Hamilton County, Tennessee, operating as the 
         Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department, for a continuation contract for the 
                       purpose of providing health programs and services that promote the prevention of disease,  
                       illness, injury and premature death; and  
 
WHEREAS,   these services will include the planning, implementation, monitoring and evaluation of  
                       evidence-based health promotion programs designed to address selected Healthy People 
                       2020 goals and Primary Prevention Initiative  (PPI) goals adopted by the Tennessee Department  
                       of Health, Division of Family Health and Wellness; and 
 
WHEREAS,   the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department is seeking to continue  
                       a contractual arrangement with the State of Tennessee, Department of Health  
                       for the provision of health promotion programs and services as noted above  
                       and further delineated in the contract and scope of services for an amount not  
                       to exceed $121,700.00 for the period beginning July 1, 2015, ending June 30, 2016. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
        That the County Mayor be authorized to execute a contract between the State of 
         Tennessee, Department of Health and the Health Services Division, Hamilton 
                       County, Tennessee, doing business as the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health 
                       Department for the provision of Health Promotion Services for an amount not to 
                       exceed $121,700.00, which is included in the revenue and expense budget for the 
                       Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department, for the period beginning  
                       July 1, 2015, ending June 30, 2016. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE 
PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 6, 2015 

  
Date 

 

























































No. 515-24 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 6, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR TO SIGN A CONTINUATION CONTRACT 
WITH THE TENNESSEE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HAMILTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE, THE 
HEALTH SERVICES DIVISION, OPERATING AS THE CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY 
HEALTH DEPARTMENT, FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 2015-2016 CONTRACT PERIOD, IN AN AMOUNT 
NOT TO EXCEED $447,100.00 TO PROVIDE TENNDERCARE OUTREACH PROGRAM SERVICES. 
 
WHEREAS,  the TennCare Bureau has contracted with the Tennessee Department of  Health to  
   implement a statewide TENNderCare Outreach Program in order to come into  
   compliance with a Federal Consent Decree; and 

 
WHEREAS, services must include, but not be limited to: community outreach, home visits, 

personal contact via phone and mail, and meetings of the Advisory Committee; and 
 
WHEREAS, the State is providing $113,000.00 additional funds for the Welcome Baby Program 

which is to provide outreach visits and referrals to high risk infants and their families 
in Hamilton County in order to prevent and reduce the number of infant deaths through 
early identification and referrals to address their needs; and  

                                     
WHEREAS,  the State has agreed to provide $447,100.00 for the provision of these Outreach  
                                           Services; and  
 
WHEREAS, this program and services is for the health and well-being of the TennCare children 

and adolescents of Hamilton County. 
     
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 
   That the County Mayor be authorized to sign the attached contract 
                                            for the contract period of July 1, 2015 through June 30, 2016 in an 

amount not to exceed $447,100.00. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER ITS 
PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT.  
                                                                                                                      
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 6, 2015 

  
Date 

 



1-15-15 GG 
 

i 

 

 
 

 

G O V E R N M E N T A L  G R AN T  C O N T R A C T  
(cost reimbursement grant contract with a federal or Tennessee local governmental entity or their 
agents and instrumentalities) 

Begin Date End Date Agency Tracking # Edison ID 

July 1, 2015 June 30, 2016 34360-33816       

Grantee Legal Entity Name Edison Vendor ID 

Chattanooga – Hamilton County Health Department  4208 

Subrecipient or Contractor CFDA # 93.505 

 Subrecipient   

 Contractor Grantee’s fiscal year end: June 30, 2016 

Service Caption (one line only) 

TennderCare Outreach Services  

Funding — 

FY State Federal Interdepartmental Other TOTAL Grant Contract Amount 

2016       $113,000 $334,100       $ 447,100 

                                   

                                   

                                   

                                   

TOTAL:       $113,000 $334,100       $ 447,100 

 

Grantee Selection Process Summary 

 Competitive Selection 
 

 Non-competitive Selection 
The TENNderCare Program provides outreach to TennCare enrolled children and  
families regarding the benefits of EPSDT as outlined in the contract ID-14-37040 with  
the Bureau of TennCare. 

 

Budget Officer Confirmation:  There is a balance in the 
appropriation from which obligations hereunder are 
required to be paid that is not already encumbered to pay 
other obligations. 

CPO USE - GG 

Speed Chart (optional) Account Code (optional)  

HL00008100 71301000  

 

 



1-15-15 GG 
 

2 

 

GRANT CONTRACT 
BETWEEN THE STATE OF TENNESSEE, 

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH   
AND 

CHATTANOOGA- HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT  
 

This grant contract (“Grant Contract”), by and between the State of Tennessee, Department of Health, 
hereinafter referred to as the “State” or the “Grantor State Agency” and Chattanooga – Hamilton County 
Health Department, hereinafter referred to as the “Grantee,” is for the provision of TENNderCare 
Outreach Services, as further defined in the "SCOPE OF SERVICES AND DELIVERABLES." 
 
Grantee Edison Vendor ID # 4208 
 
A. SCOPE OF SERVICES AND DELIVERABLES: 
 
A.1. The Grantee shall provide the scope of services and deliverables (“Scope”) as required, 

described, and detailed in this Grant Contract. 
 
A.2. Service Definition. 
  
 “EPSDT” means Early Periodic Screening, Diagnostic and Treatment.  
 
A.3. Service Goals. The TENNderCare Program provides outreach to TennCare enrolled children and 

families regarding the benefits of EPSDT as outlined in the contract ID-14-37040 with the Bureau 
of TennCare. 

 
A.4.  Service Recipients.  Service recipients are TennCare eligible families with children under the age 

of 21 and special target populations including but not limited to children with special healthcare 
needs, persons with limited English proficiency, homeless women and children and pregnant 
women (including pregnant adolescents).  

 
A.5. Service Description. The Grantee shall: 

 
a. Participate in the TENNderCare Call Center component of the State’s TENNderCare 
 Outreach program by allowing the call center to schedule appointments at the health  

  department clinics. 
 

b. Develop and maintain a biennial TENNderCare Community Outreach Plan submit a final  
  draft to the State in accordance with established guidelines. 

 
c. Evaluate approved TENNderCare Community Outreach Plan annually utilizing the State  

  approved evaluation tool.  
 
d. Conduct all community outreach activities outlined in the Grantee TENNderCare 

Community Outreach Plan and any plan amendments submitted to and approved by the 
State. 

 
e. Conduct community focused outreach activities to specific target populations as identified  
 in the Community Outreach Plan and submit any plan amendments approved by the       
 State. 
 
f. Conduct community outreach activities designed to reach pre-teen, teen, and young adult  
 populations.  
 
g. Provide dedicated staff for community outreach in Hamilton County as delineated in its  



1-15-15 GG 

 

3 

 

most current approved TENNderCare Community Outreach Plan and any plan 
amendments incorporated by reference as if fully set out herein and on file in the 
Department of Health, Division of Community Health Services.  

 
h. Hire part-time lay outreach workers, some of them bilingual when appropriate, to conduct 

face-to face contacts with families of TennCare eligible children and perform other 
TENNderCare related program activities in support of the approved TENNderCare 
Community Outreach Plan and any plan amendments. When possible, lay outreach 
workers should reflect the diversity of the population in the community. 

 
i. Attend all meetings, conference calls, and trainings provided by the State for all  
 dedicated TENNderCare Outreach staff.  
 
j. Participate in coalitions of traditional and non-traditional partners to include state  
 agencies serving children.  
 
k. Conduct an annual agency meeting to promote the TENNderCare program and local  
 activities.   
 
l. Use and distribute standardized and approved TENNderCare educational materials  
 developed by the TennCare Enrollee Outreach Workgroup, Bureau of TennCare, or the     
 State. 
 
m. Provide dedicated staff for outreach visits to high risk families in (metro) as delineated in  

the TENNderCare program-Welcome Baby Initiative guidelines and within budgetary      
constraints and report outreach efforts conducted within program guidelines.   

 
A.6. Service Reporting. The Grantee shall report and maintain data for all outreach activities according 

to reporting processes specified by the State. 
  

a. Provide monitoring of performance of community outreach activities to assure that  
 targeted populations are reached.  

 
b. Provide training to supervisory staff and technical assistance to both supervisory staff  
 and lay outreach workers. 
 
c. Provide format and guidelines for conducting and reporting all community outreach  
 activities. 
 

A.7.  Service Deliverables.  
 

Deliverable 
Contract 
Section 

Delivery Due 
Due to 

Whom?* 
Requested 

Format 

Submit a report describing 
appointment scheduling 
process available to the 
TENNderCare Call Center. 
Include clinic locations and 
operation hours available for 
EPSDT and/or dental 
appointments.  

A.5. a. Within 45 days of 
executed contract  

Director of 
Primary 
Prevention 
Impact 
Services 
(PPIS)  

MS Word  

Submit Regional Community 
Outreach Plan biennially 

A.5. b. Biennial- May 1 Statewide 
Community 
Outreach 
Director 

MS Word 



1-15-15 GG 

 

4 

 

 
A.8.  Service Description.  The State Shall: 
  

a. Provide monitoring of performance of community outreach activities to assure that  
 targeted populations are reached.  

 
b. Provide training to supervisory staff and technical assistance to both supervisory staff  
 and lay outreach workers. 
 
c. Provide format and guidelines for conducting and reporting all community outreach  
 activities. 
 

A.9. Incorporation of Additional Documents. Each of the following documents is included as a part of 
this Grant Contract by reference or attachment. In the event of a discrepancy ambiguity regarding 
the Grantee’s duties, responsibilities, and performance hereunder, these items shall govern in 
order of precedence below   

  
a. this Grant Contract document with any attachments or exhibits (excluding the items listed  

(SWCOD) 
Complete Annual Program 
Self- Evaluations 

A.5. c., d., e. Within 45 days post 
fiscal year end 

SWCOD MS Word 
Excel 

Review progress towards 
projected target population 
contacts and report any 
deficiencies. 

A.5. d. 10 business days priors 
to the end of each 
quarter 

SWCOD 
(deficiencies 
only) 

Email 

Submit community outreach 
plan amendments as 
deemed necessary 

A.5. d. & e. Within first 18 months of 
outreach plan life 

SWCOD MS Word / 
Email 

Report activities and events 
in electronic reporting tool 

A.5. f. Within one (1) week of 
the event/ activity 

SWCOD Electronic 
(Survey 
Gizmo) 

Reporting understaffing of 
20% or above 

A.5. g. After 45 days of 
consecutive 
understaffing 

SWCOD Phone/ Email 

Report staffing distribution in 
annual program self- 
evaluation 

A.5. h. Within 45 days post 
fiscal year end 

SWCOD MS Word 

100% regional 
representation at all 
conference calls, meetings 
and trainings. 

A.5 i. As established by the 
program 

SWCOD Phone/ In- 
Person 

Report meetings in electronic 
reporting tool 

A.5. j. & k. Within one (1) week of 
the meeting 

SWCOD Electronic 
(Survey 
Gizmo) 

Report distribution of 
educational materials in 
electronic reporting tool 

A.5. l. Within one (1) week of 
distribution 

SWCOD Electronic 
(Survey 
Gizmo) 

Report distribution of 
dedicated staff in budget 
proposal for Welcome Baby 
Initiative 

A.5. m. Within 30 days of signed 
contract 

SWCOD Email 

Report outreach efforts for 
Welcome Baby Initiative as 
completed by dedicated 
staff. 

A.5. m. Within 2 days of 
completed outreach 

SWCOD Electronic 
(Survey 
Gizmo) 



1-15-15 GG 

 

5 

 

 at subsections b. and c below); 
 

b. the Community Outreach Plan (Attachment 1). 
 
c. the TENNderCare Program- Welcome Baby Project Guidelines (Attachment 2). 
 

A.10. Incorporation of Federal Award Identification Worksheet. The federal award identification 
worksheet, which appears as Attachment 3, is incorporated in this Grant Contract.  

 
A.11.  kidcentraltn. 

 
a.  Under the guidance of their Gatekeeper, Grantee shall create and maintain an agency 

program profile in the designated state services directory located at 
www.kidcentraltn.com.  Grantee may have more than one service which is appropriate 
for the directory. The Gatekeeper will provide instructions for which services should be 
included in the directory.  Grantee shall update its agency program profile(s) in the 
designated state services directory at least every six months. In addition, Grantee shall 
update its agency program profile(s) within ten (10) business days of any change in 
information. 
For the purposes of this section, Gatekeeper shall be in the person designated by State 
to do the following tasks: 
 
(1) invite Grantee to create a profile; 

(2) review, approve, and publish program profiles created by Grantee; and  

(3) monitor update activity. 

b.  If Grantee has a website, they must link to www.kindcentraltn.com from an appropriate 
section of that website. If Grantee would like to link to specific features of the kidcentral tn 
website such as the My Profile, Mobile App, Facebook, or State Services Directory 
feature, State can provide specific copy, links, and images for those features. If Grantee 
uses State funds to develop or distribute materials (print or electronic) intended for 
parents, families, children, or professionals working directly with children or families. 
Grantee must place the kidcentral tn logo on those materials. Examples of covered 
materials would include brochures, flyers, posters, and promotional post cards or mailers. 
State provides the kidcentral tn logo at the following link http://tn.gov/generalserv/ba09/. If 
Grantee would like to apply the full kidcentral tn brand to print materials such as 
brochures, flyers, posters, or post cards. State also provides templates at the following 
link  http://tn.gov/generalserv/ba09/. 

 
 This kidcentral tn logo requirement does not apply to materials that have already been 

printed or designed. This kidcentral tn logo requirement does not apply to materials that 
originate from the federal government, national organizations, or other groups where 
Grantee serves as a pass through of those materials. The kidcentral tn logo should not 
be applied to individualized correspondence or individualized materials which are 
intended for a single family or professional and should not be applied to materials where 
the subject is purely administrative such as a materials about rules, sanctions, 
regulations or enforcement.   

 
B. TERM OF CONTRACT: 
 
 This Grant Contract shall be effective on July 1, 2015 (“Effective Date”) and extend for a period of 

twelve (12) months after the Effective Date (“Term”).  The State shall have no obligation to the 
Grantee for fulfillment of the Scope outside the Term.  

 
C. PAYMENT TERMS AND CONDITIONS:   
 

http://www.kidcentraltn.com/
http://www.kindcentraltn.com/
http://tn.gov/generalserv/ba09/
http://tn.gov/generalserv/ba09/


1-15-15 GG 

 

6 

 

C.1. Maximum Liability.  In no event shall the maximum liability of the State under this Grant Contract 
exceed Four Hundred Forty Seven Thousand One Hundred Dollars ($447,100).  (“Maximum 
Liability”).  The Grant Budget, attached and incorporated as Attachment 4 is the maximum 
amount due the Grantee under this Grant Contract.  The Grant Budget line-items include, but are 
not limited to, all applicable taxes, fees, overhead, and all other direct and indirect costs incurred 
or to be incurred by the Grantee. 

 
C.2. Compensation Firm.  The Maximum Liability of the State is not subject to escalation for any 

reason unless amended.  The Grant Budget amounts are firm for the duration of the Grant 
Contract and are not subject to escalation for any reason unless amended, except as provided in 
Section C.6. 

 
C.3. Payment Methodology.  The Grantee shall be reimbursed for actual, reasonable, and necessary 

costs based upon the Grant Budget, not to exceed the Maximum Liability established in Section 
C.1.  Upon progress toward the completion of the Scope, as described in Section A of this Grant 
Contract, the Grantee shall submit invoices (Attachment 5) prior to any reimbursement of 
allowable costs.   
 

C.4. Travel Compensation.  Reimbursement to the Grantee for travel, meals, or lodging shall be 
subject to amounts and limitations specified in the "State Comprehensive Travel Regulations," as 
they are amended from time to time, and shall be contingent upon and limited by the Grant 
Budget funding for said reimbursement.   

 
C.5. Invoice Requirements. The Grantee shall invoice the State no more often than monthly, with all 

necessary supporting documentation, and present such to: 
 

Rachel Hardaway, Community Outreach Director 
Tennessee Department of Health 

 Primary Prevention Impact Services 
 Andrew Johnson Tower, 7th floor 
 710 James Robertson Parkway 

Nashville, TN 37243 
 
 
a. Each invoice shall clearly and accurately detail all of the following required information 

(calculations must be extended and totaled correctly). 
 
(1) Invoice/Reference Number (assigned by the Grantee). 
(2) Invoice Date. 
(3) Invoice Period (to which the reimbursement request is applicable). 
(4) Grant Contract Number (assigned by the State).  
(5) Grantor:  Department of Health, Primary Prevention Impact Services .  
(6) Grantor Number (assigned by the Grantee to the above-referenced Grantor). 
(7) Grantee Name.  
(8) Grantee Tennessee Edison Registration ID Number Referenced in Preamble of 

this Grant Contract. 
(9) Grantee Remittance Address. 
(10) Grantee Contact for Invoice Questions (name, phone, or fax). 
(11) Itemization of Reimbursement Requested for the Invoice Period— it must detail, 

at minimum, all of the following:  
 
i. The amount requested by Grant Budget line-item (including any travel 

expenditure reimbursement requested and for which documentation and 
receipts, as required by "State Comprehensive Travel Regulations," are 
attached to the invoice). 

ii. The amount reimbursed by Grant Budget line-item to date. 



1-15-15 GG 

 

7 

 

iii. The total amount reimbursed under the Grant Contract to date.  
iv. The total amount requested (all line-items) for the Invoice Period. 
 

b. The Grantee understands and agrees to all of the following. 
 
(1) An invoice under this Grant Contract shall include only reimbursement requests 

for actual, reasonable, and necessary expenditures required in the delivery of 
service described by this Grant Contract and shall be subject to the Grant Budget 
and any other provision of this Grant Contract relating to allowable 
reimbursements.  

(2) An invoice under this Grant Contract shall not include any reimbursement 
request for future expenditures. 

(3) An invoice under this Grant Contract shall initiate the timeframe for 
reimbursement only when the State is in receipt of the invoice, and the invoice 
meets the minimum requirements of this section C.5. 

(4) An invoice under this Grant Contract shall be presented to the State within thirty 
(30) days after the end of the calendar month in which the subject costs were 
incurred or services were rendered by the Grantee.  An invoice submitted more 
than thirty (30) days after such date will NOT be paid.  The State will not deem 
such Grantee costs to be allowable and reimbursable by the State unless, at the 
sole discretion of the State, the failure to submit a timely invoice is warranted.  
The Grantee shall submit a special, written request for reimbursement with any 
such untimely invoice.  The request must detail the reason the invoice is untimely 
as well as the Grantee’s plan for submitting future invoices as required, and it 
must be signed by a Grantee agent that would be authorized to sign this Grant 
Contract. 

 
C.6. Budget Line-items. Expenditures, reimbursements, and payments under this Grant Contract shall 

adhere to the Grant Budget. The Grantee may move up to twenty percent (20%) of a line-item 
amount to another line item category provided that any increase is off-set by an equal reduction 
of other line-item amount(s) and the total Grant  Contract amount detailed by the Grant Budget 
does not increase. An increase of any line item funded at zero dollars ($0.00) shall require prior 
approval of the Grantor State Agency.  

  
C.7. Disbursement Reconciliation and Close Out.  The Grantee shall submit a grant disbursement 

reconciliation report within thirty (30) days following the end of each quarter and a final invoice 
and final grant disbursement reconciliation report within forty-five (45) days of the Grant Contract 
end date and in form and substance acceptable to the State (Attachment 6). 

 
 a. If total disbursements by the State pursuant to this Grant Contract exceed the amounts 

permitted by the section C, payment terms and conditions of this Grant Contract, the 
Grantee shall refund the difference to the State.  The Grantee shall submit the refund 
with the final grant disbursement reconciliation report. 

 
b. The State shall not be responsible for the payment of any invoice submitted to the State 

after the grant disbursement reconciliation report.  The State will not deem any Grantee 
costs submitted for reimbursement after the grant disbursement reconciliation report to 
be allowable and reimbursable by the State, and such invoices will NOT be paid. 

 
c. The Grantee’s failure to provide a final grant disbursement reconciliation report to the 

State as required by this Grant Contract shall result in the Grantee being deemed 
ineligible for reimbursement under this Grant Contract, and the Grantee shall be required 
to refund any and all payments by the State pursuant to this Grant Contract. 

 
d. The Grantee must close out its accounting records at the end of the Term in such a way 

that reimbursable expenditures and revenue collections are NOT carried forward. 



1-15-15 GG 

 

8 

 

 
C.8. Indirect Cost.  Should the Grantee request reimbursement for indirect costs, the Grantee must 

submit to the State a copy of the indirect cost rate approved by the cognizant federal agency or 
the cognizant state agency, as applicable.  The Grantee will be reimbursed for indirect costs in 
accordance with the approved indirect cost rate and amounts and limitations specified in the 
attached Grant Budget.  Once the Grantee makes an election and treats a given cost as direct or 
indirect, it must apply that treatment consistently and may not change during the Term.  Any 
changes in the approved indirect cost rate must have prior approval of the cognizant federal 
agency or the cognizant state agency, as applicable.  If the indirect cost rate is provisional during 
the Term, once the rate becomes final, the Grantee agrees to remit any overpayment of funds to 
the State, and subject to the availability of funds the State agrees to remit any underpayment to 
the Grantee. 

 
C.9. Cost Allocation.  If any part of the costs to be reimbursed under this Grant Contract are joint costs 

involving allocation to more than one program or activity, such costs shall be allocated and 
reported in accordance with the provisions of Department of Finance and Administration Policy 
Statement 03 or any amendments or revisions made to this policy statement during the Term. 

 
C.10. Payment of Invoice.  A payment by the State shall not prejudice the State's right to object to or 

question any reimbursement, invoice, or related matter.  A payment by the State shall not be 
construed as acceptance of any part of the work or service provided or as approval of any 
amount as an allowable cost.   

 
C.11. Non-allowable Costs.  Any amounts payable to the Grantee shall be subject to reduction for 

amounts included in any invoice or payment that are determined by the State, on the basis of 
audits or monitoring conducted in accordance with the terms of this Grant Contract, to constitute 
unallowable costs.   

 
C.12. State’s Right to Set Off.  The State reserves the right to set off or deduct from amounts that are or 

shall become due and payable to the Grantee under this Grant Contract or under any other 
agreement between the Grantee and the State of Tennessee under which the Grantee has a right 
to receive payment from the State. 

 
C.13. Prerequisite Documentation.  The Grantee shall not invoice the State under this Grant Contract 

until the State has received the following documentation properly completed.   
 

a. The Grantee shall complete, sign, and return to the State an "Authorization Agreement 
for Automatic Deposit (ACH Credits) Form" provided by the State.  The State will pay via  
ACH Credits. 

 
b. The Grantee shall complete, sign, and return to the State a "Substitute W-9 Form” 

provided by the State.  The Grantee taxpayer identification number must agree with the 
Federal Employer Identification Number or Social Security Number referenced in this 
Grant Contract or the Grantee's Tennessee Edison Registration.   

 
D. STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS: 
 
D.1. Required Approvals.  The State is not bound by this Grant Contract until it is signed by the parties 

and approved by appropriate officials in accordance with applicable Tennessee laws and 
regulations (depending upon the specifics of this Grant Contract, the officials may include, but are 
not limited to, the Commissioner of Finance and Administration, the Commissioner of Human 
Resources, and the Comptroller of the Treasury). 

 
D.2. Modification and Amendment.  This Grant Contract may be modified only by a written amendment 

signed by all parties and approved by the officials who approved the Grant Contract and, 
depending upon the specifics of the Grant Contract as amended, any additional officials required 



1-15-15 GG 

 

9 

 

by Tennessee laws and regulations (the officials may include, but are not limited to, the 
Commissioner of Finance and Administration, the Commissioner of Human Resources, and the 
Comptroller of the Treasury). 

 
D.3. Termination for Convenience.  The State may terminate this Grant Contract without cause for any 

reason.  A termination for convenience shall not be a breach of this Grant Contract by the State.  
The State shall give the Grantee at least thirty (30) days written notice before the effective 
termination date.  The Grantee shall be entitled to compensation for authorized expenditures and 
satisfactory services completed as of the termination date, but in no event shall the State be liable 
to the Grantee for compensation for any service that has not been rendered.  The final decision 
as to the amount for which the State is liable shall be determined by the State.   The Grantee 
shall not have any right to any actual general, special, incidental, consequential, or any other 
damages whatsoever of any description or amount for the State’s exercise of its right to terminate 
for convenience.  

 
D.4. Termination for Cause.  If the Grantee fails to properly perform its obligations under this Grant 

Contract, or if the Grantee violates any terms of this Grant Contract, the State shall have the right 
to immediately terminate this Grant Contract and withhold payments in excess of fair 
compensation for completed services.  Notwithstanding the exercise of the State’s right to 
terminate this Grant Contract for cause, the Grantee shall not be relieved of liability to the State 
for damages sustained by virtue of any breach of this Grant Contract by the Grantee. 

 
D.5. Subcontracting.  The Grantee shall not assign this Grant Contract or enter into a subcontract for 

any of the services performed under this Grant Contract without obtaining the prior written 
approval of the State.  If such subcontracts are approved by the State, each shall contain, at a 
minimum, sections of this Grant Contract pertaining to "Conflicts of Interest," “Lobbying,” 
"Nondiscrimination," “Public Accountability,” “Public Notice,” and “Records" (as identified by the 
section headings).  Notwithstanding any use of approved subcontractors, the Grantee shall 
remain responsible for all work performed. 

 
D.6. Conflicts of Interest.  The Grantee warrants that no part of the total Grant Contract Amount shall 

be paid directly or indirectly to an employee or official of the State of Tennessee as wages, 
compensation, or gifts in exchange for acting as an officer, agent, employee, subcontractor, or 
consultant to the Grantee in connection with any work contemplated or performed relative to this 
Grant Contract.   

 
D.7. Lobbying.  The Grantee certifies, to the best of its knowledge and belief, that:  
 

a. No federally appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the 
undersigned, to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or 
employee of an agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or 
an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with the awarding of any federal 
contract, the making of any federal grant, the making of any federal loan, the entering into 
of any cooperative agreement, and the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, or 
modification of any federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement. 

 
b. If any funds other than federally appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any 

person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a 
Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member 
of Congress in connection with this contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement, the 
Grantee shall complete and submit Standard Form-LLL, “Disclosure of Lobbying 
Activities,'' in accordance with its instructions. 

 
c. The Grantee shall require that the language of this certification be included in the award 

documents for all sub-awards at all tiers (including subcontracts, sub-grants, and 



1-15-15 GG 

 

10 

 

contracts under grants, loans, and cooperative agreements) and that all subrecipients 
shall certify and disclose accordingly.   

 
This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this 
transaction was made or entered into and is a prerequisite for making or entering into this 
transaction imposed by 31 U.S.C. § 1352. 

 
D.8. Communications and Contacts.  All instructions, notices, consents, demands, or other 

communications required or contemplated by this Grant Contract shall be in writing and shall be 
made by certified, first class mail, return receipt requested and postage prepaid, by overnight 
courier service with an asset tracking system, or by email or facsimile transmission with recipient 
confirmation.  All communications, regardless of method of transmission, shall be addressed to 
the respective party as set out below:   
The State: 

 
 Allysceaeioun Britt Spears, PhD, MPH – Director 

Tennessee Department of Health 
Primary Prevention Impact Services 
Andrew Johnson Tower 
710 James Robertson Parkway 
Nashville, TN 37243 

 Email Address: Allysceaeioun.B.Spears@tn.gov 
Telephone #  615-741-0378 
FAX #  615-532-8669 
 
The Grantee: 

 
Diana Kreider, Director Case Management Services 

 Chattanooga / Hamilton County Health Department 
 921 East Third Street 

Chattanooga, TN  37403-2146 
Email Address:  DianaK@HamiltonTN.gov 
Telephone #:  (423)209-8177 

 FAX #:  (423)209-8156 
 
A change to the above contact information requires written notice to the person designated by the 
other party to receive notice.    

 
All instructions, notices, consents, demands, or other communications shall be considered 
effectively given upon receipt or recipient confirmation as may be required. 

 
D.9. Subject to Funds Availability.  This Grant Contract is subject to the appropriation and availability 

of State or Federal funds.  In the event that the funds are not appropriated or are otherwise 
unavailable, the State reserves the right to terminate this Grant Contract upon written notice to 
the Grantee.  The State’s right to terminate this Grant Contract due to lack of funds is not a 
breach of this Grant Contract by the State.  Upon receipt of the written notice, the Grantee shall 
cease all work associated with the Grant Contract.  Should such an event occur, the Grantee 
shall be entitled to compensation for all satisfactory and authorized services completed as of the 
termination date.  Upon such termination, the Grantee shall have no right to recover from the 
State any actual, general, special, incidental, consequential, or any other damages whatsoever of 
any description or amount. 

 
D.10. Nondiscrimination.  The Grantee hereby agrees, warrants, and assures that no person shall be 

excluded from participation in, be denied benefits of, or be otherwise subjected to discrimination 
in the performance of this Grant Contract or in the employment practices of the Grantee on the 
grounds of handicap or disability, age, race, color, religion, sex, national origin, or any other 



1-15-15 GG 

 

11 

 

classification protected by federal, Tennessee state constitutional, or statutory law.  The Grantee 
shall, upon request, show proof of nondiscrimination and shall post in conspicuous places, 
available to all employees and applicants, notices of nondiscrimination. 

 
D.11. HIPAA Compliance.  The State and the Grantee shall comply with obligations under the Health 

Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA), Health Information Technology for 
Economic and Clinical Health Act (HITECH) and any other relevant laws and regulations 
regarding privacy (collectively the “Privacy Rules”).  The obligations set forth in this Section shall 
survive the termination of this Grant Contract.  

 
a. The Grantee warrants to the State that it is familiar with the requirements of the Privacy 

Rules and will comply with all applicable HIPAA requirements in the course of this Grant 
Contract. 

 
b. The Grantee warrants that it will cooperate with the State, including cooperation and 

coordination with State privacy officials and other compliance officers required by the 
Privacy Rules, in the course of performance of this  Grant Contract so that both parties 
will be in compliance with the Privacy Rules.  

 
c. The State and the Grantee will sign documents, including but not limited to business 

associate agreements, as required by the Privacy Rules and that are reasonably 
necessary to keep the State and the Grantee in compliance with the Privacy Rules.  This 
provision shall not apply if information received by the State under this Grant Contract is 
NOT “protected health information” as defined by the Privacy Rules, or if the Privacy 
Rules permit the State to receive such information without entering into a business 
associate agreement or signing another such document. 

 
D.12. Public Accountability.  If the Grantee is subject to Tenn. Code Ann. § 8-4-401 et seq., or if this 

Grant Contract involves the provision of services to citizens by the Grantee on behalf of the State, 
the Grantee agrees to establish a system through which recipients of services may present 
grievances about the operation of the service program. The Grantee shall also display in a 
prominent place, located near the passageway through which the public enters in order to receive 
Grant supported services, a sign at least eleven inches (11") in height and seventeen inches (17") 
in width stating: 
 
NOTICE:  THIS AGENCY IS A RECIPIENT OF TAXPAYER FUNDING. IF YOU OBSERVE AN 
AGENCY DIRECTOR OR EMPLOYEE ENGAGING IN ANY ACTIVITY WHICH YOU CONSIDER 
TO BE ILLEGAL, IMPROPER, OR WASTEFUL, PLEASE CALL THE STATE COMPTROLLER’S 
TOLL-FREE HOTLINE:  1-800-232-5454. 

 
 The sign shall be on the form prescribed by the Comptroller of the Treasury.  The Grantor State 

Agency shall obtain copies of the sign from the Comptroller of the Treasury, and upon request 
from the Grantee, provide Grantee with any necessary signs. 

 
D.13. Public Notice.  All notices, informational pamphlets, press releases, research reports, signs, and 

similar public notices prepared and released by the Grantee in relation to this Grant Contract shall 
include the statement, “This project is funded under a grant contract with the State of 
Tennessee.”  All notices by the Grantee in relation to this Grant Contract shall be approved by the 
State. 

 
D.14. Licensure.  The Grantee,  its employees, and any approved subcontractor shall be licensed 

pursuant to all applicable federal, state, and local laws, ordinances, rules, and regulations and 
shall upon request provide proof of all licenses. 

 
D.15. Records.  The Grantee and any approved subcontractor shall maintain documentation for all 
 charges under this Grant Contract.  The books, records, and documents of the Grantee and any 



1-15-15 GG 

 

12 

 

 approved subcontractor, insofar as they relate to work performed or money received under this 
 Grant Contract, shall be maintained in accordance with Tenn. Code Ann. §§ 10-7-404 or 10-7-
 702, as appropriate.  In no case shall the records be maintained for a period of less than five (5) 
 full years from the date of the final payment.  The Grantee’s records shall be subject to audit at 
 any reasonable time and upon reasonable notice by the Grantor State Agency, the Comptroller of 
 the Treasury, or their duly appointed representatives.   

 The records shall be maintained in accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
 (GASB) Accounting Standards or the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting 
 Standards Codification, as applicable, and any related AICPA Industry Audit and Accounting 
 guides.   

 In addition, documentation of grant applications, budgets, reports, awards, and expenditures will 
 be maintained in accordance with U.S. Office of Management and Budget’s Uniform 
 Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards. 

 Grant expenditures shall be made in accordance with local government purchasing policies and 
 procedures and purchasing procedures for local governments authorized under state law. 

 The Grantee shall also comply with any recordkeeping and reporting requirements prescribed by 
 the Tennessee Comptroller of the Treasury. 

 The Grantee shall establish a system of internal controls that utilize the COSO Internal Control - 
 Integrated Framework model as the basic foundation for the internal control system.  The Grantee 
 shall incorporate any additional Comptroller of the Treasury directives into its internal control 
 system. 

 Any other required records or reports which are not contemplated in the above standards shall 
 follow the format designated by the head of the Grantor State Agency, the Central Procurement 
 Office, or the Commissioner of Finance and Administration of the State of Tennessee. 

D.16. Monitoring.  The Grantee’s activities conducted and records maintained pursuant to this Grant 
Contract shall be subject to monitoring and evaluation by the State, the Comptroller of the 
Treasury, or their duly appointed representatives. 

 
D.17. Progress Reports.  The Grantee shall submit brief, periodic, progress reports to the State as 

requested. 
 
D.18. Annual and Final Reports.  The Grantee shall submit, within three (3) months of the conclusion of 

each year of the Term, an annual report. For grant contracts with a term of less than one (1) year, 
the Grantee shall submit a final report within three (3) months of the conclusion of the Term. For 
grant contracts with multiyear terms, the final report will take the place of the annual report for the 
final year of the Term. The Grantee shall submit annual and final reports to the Grantor State 
Agency and the Department of Finance and Administration (“F&A”).  Send electronic copies of 
annual and final reports to F&A at fa.audit@tn.gov.  At minimum, annual and final reports shall 
include: (a) the Grantee’s name; (b) the Grant Contract’s Edison identification number, Term, and 
total amount; (c) a narrative section that describes the program’s goals, outcomes, successes 
and setbacks, whether the Grantee used benchmarks or indicators to determine progress, and 
whether any proposed activities were not completed; and (d) other relevant details requested by 
the Grantor State Agency. Annual and final report documents to be completed by the Grantee 
shall appear on the Grantor State Agency’s website or as an attachment (Attachment 7) to the 
Grant Contract.       

 
D.19. Audit Report.  When the Grantee has received seven hundred fifty thousand dollars 

($750,000.00) or more in aggregate federal and state funding for all of its programs within the 
Grantee’s fiscal year, the Grantee shall provide audited financial statements to the Tennessee 
Comptroller of the Treasury.  The Grantee may, with the prior approval of the Comptroller of the 
Treasury, engage a licensed independent public accountant to perform the audit.  The audit 
contract between the Grantee and the licensed independent public accountant shall be on a 

mailto:fa.audit@tn.gov


1-15-15 GG 

 

13 

 

contract form prescribed by the Tennessee Comptroller of the Treasury.  When an audit is 
required under this Section, the audit shall be performed in accordance with U.S. Office of 
Management and Budget’s Uniform Administration Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit 
Requirements for Federal Awards. 

The Grantee shall be responsible for reimbursing the Tennessee Comptroller of the Treasury for 
any costs of an audit prepared by the Tennessee Comptroller of the Treasury. 

The Grantee shall be responsible for payment of fees for an audit prepared by a licensed 
independent public accountant.  Payment of the audit fees for the licensed independent public 
accountant by the Grantee shall be subject to the provision relating to such fees contained within 
this Grant Contract.  Copies of such audit reports shall be provided to the designated cognizant 
state agency, the Grantor State Agency, the Tennessee Comptroller of the Treasury, the Central 
Procurement Office, and the Commissioner of Finance and Administration. 

Audit reports shall be made available to the public.  
 
D.20. Procurement.   If other terms of this Grant Contract allow reimbursement for the cost of goods, 

materials, supplies, equipment, motor vehicles, or contracted services, procurements by the 
Grantee shall be competitive where practicable.  For any procurement for which reimbursement is 
paid under this Grant Contract, the Grantee shall document the competitive procurement method. 
In each instance where it is determined that use of a competitive procurement method is not 
practicable, supporting documentation shall include a written justification for the decision and for 
the use of a non-competitive procurement.  If the Grantee is a subrecipient, the Grantee shall 
comply with 2 C.F.R. §§ 200.318—200.326 when procuring property and services under a federal 
award. 
 
The Grantee shall obtain prior approval from the State before purchasing any equipment or motor 
vehicles under this Grant Contract. 

 
D.21. Strict Performance.  Failure by any party to this Grant Contract to insist in any one or more cases 

upon the strict performance of any of the terms, covenants, conditions, or provisions of this Grant 
Contract is not a waiver or relinquishment of any term, covenant, condition, or provision. No term 
or condition of this Grant Contract shall be held to be waived, modified, or deleted except by a 
written amendment signed by the parties. 

 
D.22. Independent Contractor.  The parties shall not act as employees, partners, joint venturers, or 

associates of one another in the performance of this Grant Contract.  The parties acknowledge 
that they are independent contracting entities and that nothing in this Grant Contract shall be 
construed to create a principal/agent relationship or to allow either to exercise control or direction 
over the manner or method by which the other transacts its business affairs or provides its usual 
services.  The employees or agents of one party shall not be deemed or construed to be the 
employees or agents of the other party for any purpose whatsoever.  
 

D.23. State Liability.  The State shall have no liability except as specifically provided in this Grant 
Contract. 

 
D.24. Force Majeure. “Force Majeure Event” means fire, flood, earthquake, elements of nature or acts 

of God, wars, riots, civil disorders, rebellions or revolutions, acts of terrorism or any other similar 
cause beyond the reasonable control of the Party except to the extent that the non-performing 
Party is at fault in failing to prevent or causing the default or delay, and provided that the default 
or delay cannot reasonably be circumvented by the non-performing Party through the use of 
alternate sources, workaround plans or other means.  A strike, lockout or labor dispute shall not 
excuse either Party from its obligations under this Contract.  Except as set forth in this Section, 
any failure or delay by a Party in the performance of its obligations under this Contract arising 
from a Force Majeure Event is not a default under this Contract or grounds for termination.  The 
non-performing Party will be excused from performing those obligations directly affected by the 



1-15-15 GG 

 

14 

 

Force Majeure Event, and only for as long as the Force Majeure Event continues, provided that 
the Party continues to use diligent, good faith efforts to resume performance without delay.  The 
occurrence of a Force Majeure Event affecting Contractor’s representatives, suppliers, 
subcontractors, customers or business apart from this Contract is not a Force Majeure Event 
under this Contract.  Contractor will promptly notify the State of any delay caused by a Force 
Majeure Event (to be confirmed in a written notice to the State within one (1) day of the inception 
of the delay) that a Force Majeure Event has occurred, and will describe in reasonable detail the 
nature of the Force Majeure Event.  If any Force Majeure Event results in a delay in Contractor’s 
performance longer than forty-eight (48) hours, the State may, upon notice to Contractor: (a) 
cease payment of the fees until Contractor resumes performance of the affected obligations; or 
(b) immediately terminate this Contract or any purchase order, in whole or in part, without further 
payment except for fees then due and payable.  Contractor will not increase its charges under 
this Contract or charge the State any fees other than those provided for in this Contract as the 
result of a Force Majeure Event. 

 
D.25. Tennessee Department of Revenue Registration.  The Grantee shall be registered with the 

Tennessee Department of Revenue for the collection of Tennessee sales and use tax. This 
registration requirement is a material provision of this Grant Contract. 

 
D.26. Charges to Service Recipients Prohibited.  The Grantee shall not collect any amount in the form 

of fees or reimbursements from the recipients of any service provided pursuant to this Grant 
Contract. 

 
D.27. No  Acquisition of Equipment or Motor Vehicles.  This Grant Contract does not involve the 

acquisition and disposition of equipment or motor vehicles acquired with funds provided under 
this Grant Contract. 

 
D.28. State and Federal Compliance.  The Grantee shall comply with all applicable state and federal 

laws and regulations in the performance of this Grant Contract. The U.S. Office of Management 
and Budget’s Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal 
Awards is available here: http://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-
idx?SID=c6b2f053952359ba94470ad3a7c1a975&tpl=/ecfrbrowse/Title02/2cfr200_main_02.tpl   

 
D.29. Governing Law.  This Grant Contract shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the 

laws of the State of Tennessee.  The Grantee agrees that it will be subject to the exclusive 
jurisdiction of the courts of the State of Tennessee in actions that may arise under this Grant 
Contract.  The Grantee acknowledges and agrees that any rights or claims against the State of 
Tennessee or its employees hereunder, and any remedies arising there from, shall be subject to 
and limited to those rights and remedies, if any, available under Tenn. Code Ann. §§ 9-8-101 
through 9-8-407. 

 
D.30. Completeness.  This Grant Contract is complete and contains the entire understanding between 

the parties relating to the subject matter contained herein, including all the terms and conditions 
agreed to by the parties.  This Grant Contract supersedes any and all prior understandings, 
representations, negotiations, or agreements between the parties, whether written or oral. 

 
D.31. Severability.  If any terms and conditions of this Grant Contract are held to be invalid or 

unenforceable as a matter of law, the other terms and conditions shall not be affected and shall 
remain in full force and effect.  To this end, the terms and conditions of this Grant Contract are 
declared severable. 

 
D.32. Headings.  Section headings are for reference purposes only and shall not be construed as part 

of this Grant Contract. 
 
E. SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS:  
 

http://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-idx?SID=c6b2f053952359ba94470ad3a7c1a975&tpl=/ecfrbrowse/Title02/2cfr200_main_02.tpl
http://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-idx?SID=c6b2f053952359ba94470ad3a7c1a975&tpl=/ecfrbrowse/Title02/2cfr200_main_02.tpl


1-15-15 GG 

 

15 

 

E.1.  Conflicting Terms and Conditions.  Should any of these special terms and conditions conflict with 
any other terms and conditions of this Grant Contract, the special terms and conditions shall be 
subordinate to the Grant Contract’s other terms and conditions. 

   
E.2. Debarment and Suspension. The Grantee certifies, to the best of its knowledge and belief, that it, 

its current and future principals, its current subcontractors and their principals: 
 

a. are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or  
voluntarily excluded from covered transactions by any federal or state department or 
agency; 

 
b. have not within a three (3) year period preceding this Grant Contract been convicted of,  

or had a civil judgment rendered against them from commission of fraud, or a criminal 
offence in connection with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a public (federal, 
state, or local) transaction or grant under a public transaction; violation of federal or state 
antitrust statutes or commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification, or 
destruction of records, making false statements, or receiving stolen property; 

 
c. are not presently indicted or otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a government entity  

(federal, state, or local) with commission of any of the offenses detailed in section b. of 
this certification; and 

 
d. have not within a three (3) year period preceding this Grant Contract had one or more  

public transactions (federal, state or local) terminated for cause or default. 
 
The Grantee shall provide immediate written notice to the State if at any time it learns that there          
was an earlier failure to disclose information or that due to changed circumstances, its principals 
or the principals of its subcontractors are excluded or disqualified.  

 
E.3.  Confidentiality of Records. Strict standards of confidentiality of records and information shall be 

maintained in accordance with applicable state and federal law. All material and information, 
regardless if form, medium or method of communication, provided to the Grantee by the State or 
acquired by the Grantee on behalf of the State that is regarded as confidential under state or 
federal law shall be regarded as “Confidential Information.” Nothing in this section shall permit 
Grantee to disclose and Confidential Information, regardless of whether it has been disclosed or 
made available to the Grantee due to intentional or negligent actions or inactions of agents of the 
State or third parties. Confidential Information shall not be disclosed except as required or 
permitted under state or federal law. Grantee shall take all necessary steps to safeguard the 
confidentiality of such material or information in conformance with applicable state and federal 
law.   

 
 The obligations set forth in this Section shall survive the termination of this Grant Contract.  
 
E.4.  Printing Authorization. The Grantee agrees that no publication coming within the jurisdiction of 

Tenn. Code Ann. § 12-7-101, et seq., shall be printed pursuant to this Grant Contract unless 
printing authorization number has been obtained and affixed as required by Tenn. Code Ann. § 
12-7-103(d). 

 
E.5. Environmental Tobacco Smoke. Pursuant to the provisions of the federal “Pro-Children Act of 

1994” and the “Children’s Act for Clean Indoor Air of 1995,” Tenn. Code Ann. §§ 39-17-1601 
through 1606, the Grantee shall prohibit smoking of tobacco products within any indoor premises 
in which services are provided to individuals under the age of eighteen (18) years. The Grantee 
shall post “no smoking” signs in appropriate, permanent sites within such premises. This 
prohibition shall be applicable during all hours, not just the hours in which children are present. 
Violators of the prohibition may be subject to civil penalties and fines. This prohibition shall apply 
to and be made part of any subcontract related to this Grant Contract.  



1-15-15 GG 

 

16 

 

 
E.6. Discourse of Personally Identifiable Information. The Grantee shall report to the State any 

instances of unauthorized disclosure of personally identifiable information that come to the 
attention of the Grantee. Any such report shall be made by the Grantee within twenty-four (24) 
hours after the instance has come to the attention of the Grantee. The Grantee, at the sole 
discretion of the State, shall provide no cost credit monitoring services for individuals that are 
deemed to be part of a potential disclosure. The Grantee shall bear the cost of notification to 
individuals having personally identifiable information involved in a potential disclosure event, 
including individual letters or public notice. The remedies set forth in this section are not exclusive 
and are in addition to any claims or remedies available to the State under this Grant Contract or 
otherwise available at law. 

 
E.7.  Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act (FFATA). 
 
 This Grant Contract required the Grantee to provide supplies or services that are funded in whole 

or in part by federal funds that are subject to FFATA. The Grantee is responsible for ensuring that 
all applicable FFATA requirements, including but not limited to those below, are met and that the 
Grantee provides information to the State as required.  

  
 The Grantee shall comply with the following: 
 

a. Reporting of Total Compensation of the Grantee’s Executives. 
 

(1) The Grantee shall report the names and total compensation of each of its five most highly 
compensated executives for the Grantee’s preceding completed fiscal year, if in the 
Grantee’s preceding fiscal year it received: 

 
i. 80 percent or more of the Grantee’s annual gross revenues from Federal 

procurement contracts and federal financial assistance subject to the 
Transparency Act, as defined at 2 CFR 170.320 (and sub awards); and  

ii. $25,000,000 or more in annual gross revenues from federal procurement 
contracts (and subcontracts), and federal financial assistance subject to the 
Transparency Act (and sub awards); and 

iii. The public does not have access to information about the compensation of the 
executives through periodic reports filed under section 13(a) or 15(d) of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. § 78m(a), 78o(d)) or § 6104 of the 
Internal Revenue Code of 1986. (To determine if the public has access to the 
compensation information, see the U.S. Security and Exchange Commission 
total compensation filings at http://www.sec.gov/answers/execomp.htm.). 

 
As defined in 2 C.F.R. § 170.315, “Executive” means officers, managing partners, or any 
other employees in management positions. 
 

(2) Total compensation means the cash and noncash dollar value earned by the executive 
during the Grantee’s preceding fiscal year and includes the following (for more 
information see 17 CFR § 229.402(c)(2)):  
 
i. Salary and bonus.  
ii. Awards of stock, stock options, and stock appreciation rights. Use the dollar 

amount recognized for financial statement reporting purposes with respect to the 
fiscal year in accordance with the Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 
No. 123 (Revised 2004) (FAS 123R), Shared Based Payments.  

iii. Earnings for services under non-equity incentive plans. This does not include 
group life, health, hospitalization or medical reimbursement plans that do not 
discriminate in favor of executives, and are available generally to all salaried 
employees.  

http://www.sec.gov/answers/execomp.htm


1-15-15 GG 

 

17 

 

iv. Change in pension value. This is the change in present value of defined benefit 
and actuarial pension plans.  

v. Above-market earnings on deferred compensation which is not tax qualified.  
vi. Other compensation, if the aggregate value of all such other compensation (e.g. 

severance, termination payments, value of life insurance paid on behalf of the 
employee, perquisites or property) for the executive exceeds $10,000. 

 
b. The Grantee must report executive total compensation described above to the State by  

the end of the month during which this Grant Contract is established. 
 

c. If this Grant Contract is amended to extend its term, the Grantee must submit an  
executive total compensation report to the State by the end of the month in which the 
amendment to this Grant Contract becomes effective.  

 
d. The Grantee will obtain a Data Universal Numbering System (DUNS) number and  

maintain its DUNS number for the term of this Grant Contract.  More information about 
obtaining DUNS Number can be found at: http://fedgov.dnb.com/webform/. 

 
The Grantee’s failure to comply with the above requirements is a material breach of this Grant 
Contract for which the State may terminate this Grant Contract for cause.  The State will not be 
obligated to pay any outstanding invoice received from the Grantee unless and until the Grantee 
is in full compliance with the above requirements. 
 

E. 8.  CFDA Number(s).  When applicable, the Grantee shall inform its licensed independent public 
accountant of the federal regulations that are to be complied with in performance of an audit.  
This information shall consist of the following Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance Numbers: 

  
93.505 – Affordable Care Act (ACA) Maternal, Infant, and Early Childhood Home Visiting  

 Program  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

http://fedgov.dnb.com/webform/


1-15-15 GG 

 

18 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, 

CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT: 

 

GRANTEE SIGNATURE DATE 

 

Rebekah Barnes,  Public Health County Director  

PRINTED NAME AND TITLE OF GRANTEE SIGNATORY (above)  

 

HAMILTON COUNTY GOVERNMENT: 

 

GRANTEE SIGNATURE DATE 

 

Jim Coppinger, County Mayor 

PRINTED NAME AND TITLE OF GRANTEE SIGNATORY (above)  

 

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH: 

 

JOHN J. DREYZEHNER, MD, MPH, FACOEM, COMMISSIONER DATE 

 



Attachment 1 
 

2013-15 TENNderCare COMMUNITY OUTREACH PLAN 
Chattanooga Hamilton  

 

1 
 

 
 
PURPOSE: 

To provide, in a timely manner, an aggressive and effective outreach service to 
inform enrollees and the general public of the existence of the TENNderCare 
program, including the availability of specific TENNderCare screening and treatment 
services. This will be accomplished by the use of effective methods (developed 
through collaboration with agencies who have established procedures for working 
with such individuals) to inform TennCare eligibles about the availability of 
TENNderCare; with methods specifically developed for those who have limited 
reading proficiency, and/or limited English proficiency, and/or are visually impaired 
and/or hearing impaired. 

 
 
REGION OVERVIEW: 

The Chattanooga Hamilton Region is located in the Southeast Grand Division. It is 
comprised of one primary county (Hamilton) and borders the state of Georgia. 
Chattanooga is the fourth largest metro area in the state. 
   
According to the 2011CMS 416 Report data, the region had a total of 39,930 
TennCare Eligibles who were eligible for EPSDTs during the reporting period of 
October 1, 2010 through September 30, 2011. The overall screening rate for the 
region was 97.59%. The primary targeted zip codes for the community nearest the 
health department are 37402, 37403, 37405, 37406, 37408 and 37410. The primary 
targeted zip codes for the rural communities are 37302, 37308, 37336, 37363, 37373 
and 37379. Other areas identified as having socioeconomic issues impeding 
consistent health care are located in 37416 and 37421 zip codes respectively. 
 

 
OUTREACH PLAN: 

Target Populations/Audiences 
The Chattanooga Hamilton County (CHR) Regional TENNderCare Program 
will target all TennCare eligible populations. Primary focus will be given to 
the 10-20 year old population.  
 
TennCare eligible children and/or their parents:  

According to the 2011 CMS Report, there were a total of 39,930 TennCare 
eligible children eligible for EPSDTs during the period of October 1, 2010 
through September 30, 2011.  
 

TennCare eligible adolescents and young adults to age 21:  
TennCare eligibles adolescents are defined as TennCare eligibles from age 
10-18 years of age. According to the 2011 CMS Report, there were a total 
of 13,452 in the region. TennCare eligible young adults are defined as 



Attachment 1 
 

2013-15 TENNderCare COMMUNITY OUTREACH PLAN 
Chattanooga Hamilton  

 

2 
 

TennCare eligibles ages 19-20 years. According to the 2011 CMS Report, 
there were a total of 4,278 in the region.  The goal is to serve 6000 
adolescents and young adults during the reporting period. 
 

TennCare eligible children who are pre-school and school age: 
TennCare eligible pre-school children are defined as TennCare eligibles 
from birth through five (5) years old. According to the 2011 CMS Report, 
there were a total of 14,698 pre-schools children in the region. TennCare 
eligible school age children are defined as TennCare eligibles from six 
(6) years to nine (9) years old. According to the 2011 CMS Report, there 
were a total of 7,502 school age children in the region. The program goal 
is to serve 2000 pre-school and school age children during the reporting 
period. 

 
TennCare eligible children with special health care needs, including visually 
impaired and/or hearing impaired: 

TennCare eligible children with special health care needs will be identified 
through state and local agencies, which will include: Child Special 
Services, TEIS, the local department of education, Maternal and Child 
Health programs in Hamilton County, Siskin, Signal Centers, Head Start 
and physicians. The program goal is to serve approximately 650 special 
health care needs individuals during the reporting period. 
 

TennCare eligible individuals with limited reading proficiency and/or limited 
English proficiency: 

TennCare eligible individuals with limited reading proficiency and/or 
limited English proficiency will be identified through collaborative efforts 
with La Paz, Partnership for Families, Children and Adults, health 
department programs and by conducting events in areas with a large 
population of limited English speaking residents. The goal is to serve 1200 
LEP residents during the reporting period. 
 

Local specific populations, audience and/or entities: 
The homeless population is defined as persons (Children and Women) 
living in transitional living settings who are TennCare eligible. In the state 
of Tennessee, the number of identified homeless children is approximately 
74%.  The local TENNderCare Outreach program has partnered with the 
local board of education to assist homeless populations via the Homeless 
Liaison. This person works with identified homeless students pursuant the 
McKinney-Vento Homelessness Assistance Act. Currently there are 
approximately 1200 identified homeless students in Chattanooga Hamilton 
County.  This partnership will allow TENNderCare to interface with the 
target population via PTO meetings, individual meetings scheduled by the 



Attachment 1 
 

2013-15 TENNderCare COMMUNITY OUTREACH PLAN 
Chattanooga Hamilton  

 

3 
 

Homeless Liaison as well as representatives from the Department of 
Human Services. 

 
Pregnant Adolescents- The pregnant adolescent population is defined as 
young girls, under the age of 19, who are pregnant.  TENNderCare has 
partnered with the local WIC, HUGS, Healthier Beginnings and Home 
Bound Services Coordinator of the local school department to identify the 
target population. The program is also working with a teen parenting 
program based at one of the area schools. These initiatives will allow 
services to approximately 50 pregnant adolescents in the county. 

 
 
Activities 

The Regional TENNderCare Program will strive to convey the importance of 
Early, Periodic, Screening, Diagnosis, and Treatment (EPSDTs) to TennCare 
eligibles. The TENNderCare message will be conveyed to through various 
venues to all target populations/audiences. The program will distribute 
TennCare and Tennessee Department of Health approved materials. Age 
appropriate incentives will be used and distributed during outreach activities. 
 
The region will conduct and report outreach activities within the following 
major outreach areas: (1) Community-based Outreach, (2) Dental Outreach, 
(3) Home Visiting Outreach, (4) Media Outreach, and (5) Special Projects.  
Insert the following only if you have counties with less than 80% - Targeted 
outreach activities will be conducted in the following counties which were 
identified to have less than 80% screening rate according to the 2011 CMS 
416 Report: Chattanooga Hamilton County. 
The Regional TENNderCare Program Director will evaluate programmatic 
progress towards the projected number of contacts at the conclusion of year 
one.  Amendments to the number of contacts (increasing or decreasing) can be 
submitted to the Statewide Community Outreach Director for review and 
approval via email as deemed necessary by the Regional TENNderCare 
Program Director. 

 
 Community-Based Outreach  

Community-based outreach activities will be identified and conducted as 
appropriate in the following areas: Community Events/Fairs, Educational-
based, Health-Department Based, Local/Regional 
Agency/Businesses/Organizations, and Medical Providers/Institutions.  
Specific activities noted in each sub-section.  
 
Community Events/Fairs 
The local TENNderCare Outreach Program will coordinate and participate 
in the annual Minority Health Fair, the Eastlake Celebration, Parks and 



Attachment 1 
 

2013-15 TENNderCare COMMUNITY OUTREACH PLAN 
Chattanooga Hamilton  

 

4 
 

Recreation, East Chattanooga Improvement, local faith based 
organizations, health ministries and all youth focused community 
programming, i.e. summer camps and after school care. The  
 
The following target audience(s)/population(s) and potential number of 
contacts will be: 
 

*Target audience(s)/population(s) 10-18 with potential contacts 
12,000. 
*Target audience(s)/population(s) 19-20 with potential contacts 
3,200. 
 
 

Educational-Based  
Outreach to the 0 to 5 target population will consist of presentations at 
area day care centers, Head start and schools with Pre-K students.  All 
other educational based outreach will be conducted at area elementary, 
middle, high and colleges/universities in the area.  These venues serve the 
remaining target populations. 
 
The following target audience(s)/population(s) and potential number of 
contacts will be: 

*Target audience(s)/population(s) 3-5 with potential contacts 2,400. 
*Target audience(s)/population(s) 10-20 with potential contacts 
14,000. 

 
 

Health Department-Based 
TENNderCare Outreach will participate in health department based 
activities to improve services for the following targeted population: 
Limited English Proficient, Pregnant Adolescent, Young Adults, and 
children.   
 
The following target audience(s)/population(s) and potential number of 
contacts will be: 

*Target audience(s)/population(s) 10-18 with potential contacts 350 
*Target audience(s)/population(s) 19-20 with potential contacts 100. 

 
Local/Regional Agency/Businesses/Organizations 
TENNderCare will partner with area businesses and/or organizations 
which are centrally located in areas where the target populations reside.  
The program will also partner with local organizations designed to address 
disparities for the target population, as well as large retailers i.e. Walmart, 
Dollar Tree) which are frequented by the target population and their 



Attachment 1 
 

2013-15 TENNderCare COMMUNITY OUTREACH PLAN 
Chattanooga Hamilton  

 

5 
 

families. Booths containing educational materials and incentives will be 
provided for the target population during these events. 
  
The following target audience(s)/population(s) and potential number of 
contacts will be: 

*Target audience(s)/population(s) 10-18 with potential contacts 2400. 
*Target audience(s)/population(s) 19-20 with potential contacts 2000. 

 
Medical Providers/Institutions 
The TENNderCare Outreach program will partner with local pediatric 
offices, urgent care centers and Managed Care Organizations to reach the 
target population.   Events will also be coordinated with service specific 
entities i.e. Siskin, Signal Centers to provide outreach to special healthcare 
needs population. New collaborative with mental health providers will 
address the needs of that population and further promote utilization of 
benefits.   
 
The following target audience(s)/population(s) and potential number of 
contacts will be: 

*Target audience(s)/population(s) 10-18 with potential contacts 500. 
*Target audience(s)/population(s) 19-20 with potential contacts 300. 

 
 

Dental Outreach 
Dental Outreach activities will be identified and conducted as appropriate 
in the following areas: Priority 1 and Community. 
 
The regional TENNderCare program will collaborate with the School-
based Dental Prevention Program (SBDPP) within Oral Health Services to 
conduct follow-up phone outreach to children identified by the SBDPP 
who have immediate dental needs (Priority 1).  The regional program will 
follow the TENNderCare Community Outreach Guidelines for Dental 
Outreach. The program will attempt to reach 100% of TennCare Eligibles 
whose name is received in each monthly Priority 1 Report.  
 
Community 
The regional TENNderCare program will collaborate with the TennCare 
Dental Benefits Manager and dental providers within the region to conduct 
dental outreach activities as appropriate.  
 
The CHR program has partnered with the SBDPP to provide educational 
presentations during the screening and sealant programs at area schools. 
Dental outreach is also conducted in local community centers and in 
community settings to the target population.  Extensive dental outreach is 



Attachment 1 
 

2013-15 TENNderCare COMMUNITY OUTREACH PLAN 
Chattanooga Hamilton  

 

6 
 

conducted during Dental Health Month via marquee ads, daily 
announcements in the school and by distributing educational materials to 
the community.  Educational, interactive activities are provided for the 
target population at every event.  
 
The following target audience(s)/population(s) and potential number of 
contacts will be: 

*Target audience(s)/population(s) 10-18 with potential contacts 1000. 
*Target audience(s)/population(s) 19-20 with potential contacts 300. 

 
Home Visiting Outreach  

Home Visiting Outreach will be conducted to reach TennCare eligibles 
that have been identified by the Bureau of TennCare to be “Not Up-to-
Date” on their EPSDTs. Home visiting activities will be conducted in 
accordance with the TENNderCare Community Outreach Guidelines for 
Home Visiting Outreach.  The primary target age-group will be 10-18 and 
the secondary target age-group will be 19-20.  A total of 500 TennCare 
eligible contacts will be attempted each month.   

 
Mass Media/Written Outreach  

Mass Media outreach events (Media Broadcast, Media Published and 
Media Other) will be used to disseminate the TENNderCare message to 
the target audiences/population as made available through collaboration 
with community partners.  
 
Media Broadcast  
The regional TENNderCare program will participate in media broadcast 
such as radio or TV interviews for the purpose of sharing information 
about the TENNderCare program or specific event(s)/activity (ies) will be 
used to target to TennCare eligibles.  
 
The TENNderCare program will participate in radio broadcasts and 
PODCASTS to share information about the program.  It is the goal of the 
program to work increase visibility and accessibility to services by 
utilizing area radio stations to inform the community. 
 
The projected number of events will be 3. The projected target 
audience(s)/population(s) will be the entire TennCare eligible population 
in the region within the age range of 10-20. 
 
Media Published  
The regional TENNderCare program will use community-based media 
publications such as local newspapers or magazines to distribute 
TENNderCare program information.  



Attachment 1 
 

2013-15 TENNderCare COMMUNITY OUTREACH PLAN 
Chattanooga Hamilton  

 

7 
 

 
The projected number of events will be 5. The projected target 
audience/population will be the entire TennCare eligible population in the 
region within the age ranges of 10-20. 
 
Media Other  
The regional TENNderCare program will use a variety of media outlets 
such as billboards/marquees, scrolling billboards, or transportation 
billboards designed to carry advertising messages to share the 
TENNderCare program information. This may include outdoor and indoor 
advertising at public settings (i.e. outside of the health department) and the 
World Wide Web.  
 
The projected number of events will be 4. The projected target 
audience/population will be the entire TennCare eligible population in the 
region within the age range of 10-20. 
 
Newsletter Articles/Newsletters 
The regional TENNderCare program will use newsletter articles to convey 
the TENNderCare message to a specific audience or to share a 
TENNderCare outreach event/activity. This may include an announcement 
in a school-handbook or athletic program book, or employee newsletter. 
 
The projected number of events will be 3. The projected target 
audience/population will be the entire TennCare eligible population as 
well as the community at large. 
 
A regional TENNderCare newsletter will be published by the Chattanooga 
Hamilton County TENNderCare Community Outreach program every 3 
months, which will contain updated program information, program 
specific announcements, health messages, upcoming presentations, newly 
acquired community partners, advisory board meeting information as well 
as notifications of community partner sponsored events. The newsletter 
will also include updates about TENNderCare and resources for the 
community.  
 
The projected number of events will be 3. The projected target 
audience/population will be the Chattanooga Hamilton County region as 
well as the target population. Links to the newsletter will be placed on the 
program web page. 

 
 
 
 



Attachment 1 
 

2013-15 TENNderCare COMMUNITY OUTREACH PLAN 
Chattanooga Hamilton  

 

8 
 

Special Outreach Project(s) 
The regional TENNderCare Program will conduct statewide and/or 
regional specific outreach projects to disseminate the TENNderCare 
message.  

 
Dental Health Month – February 
Health Educators and Lay Outreach Workers will promote dental health 
month via presentations at area schools and community centers. Staff will 
also work with the health department dental programs and area dentists to 
promote the message throughout the month of February.  Messages will be 
displayed on the health department marquee as well as PODCASTS at one 
area high school.  Dental and Oral hygiene items will be disseminated at 
each event. Interactive games promoting oral health will be used at 
PTO/PTA meetings in the rural communities.  
 
 
 
The following target audience(s)/population(s) and potential number of 
contacts will be: 

*Target audience(s)/population(s) 10-18 with potential contacts 1000. 
*Target audience(s)/population(s) 19-20 with potential contacts 400. 
All target populations will receive outreach during the month of 
February. It is the program goal to reach 100% of the population at 
each event and provide information to be shared with their families. 

 
Child Health Week – October 
The TENNderCare Outreach Program will conduct school presentations, 
healthy snack events, health and wellness initiatives, and display messages 
at community centers, area churches, at the health department about Child 
Health Week.  It is the program goal to reach 100% of the population at 
each event. Events will have age specific activities to ensure the goal is 
met.  
 
The following target audience(s)/population(s) and potential number of 
contacts will be: 

*Target audience(s)/population(s) 10-18 with potential contacts 1000. 
*Target audience(s)/population(s) 19-20 with potential contacts 350. 

 
Specific Regional Project(s)— 
The Chattanooga Hamilton County region will co-facilitate a teen and 
special health care needs seminar with local organizations.  The purpose of 
these events is to target specific disparities for the populations.   The 
region has begun its efforts to address these populations by creating a 
Teen Advisory Board/Council which is comprised of seven high school 



Attachment 1 
 

2013-15 TENNderCare COMMUNITY OUTREACH PLAN 
Chattanooga Hamilton  

 

9 
 

students at Tyner High Academy. It is the goal of the program to expand 
the council to include more students from area middle and high schools.  
This will allow the program to interact with the target population and 
reach more than 300 students per interaction.  The program will also host 
information sessions at school sporting events.  
 
The following target audience(s)/population(s) and potential number of 
contacts will be: 

*Target audience(s)/population(s) 10-18 with potential contacts 300. 
*Target audience(s)/population(s) 19-20 with potential contacts 300. 

 
     

*Target audience/population potential contacts totals indicate the amount to be 
reached during 2013 and 2015 or the duration of the community outreach plan. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
PARTNERSHIPS/ MEETINGS 

Community Partners   
The regional TENNderCare program will strive to collaborate with a variety 
community partners (See Appendix) to disseminate the TENNderCare 
message to TennCare eligibles.  

 
        
Meetings  

The regional TENNderCare Program leadership team will attend and conduct 
community meetings as identified to maintain a close working relation with 
community partners.  
 
Annual Agency Meetings 

 
The projected number of events will be 2 annually. 

  
Coalition Meetings 
Coalition Meetings are designed to inform the program staff about community 
led initiatives to address various disparities/barriers to services. These 
meetings allow program staff to exchange ideas and educate communities 
about the services and purpose of TENNderCare. Moreover, they serve as a 
conduit to promote collaborations, identify resources and promote continuity 
of services. 

 



Attachment 1 
 

2013-15 TENNderCare COMMUNITY OUTREACH PLAN 
Chattanooga Hamilton  

 

10 
 

The projected number of events will be 2 monthly.  
 
Quarterly Advisory Board Meetings 

The TENNderCare Outreach Advisory Board meets quarterly to 
inform community partners of activities, events and initiatives of the 
program. These meetings are attended by all community partners. 
Presentations are conducted by special guests and TENNderCare staff 
from Nashville. 
 
The projected number of events will be 3 annually. 

 
 

PROGRAM STAFF  
Organizational Design 

The regional TENNderCare program is led by a regional TENNderCare 
Program Manager/Director and 2 regional TENNderCare coordinators.  
There are 5 part time lay workers. The lay workers will conduct outreach 
activities in their assigned county. 
 
See Appendix __ for a detailed organization chart. 
 
 

Job Responsibilities 
Regional Program Director/Manager  
 
Regional Coordinator(s) 
       
Lay outreach workers 
        

Staff Recruitment 
Staff vacancies will be advertised through the Hamilton County Human 
Resources Department.  Staff will be recruited based on his/her 
qualifications/skills pertaining to the position. All efforts will be made to 
fill positions within a reasonable time frame to avoid interruption of 
services. 

 
Training 

Staff training includes an orientation, formal/informal training and career 
development opportunities.  The majority of training is conducted on site.  
Training is provided for staff upon hire and throughout the year. Lay 
Outreach workers receive a manual which provides important information 
on TENNderCare, outlines procedures and expectations of the position.  
Competency/Mastery levels are measured via TENNderCare quizzes as 
well as customer satisfaction surveys, which assess health educators’ 



Attachment 1 
 

2013-15 TENNderCare COMMUNITY OUTREACH PLAN 
Chattanooga Hamilton  

 

11 
 

abilities both internally and externally.  Performance evaluations are 
completed at the following employment milestones: 30 days, 3 months, 6 
months, 9 months and 1 year, with semi-annual and annual follow-ups for 
the duration of employment. (Note:  Probationary period was extended 
effective July 2010 from 6 months to 1 year). Continuing Education and 
career development opportunities are made available to staff that will 
include but isn’t limited to: group dynamics, working with individuals in 
poverty, needs assessment, mentoring, coaching, MCO changes and team 
building.  Staff meetings will be conducted bi-weekly to share information 
from conference calls and other information pertinent to program 
operation (policy changes). 

 
 

REPORTING AND EVALUATION 
Reporting 

Regional TENNderCare Community Outreach activities will be entered into 
the Patient Tracking Billing Management Information System (PTBMIS) by 
close of business for the previous week.  
 
The Regional TENNderCare Program Director/Manager will adhere to all 
activity reporting processes as outlined by the Statewide Community Outreach 
Director.  PTBMIS data will include the number of events and contacts for the 
following events/activities conducted by the regional TENNderCare staff and 
the number of approved educational material distributed during the 
events/activities as outlined in the current version of TENNderCare 
Community Outreach Guidelines: Reporting Process for PTBMIS Transmittal. 
 

 Evaluation 
Regional TENNderCare Community Outreach activities will be evaluated 
using the current TENNderCare- Community Outreach Evaluation Tool 
annually. All evaluations will be submitted to the Statewide Community 
Outreach Director. 

 
 

PLAN REVIEW AND SUBMISSION  
The Regional TENNderCare Program Director/Manager will review the regional 
plan periodically to ensure goals are being met by the region. A formal annual 
review will be conducted using the current version of the TENNderCare 
Community Outreach Program Self-Evaluation Tool provided by the State 
TENNderCare Community Outreach Director. The annual review will include a 
review of quarterly PTBMIS data for the fiscal year (July 1 - June 30).  
 
The Regional TENNderCare Program Director/Manager will submit the 
TENNderCare Community Outreach Program Self-Evaluation Tool and 



Attachment 1 
 

2013-15 TENNderCare COMMUNITY OUTREACH PLAN 
Chattanooga Hamilton  

 

12 
 

TENNderCare Community Outreach Regional Plan -Self-Evaluation Summary to 
the State TENNderCare Community Outreach Director by the established 
deadline. If any requirements are not met during the fiscal year, an explanation 
and plan of action will be outlined.  
 
Any changes to the program’s approved regional plan will be reviewed and 
approved regionally prior to submission to the State TENNderCare Community 
Outreach Director. The program will submit appropriate documents and an 
amended regional plan via email to the State TENNderCare Community Outreach 
Director for final approval. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Attachment 1 
 

2013-15 TENNderCare COMMUNITY OUTREACH PLAN 
Chattanooga Hamilton  

 

13 
 

APPROVAL 
Regional 

Prepared by: Vanessa A. Montgomery 

Title: Health Program Supervisor 

Revised by: 05/21/13 

Submission date: 01/31/2013 

 

Regional Approval by: Tom Rucci 

Title: Director 

Regional Approval date: 05/21/13 

 

State    

     Approved by: Rachel Hardaway 

          Title: Statewide Community Outreach Director 

                            Approved dated: May 21, 2013 



Attachment 1 
 

2013-15 TENNderCare COMMUNITY OUTREACH PLAN 
Chattanooga Hamilton  

 

14 
 

Organizational Structure for 

TENNderCare Community Outreach 
Hamilton County Health Department 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Rebekah T. Barnes, Administrator 
Health Department 

Tom Rucci, Director 
Case Management Services 

Adult  
Health 

Childhood 
Lead 

Prevention 

CSS HIV/AIDS 
Center of 

Excellence 

TENNDerCare Outreach 
Health Program Supervisor 

Vanessa Montgomery 

HUGS 
Program 

Newborn 
Screening 

SIDS Renal Disease 
Intervention 

Lay Outreach Worker 

Public Health Educator 

Lay Outreach Worker 

Lay Outreach Worker 

Lay Outreach Worker 

Public Health Educator 



Attachment 2 

TENNderCare Program 
Welcome Baby Initiative 

  Contract Guidelines  

Reviewed and Approved by Allysceaeioun Spears PhD MPH – Director  2‐13‐13 rev 3‐1‐14    1 
 

 

The Welcome Baby Initiative is collaboration between the Divisions of Family Health and Wellness (FHW) 

and Community Health Services (CHS), supported by the Office of Policy, Planning and Assessment. The 

Initiative will be managed by the TENNderCare Program within CHS and financially supported by the 

FHW – Maternal Infant and Early Childhood Home Visiting (MIECHV) Grant. The grant funding will be 

allocated through SFY 2016. 

 

Initiative Rationale: 

The purpose of Welcome Baby is to screen for family and child risks for infant mortality at the time of a 

child’s birth, provide timely referrals to address their needs, connect children and families with 

appropriate services in the community and to improve utilization of community resources.   Welcome 

Baby began with initial 30 counties identified by FHW from a 2010 county ranking assessment for the 

highest risk for infant mortality. These initial counties include 4 metropolitan areas and 26 rural counties 

(in alphabetical order):  

 

  

Beginning FY 2014, two (2) additional metropolitan areas (Knox and Sullivan) were added as targeted 

counties. Primary focus of these two metropolitan areas was to conduct outreach to teens through the 

Teaching Teens Outstanding Parenting Skills (T‐TOPS) Conference.  

 

Initiative Design: 

An initial assessment of risk and priority ranking utilizing identified data collected on the birth certificate 

will be conducted of all live births. The assessment will be completed by the Office of Policy, Planning 

and Assessment – Division of Health Statistics. Ranking will be based on a mathematical model for 

predicting infant mortality created exclusively for the Welcome Baby and approved by the Welcome 

Baby Initiative team.  

Each birth certificate will receive a “risk” ranking of: Low, Medium, or High. All babies will receive a 

Welcome Baby letter which will include information about formal resources for the new parents as 

identified by the Welcome Baby Initiative team. Additional outreach will be conducted to the parents of 

babies with an assessment ranking of Medium and High Risk. “Medium” risk babies will receive a follow‐

up phone call from the TENNderCare Program – Nursing Call Center nurse* and “High” risk babies will 

receive an outreach visit in the home from the TENNderCare Program – Community Outreach lay 

outreach worker*.   

Campbell, Claiborne, Cocke, Coffee, Cumberland, Davidson, DeKalb, Dickson, Dyer, Grundy, 
Hamilton, Hardin, Haywood, Hardeman, Henderson, Johnson, Lake, Lauderdale, Lawrence, 
Madison, Marion, Maury, McMinn, Monroe, Polk, Rhea, Scott, Sequatchie, Sevier, and Shelby.  



Attachment 2 

TENNderCare Program 
Welcome Baby Initiative 

  Contract Guidelines  

Reviewed and Approved by Allysceaeioun Spears PhD MPH – Director  2‐13‐13 rev 3‐1‐14    2 
 

 

 

The outreach message will provide additional detail information discussed in the Welcome Baby letter 

and attempt to connect the family with appropriate resources as identified. 

*Welcome Baby Initiative staff and outreach activities will be 100% funded by the MIECHV Grant. 
These outreach activities will be in addition to any TENNderCare outreach activities.  
 

 

Initiative Capacity: 

The capacity for each risk group was determined by the TENNderCare Program based on current 

TENNderCare outreach activities. The Initiative number of contacts annually: “Low” Risk – 80,000, 

“Medium” Risk ‐5,000 and “High” Risk ‐ 14,000.   

 

Regional Responsibility: 

Regional (Rural and Metropolitan) TENNderCare Community Outreach Programs will be responsible for 

the following: 

1. Identifying and securing personnel qualified to conduct face‐to‐face outreach visits to families 

identified by the TENNderCare Program for the Welcome Baby Initiative. The number of 

personnel for each county will be dependent upon the ability to complete outreach visits 

within an identified time. 

2.  Conducting and reporting of outreach activities in accordance to guidelines set forth by the 

Welcome Baby Initiative team. 

3. Monitoring Welcome Baby Initiative outreach activities including: 

a. Assignment of outreach visits. 

b. Time worked by each lay outreach worker. The number of hours worked by staff may be 

dependent upon the number of initial visits to be conducted within the county.  

c. Accuracy of travel. 

4. Monitoring Regional Welcome Baby Initiative budget. 

 



Attachment 2 

TENNderCare Program 
Welcome Baby Initiative 

  Contract Guidelines  

Reviewed and Approved by Allysceaeioun Spears PhD MPH – Director  2‐13‐13 rev 3‐1‐14    3 
 

 

State Responsibility: 

The TENNderCare Program will be responsible for the following: 

1. Providing training and technical assistance to TENNderCare Community Outreach Program staff 
conducting Welcome Baby outreach activities this includes but not limited to supervisory staff 
and lay outreach workers. 
 

2. Providing monitoring of performance of Welcome Baby outreach activities to assure that 
targeted populations are reached. 
 

3. Providing format and guidelines for conducting and reporting Welcome Baby outreach activities. 



1-29-2015 GG Attachment 3 

1 

Federal Award Identification Worksheet 

 

Subrecipient’s name (must match registered name in 
DUNS) 

Chattanooga- Hamilton County Health Department  

Subrecipient’s DUNS number 029870271 

Federal Award Identification Number (FAIN) D89MC23542-02-07 

Federal award date 03/31/2013 – 09/30/2016 

CFDA number and name 
93.505 

ACA- Maternal, Infant and Early Childhood Home 
Visiting Program 

Grant contract’s begin date 7-1-2015 

Grant contract’s end date 6-30-2016 

Amount of federal funds obligated by this grant 
contract 

$113,000 

Total amount of federal funds obligated to the 
subrecipient 

- 

Total amount of the federal award to the pass-through 
entity (Grantor State Agency) 

$113,000 

Name of federal awarding agency 
U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; Health 

Resources and Services Administration 

Name and contact information for the federal awarding 
official 
 
 
 
 

MCHB/DHVECS 
61 Forsyth St. SW 

Atlanta, GA 30303-8931 
Email: MStephenson@hrsa@.gov 

Phone404)564-1489 
Fax: (404) 562-7999 

Is the federal award for research and development? No 

Indirect cost rate for the federal award (See 2 C.F.R. 
§200.331 for information on type of indirect cost rate)  

12.5% 

 

mailto:MStephenson@hrsa@.gov


POLICY 03 

Object

 Line-item 

Reference

EXPENSE OBJECT LINE-ITEM CATEGORY 
1

(detail schedule(s) attached as applicable)
GRANT CONTRACT

GRANTEE 

PARTICIPATION TOTAL PROJECT

1 Salaries
2

$267,100.00 $0.00 $267,100.00

2 Benefits & Taxes
$126,900.00 $0.00 $126,900.00

4, 15 Professional Fee/ Grant & Award 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

5 Supplies
$20,500.00 $0.00 $20,500.00

6 Telephone
$3,800.00 $0.00 $3,800.00

7 Postage & Shipping
$1,500.00 $0.00 $1,500.00

8 Occupancy
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

9 Equipment Rental & Maintenance
$3,200.00 $0.00 $3,200.00

10 Printing & Publications
$2,900.00 $0.00 $2,900.00

11, 12 Travel/ Conferences & Meetings
2

$21,200.00 $0.00 $21,200.00

13 Interest 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

14 Insurance
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

16 Specific Assistance To Individuals
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

17 Depreciation 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

18 Other Non-Personnel 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

20 Capital Purchase 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

22 Indirect Cost
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

24 In-Kind Expense
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

25 GRAND TOTAL
$447,100.00 $0.00 $447,100.00

1
  Each expense object line-item shall be defined by the Department of Finance and Administration Policy 03, Uniform Reporting Requirements and Cost Allocation 

Plans for Subrecipients of Federal and State Grant Monies, Appendix A . (posted on the Internet at:  http://www.tn.gov/finance/act/documents/policy3.pdf).

2  Applicable detail follows this page if line-item is funded.

ATTACHMENT 4

GRANT BUDGET

(BUDGET PAGE 1)

APPLICABLE PERIOD:  The grant budget line-item amounts below shall be applicable only to expense incurred during the period 

beginning July 1, 2015, and ending June 30, 2016.

Chattanooga Hamilton County Health Department - TENNderCare Community Outreach - Summary



POLICY 03 

Object

 Line-item 

Reference

EXPENSE OBJECT LINE-ITEM CATEGORY 
1

(detail schedule(s) attached as applicable)
GRANT CONTRACT

GRANTEE 

PARTICIPATION TOTAL PROJECT

1 Salaries
2

$204,400.00 $0.00 $204,400.00

2 Benefits & Taxes
$91,400.00 $0.00 $91,400.00

4, 15 Professional Fee/ Grant & Award 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

5 Supplies
$17,500.00 $0.00 $17,500.00

6 Telephone
$3,500.00 $0.00 $3,500.00

7 Postage & Shipping
$900.00 $0.00 $900.00

8 Occupancy
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

9 Equipment Rental & Maintenance
$3,200.00 $0.00 $3,200.00

10 Printing & Publications
$1,200.00 $0.00 $1,200.00

11, 12 Travel/ Conferences & Meetings
2

$12,000.00 $0.00 $12,000.00

13 Interest 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

14 Insurance
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

16 Specific Assistance To Individuals
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

17 Depreciation 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

18 Other Non-Personnel 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

20 Capital Purchase 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

22 Indirect Cost
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

24 In-Kind Expense
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

25 GRAND TOTAL
$334,100.00 $0.00 $334,100.00

1
  Each expense object line-item shall be defined by the Department of Finance and Administration Policy 03, Uniform Reporting Requirements and Cost Allocation 

Plans for Subrecipients of Federal and State Grant Monies, Appendix A . (posted on the Internet at:  http://www.tn.gov/finance/act/documents/policy3.pdf).

2  Applicable detail follows this page if line-item is funded.

ATTACHMENT 4

GRANT BUDGET

(BUDGET PAGE 2)

APPLICABLE PERIOD:  The grant budget line-item amounts below shall be applicable only to expense incurred during the period 

beginning July 1, 2015, and ending June 30, 2016.

Chattanooga Hamilton County Health Department - TENNderCare Community Outreach



SALARIES  Longevity AMOUNT

Ketre Commons, Public Health Educator  $   3,423.11 x 12 x 100% $41,077.32

Kamesha Good, Lay Outreach Worker  $   2,037.79 x 12 x 55% $13,449.41

Latasha Lindsey, Lay Outreach Worker  $   1,988.09 x 12 x 55% $13,121.39

Tammy McClintock, Lay Outreach Worker  $   2,038.12 x 12 x 55% $13,451.59

Janet Middlebrooks, Secretary  $   2,374.42 x 12 x 25% +  $               169 $7,292.26

Kendra Miller, Lay Outreach Worker  $   2,099.27 x 12 x 55% $13,855.18

Teresa Mitchell, Lay Outreach Worker  $   1,988.09 x 12 x 55% $13,121.39

Vanessa Montgomery, Health Program Supervisor  $   3,839.87 x 12 x 100% $46,078.44

Beth Simpson, Public Health Educator  $   3,525.80 x 12 x 100% +  $               600 $42,909.60

TOTAL ROUNDED $204,400.00 

TRAVEL / CONFERENCES & MEETINGS AMOUNT

Routine Local Travel $8,000.00 

Meeting and Conferences $4,000.00 

TOTAL $12,000.00 

ATTACHMENT 4 (continued)

GRANT BUDGET LINE-ITEM DETAIL

(BUDGET PAGE 3)



POLICY 03 

Object

 Line-item 

Reference

EXPENSE OBJECT LINE-ITEM CATEGORY 
1

(detail schedule(s) attached as applicable)
GRANT CONTRACT

GRANTEE 

PARTICIPATION TOTAL PROJECT

1 Salaries
2

$62,700.00 $0.00 $62,700.00

2 Benefits & Taxes
$35,500.00 $0.00 $35,500.00

4, 15 Professional Fee/ Grant & Award 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

5 Supplies
$3,000.00 $0.00 $3,000.00

6 Telephone
$300.00 $0.00 $300.00

7 Postage & Shipping
$600.00 $0.00 $600.00

8 Occupancy
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

9 Equipment Rental & Maintenance
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

10 Printing & Publications
$1,700.00 $0.00 $1,700.00

11, 12 Travel/ Conferences & Meetings
2

$9,200.00 $0.00 $9,200.00

13 Interest 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

14 Insurance
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

16 Specific Assistance To Individuals
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

17 Depreciation 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

18 Other Non-Personnel 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

20 Capital Purchase 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

22 Indirect Cost 
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

24 In-Kind Expense
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

25 GRAND TOTAL
$113,000.00 $0.00 $113,000.00

1
  Each expense object line-item shall be defined by the Department of Finance and Administration Policy 03, Uniform Reporting Requirements and Cost Allocation 

Plans for Subrecipients of Federal and State Grant Monies, Appendix A . (posted on the Internet at:  http://www.tn.gov/finance/act/documents/policy3.pdf).

2  Applicable detail follows this page if line-item is funded.

ATTACHMENT 4

GRANT BUDGET

(BUDGET PAGE 4)

APPLICABLE PERIOD:  The grant budget line-item amounts below shall be applicable only to expense incurred during the period 

beginning July 1, 2015, and ending June 30, 2016.

Chattanooga Hamilton County Health Department - TENNderCare Community Outreach-Welcome Baby



SALARIES  Longevity AMOUNT

Sonia Copeny, Health Case Manager  $   3,025.54 x 12 x 100% +  $               525 $36,831.48

Arlisia Craig, Lay Outreach Worker  $   2,037.79 x 12 x 55% $13,449.41

Barbara Breedwell, Secretary  $   2,525.75 x 12 x 40% +  $               270 $12,393.58

TOTAL ROUNDED $62,700.00 

TRAVEL / CONFERENCES & MEETINGS AMOUNT

Routine Local Travel $5,200.00 

Trainings in Nashville for 3 staff $4,000.00 

TOTAL $9,200.00 

ATTACHMENT 4 (continued)

GRANT BUDGET LINE-ITEM DETAIL

(BUDGET PAGE 5)



NAME AND REMITTANCE ADDRESS OF CONTRACTOR/GRANTEE   

INVOICE NUMBER 

INVOICE DATE 

INVOICE PERIOD 
FROM TO

CONTRACTING STATE AGENCY   CONTRACT PERIOD 
FROM TO

PROGRAM AREA   11

EDISON CONTRACT NUMBER   CONTACT PERSON/TELEPHONE NO.

OCR CONTRACT NUMBER

USERCODE:

PROJECT ID:

AMOUNT:

SPEEDCHART NUMBER:  

USERCODE:

Printing & Publications PROJECT ID:

AMOUNT:

SPEEDCHART NUMBER:  

Specific Assistance to Individuals USERCODE:

PROJECT ID:

AMOUNT:

I certify to the best of my knowledge and belief that the data Please check one of the following boxes
above are correct, that all expenditures were made in These services are for medical services
accordance with the contract conditions, and that payment 
is due and has not been previously requested. non-medical services

Title: Title: Title:

Date: Date: Date:

ATTACHMENT: 5

FOR CENTRAL OFFICE USE ONLY

(MO./DAY/YR.)

(C)

MONTHLY

EXPENDITURES

AMOUNT BILLED

YTD

USERCODE:

PROJECT ID:

BUDGET

LINE

ITEMS

AMOUNT:

(A)

SPEEDCHART NUMBER:  

CONTRACTOR'S/GRANTEE'S AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE PROGRAM APPROVAL AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE

TOTAL

RECOMMENDED FOR PAYMENT

SPEEDCHART NUMBER:  

Indirect Cost

CONTRACTING STATE AGENCY'S AUTHORIZED CERTIFICATION
FOR FISCAL USE ONLY

Other Non Personnel

Capital Purchase

Depreciation

Interest

Insurance

Travel/Conferences & Meetings

Occupancy

Equipment Rental & Maintenance

Telephone

Postage & Shipping

Professional Fee/Grant & Award

Supplies

BUDGET

Benefits

(B)

Salaries

DUE

TOTAL

CONTRACT

FEDERAL ID#   Edison Vendor #   
Tennessee Department of Health

STATE OF TENNESSEE
INVOICE FOR REIMBURSEMENT

TDOH AGENCY INVOICE NUMBER (ONLY FOR FISCAL OFFICE USE) 



Instructions & Hints

Do not send a worksheet that is linked to another file
Line by line instructions are on the "line by line info" tab

Retain this file in blank form
Use "File Save As" to save information for a specific contract or reporting period
File Names: Please use the following format when naming files.

name of agency REPORTING PERIOD END.xls

do not abbreviate the agency name

example: davidson county health MARCH 02.xls
Reporting period - the start and end dates of the quarter being reported

Reporting periods are based on the Agency's fiscal year
Grant period - the start and end dates of the contract being reported
Send a report for every quarter even if there is no activity for that quarter
Abbreviations - do not abbreviate the Agency name
Number pages using the "page_____of _____ pages" format

THE WORKSHEET IS NOT PROTECTED

do not overwrite formulas (identified by yellow shading and "0" ) or change formats

do not overwrite/edit shaded areas (move to the cell beyond the shading for input)

do not add (insert) lines do not change shaded areas

Expense and Revenue pages can show information for 2 contracts
Use separate Schedules A & B to report contracts for each granting State agency

Use additional expense and revenue pages for more than 2 contracts
     copy all lines & fields to the first blank line below the last line in column A
     with the cursor at the start of the added page, use "insert" "page break" for print purposes
     reset print range to cover the added page(s) and correct the page numbers

Contract Number is the State Contract Number, NOT the agency program number
Report by program within the State Contract Number within State Department
Summarize programs into totals by State Contract Number and State Department totals
Do not combine State Contract Numbers 
One Funding Information Summary and one Schedule C are required from each contractor submitting reports
Review Section C in all contracts for reporting requirements

ALLOCATION OF ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS

Requires completion of all attached sheets

NOTE If files are not properly named and print ranges not set, the report will be returned for correction
Do not send invoices with expense reports
If refund due, mail reports with check or send note with e-mail that check in the mail

e-mail completed files to: Doug.Curry@tn.gov
e-mail filing replaces mailing forms

Mailing Address:
Doug Curry Telephone:615-532-7115
Tennessee Department of Health FAX 615-741-9533
Fiscal Services
6th Floor - Andrew Johnson Tower
710 James Robertson Parkway
Nashville, TN 37243

Attachment 6

mailto:Doug.Curry@tn.gov


PROGRAM EXPENSE REPORT (Excerpted from Policy 3 statement)

SCHEDULE A

EXPENSE BY OBJECT LINE-ITEMS

There are seventeen specific object expense categories; two subtotals (Line 3, Total 

Personnel Expenses, and Line 19, Total Non-personnel Expenses); and Reimbursable 

Capital Purchases (Line 20), above Line 21, Total Direct Program Expenses. All expenses

should be included in one or more of the specific categories, or in an additional expense

category entered under Line 18, Other Non-personnel Expenses. The contracting state 

state agency may determine these requirements.

With the exception of depreciation, everything reported in Lines 1 through 21 must 

represent an actual cash disbursement or accrual as defined in the Basis For Reporting 

Expenses/Expenditures section on page 13.

THE YEAR-TO-DATE EXPENSES MUST BE TRACABLE TO THE REPORTING

AGENCY'S GENERAL LEDGER

Line 1 Salaries And Wages

On this line, enter compensation, fees, salaries, and wages paid to officers, directors, 

trustees, and employees. An attached schedule may be required showing client wages or 

other included in the aggregations.

Line 2 Employee Benefits & Payroll Taxes

Enter (a) the organization's contributions to pension plans and to employee benefit 

programs such as health, life, and disability insurance; and (b) the organization's portion of

payroll taxes such as social security and medicare taxes and unemployment and workers’ 

compensation insurance. An attached schedule may be required showing client benefits and

taxes or other included in the aggregations.

Line 3 Total Personnel Expenses

Add lines 1 and 2.

Line 4 Professional Fees

Enter the organization's fees to outside professionals, consultants, and personal-service

contractors. Include legal, accounting, and auditing fees. An attached schedule may be required 

showing the details in the aggregation of professional fees.

Line 5 Supplies

Enter the organization's expenses for office supplies, housekeeping supplies, food and

beverages, and other supplies. An attached schedule may be required showing food

expenses or other details included in the aggregations.

Line 6 Telephone

Enter the organization's expenses for telephone, cellular phones, beepers, telegram, FAX,

E-mail, telephone equipment maintenance, and other related expenses.

Attachment 6



Line 7 Postage And Shipping

Enter the organization's expenses for postage, messenger services, overnight delivery, 

outside mailing service fees, freight and trucking, and maintenance of delivery and 

shipping vehicles. Include vehicle insurance here or on line 14.

Line 8 Occupancy

Enter the organization's expenses for use of office space and other facilities, heat, light,

power, other utilities, outside janitorial services, mortgage interest, real estate taxes, and 

similar expenses. Include property insurance here or on line 14.

Line 9 Equipment Rental And Maintenance

Enter the organization's expenses for renting and maintaining computers, copiers, postage

meters, other office equipment, and other equipment, except for telephone, truck, and

automobile expenses, reportable on lines 6, 7, and 11, respectively.

Line 10 Printing And Publications

Enter the organization's expenses for producing printed materials, purchasing books and

publications, and buying subscriptions to publications.

Line 11 Travel

Enter the organization's expenses for travel, including transportation, meals and lodging, 

and per diem payments. Include gas and oil, repairs, licenses and permits, and leasing 

costs for company vehicles. Include travel expenses for meetings and conferences. Include

vehicle insurance here or on line 14.

Line 12 Conferences And Meetings

Enter the organization's expenses for conducting or attending meetings, conferences, and

conventions. Include rental of facilities, speakers' fees and expenses, printed materials, and

registration fees (but not travel).

Line 13 Interest

Enter the organization's interest expense for loans and capital leases on equipment, trucks

and automobiles, and other notes and loans. Do not include mortgage interest reportable on line 8.

Line 14 Insurance

Enter the organization's expenses for liability insurance, fidelity bonds, and other

insurance. Do not include employee-related insurance reportable on line 2. Do not include 

property and vehicle insurance if reported on lines 7, 8, or 11.

Line 15 Grants And Awards

Enter the organization's awards, grants, subsidies, and other pass-through expenditures to

individuals and to other organizations. Include allocations to affiliated organizations. 

Include in-kind grants to individuals and organizations. Include scholarships, tuition

payments, travel allowances, and equipment allowances to clients and individual beneficiaries.

Pass-through funds are not included when computing administrative expenses reported on Line 22.

Attachment 6



Line 16 Specific Assistance to Individuals

Enter the organization's direct payment of expenses of clients, patients, and individual

beneficiaries. Include such expenses as medicines, medical and dental fees, children's

board, food and homemaker services, clothing, transportation, insurance coverage, and

wage supplements.

Line 17 Depreciation

Enter the expenses the organization records for depreciation of equipment, buildings,

leasehold improvements, and other depreciable fixed assets.

Line 18 Other Non-personnel Expenses

NOTE: Expenses reportable on lines 1 through 17 should not be reported in an additional

expense category on line 18. A description should be attached for each additional category

entered on line 18. The contracting state agency may determine these requirements.

Enter the organization's allowable expenses for advertising (1), bad debts (2), contingency

provisions (7), fines and penalties (14), independent research and development (reserved) 

(17), organization (27), page charges in professional journals (29), rearrangement and 

alteration (39), recruiting (41), and taxes (47). Include the organization’s and employees'

membership dues in associations and professional societies (26). Include other fees for the

organization's licenses, permits, registrations, etc.

Line 19 Total Non-personnel Expenses

Add lines 4 through 18.

Line 20 Reimbursable Capital Purchases

Enter the organization's purchases of fixed assets. Include land, equipment, buildings,

leasehold improvements, and other fixed assets. An attached schedule may be required

showing the details for each such purchase.

Line 21 Total Direct Program Expenses

Add lines 3, 19, and 20.

Includes direct and allocated direct program expenses.

Line 22 Administrative Expenses

The distribution will be made in accordance with an allocation plan approved by your cognizant 

state agency.

Line 23 Total Direct And Administrative Expenses

Line 23 is the total of Line 21, Total Direct Program Expenses, and Line 22, 

Administrative Expenses. Line 23, Total Direct and Administrative Expenses Year-to-Date

should agree with the Total of Column B, Year-to-Date Actual Expenditures of the 

Invoice for Reimbursement.

Attachment 6



Line 24 In-Kind Expenses

In-kind Expenses (Line 24) is for reporting the value of contributed resources applied to

the program. Approval and reporting guidelines for in-kind contributions will be specified

by those contracting state agencies who allow their use toward earning grant funds.

Carry forward to Schedule B, Line 38.

Line 25 Total Expenses

The sum of Line 23, Total Direct and Administrative Expenses, and Line 24, In-kind Expenses,

goes on this line.

PROGRAM REVENUE REPORT (PRR)

SCHEDULE B

SOURCES OF REVENUE

The revenue page is intended to be an extension of the total expenses page, in that the

columns should match up by contract/attachment number and program title. There are ten

revenue sources (Schedule B, Part 1) and three subtotals (Lines 33, 41, and 43). Additional

supplemental schedules for one or more of the line items may be attached, if needed. Each

revenue column should be aligned with its corresponding expense column from Schedule A.

Reimbursable Program Funds

Line 31 Reimbursable Federal Program Funds

Enter the portion of Total Direct & Administrative Expenses reported on Line 23, 

Schedule A, that is reimbursable from federal program funds. The state funding agency 

may require an attached detail listing and reconciliation schedule.

Line 32 Reimbursable State Program Funds

Enter the portion of Total Direct & Administrative Expenses reported on Line 23,

Schedule A, that is reimbursable from state program funds. The state funding agency may

require an attached detail listing and reconciliation schedule.

Line 33 Total Reimbursable Program Funds (Equals Schedule B, Line 55)

Add lines 31 and 32.

Matching Revenue Funds

Line 34 Other Federal Funds

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses

(Equals Line 41), that is from other federal funds. The state funding agency may require an

attached detail listing and reconciliation schedule.

Line 35 Other State Funds

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses

(Equals Line 41), that is from other state funds. The state funding agency may require an

attached detail listing and reconciliation schedule.

Attachment 6



Line 36 Other Government Funds

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses 

(Equals Line 41), that is from other government funds. The state funding agency may

an attached detail listing and reconciliation schedule.

Line 37 Cash Contributions (Non-government)

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses

(Equals Line 41), that is from such sources of cash contributions as corporations, 

foundations, trusts, individuals, United Ways, other not-for-profit organizations, and from

affiliated organizations. The state funding agency may require an attached detail listing and

reconciliation schedule.

Line 38 In-Kind Contributions (Equals Schedule A, Line 24)

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses

(Equals Line 41), that is from direct and administrative in-kind contributions. The state

funding agency may require an attached detail listing and reconciliation schedule.

Approval and guidelines for valuation and reporting of in-kind contributions will be

specified by those grantor agencies who allow their use toward earning grant funds.

Line 39 Program Income

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses

(Equals Line 41), that is from program income related to the program funded by the state

agency. The state funding agency may require an attached detail listing.

Line 40 Other Matching Revenue

Enter the portion of matching revenues reported on Line 54, Subtract Matching Expenses

(Equals Line 41), that is from other revenues not included in lines 34 through 39. The state

funding agency may require an attached detail listing.

Line 41 Total Matching Revenue Funds

Add lines 34 through 40

Line 42 Other Program Funds

Enter program income related to the program funded by the state agency but not reported

as matching revenue funds on Line 54.

Line 43 Total Revenue

Add lines 33, 41, and 42

RECONCILIATION BETWEEN TOTAL EXPENSES

AND REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES

SCHEDULE B - (Lines 51 to 59)

This section, at the bottom of Schedule B, is for subtracting non-reimbursable amounts

included in Total Expenses (Line 25, Schedule A and Line 51, Schedule B).

The first line of this section, Line 51, Total Expenses, is brought forward from the last

last line of the corresponding Schedule A Total Expense Page.

Attachment 6



There are three categories of adjustments for which titled lines are provided:

Line 52 OTHER UNALLOWABLE EXPENSES:

Some program expenses may not be reimbursable under certain grants. This is a matter

between the contracting parties, and will vary according to the state agency involved and

the type of grant or contract. Consult your contract or the department that funds the

program for guidelines.

Line 53 EXCESS ADMINISTRATION:

This adjustment line may be used to deduct allocated Administration and General expenses

in excess of an allowable percentage specified in the grant contract. It may also be used to

deduct an adjustment resulting from limitations on certain components of Administration

and General expenses. Again, the specific guidelines of the department and grant involved

are the controlling factor.

Line 54 MATCHING EXPENSES (Equals Schedule B, Line 41)

Since the goal is to arrive at a reimbursable amount, the expenses paid out of other sources

of funding, local support and program user fees for example, will have to be deducted. The

amount left should be only that which is to be paid for by the contracting state agency.

Line 55 REIMBURSABLE EXPENSES (Line 51 less Lines 52, 53, and 54)

(Equals Schedule B, Line 33)

This is the amount that the contracting state agency will pay for the quarter's operations of

the program. The cumulative column is what the grant actually paid to date.

Line 56 TOTAL REIMBURSEMENT-TO-DATE

In the quarter-to-date column, this is the total received for this quarter from filing of the

Invoice For Reimbursement. The cumulative column's amount is the total received for the

grant year-to-date.

Line 57 DIFFERENCE (Line 55 less Line 56)

This is the portion of Reimbursable Expenses not yet paid.

Line 58 ADVANCES

Any advance payments for a grant should appear on this line.

Line 59 THIS REIMBURSEMENT (Line 57 less Line 58)

The remainder should be the amount due under the grant contract. Actual payments are

made through the invoicing process and not through the filing of this report.

Attachment 6



POLICY 3 REPORTING REQUIREMENTS - SUMMARY

Policy 3 requires reporting the entire operation of the Grantee agency.  This could include

numerous programs and contracts.  Policy 3 requirements are outlined in each contract and are

available on line at:  http://www.state.tn.us/finance/act/policyb.html

The “Contractor/Grantee” is the agency receiving the state grant.

The “Contracting State Agency” is the state agency that gives the grant.

Reports are normally due 30 days after the close of the Grantee's accounting quarter and year,

which may/may not coincide with the State accounting quarter and year end.  Exact requirements

are in the contract.

Policy 3 reporting requires one report from each contracting agency consisting of Schedules A, B,

and C and a Funding Information Summary.  Schedules A and B detail each program added to a

contract total.  Schedules A and B are designed to show 2 programs per page and there would be

only one Schedule C per grantee.  On Schedules A and B, programs that are not state funded can

be rolled into a single program category.  The lines on Schedule A for year-to-date information add

across all programs/contracts to the corresponding line on the Schedule C - Grant contracts in the

first column and non-grant operations in the second column.

The third column of the Schedule C shows Administrative Expenses incurred by the Grantee.

Administrative expenses are generally those that benefit programs but are not directly associated

with the program/contract.  These could include the Executive Director, office operation, accounting

staff, and other similar expenses.  This column will also show the allocation of Administrative

Expenses to the various programs/contracts, if this is done by the Grantee.  If allocated, a negative

on line 22 is equal to the Administrative Expense allocated to the grant and non-grant

programs/contracts.  Administrative Expenses may include some items that are not subject to

allocation so the amount allocated may/may not equal the total Administrative Expense reported.

Allocation of Administrative Expenses requires an approved allocation plan.

The fourth column of the Schedule C shows the total operation of the reporting grantee for the

year-to-date.  The Policy 3 report should, in total, match the total operation of the Grantee.

The funding Information Summary shows the method of allocating Administrative Expenses.  If

there is no approved allocation plan and the grantee does not allocate Administrative Expenses,

then there is no entry on Schedule C, line 22 and no allocation to the programs/contracts.  This

form must be submitted with every report.

Attachment 6

http://www.state.tn.us/finance/act/policyb.html


AGENCY NAME

ADDRESS

CITY, STATE, ZIP

REPORTING PERIOD: (MM/DD/YY) FROM: THRU:

AGENCY FISCAL YEAR END (MM/DD)

COST ALLOCATION: DOES YOUR ORGANIZATION HAVE AN APPROVED COST ALLOCATION PLAN?

YES NO

If yes, Name of organization that approved the Plan:

IF COST ALLOCATION IS APPLIED, INDICATE THE METHOD OF ALLOCATION:

Ratio of direct program salaries to total direct salaries applied to administrative cost.

Ratio of direct program expenditure to total direct expenditures applied to administrative cost.

Cost step down.

Other (describe)

Is your organization: A private not-for-profit organization?

A state college or university, or part of a city government?

DIRECTOR PHONE #

PREPARER OF REPORT PHONE #

DATE COMPLETED

Tennessee Department of Health
Funding Information Summary

Attachment 6



Page ___ of ___
Schedule A, Part 1 STATE OF TENNESSEE               PROGRAM EXPENSE REPORT

CONTRACTOR/GRANTEE FEDERAL ID #

CONTRACTING STATE AGENCY REPORT PERIOD 

Program #    

Contract Number    

Grant Period    

Program Name    

Service Name    

Schedule A
Item # EXPENSE BY OBJECT: QUARTER TO DATE YEAR TO DATE QUARTER TO DATE YEAR TO DATE

1 Salaries and Wages
2 Employee Benefits & Payroll Taxes
3      Total Personnel Expenses (add lines 1 and 2)
4 Professional Fees
5 Supplies
6 Telephone
7 Postage and Shipping
8 Occupancy
9 Equipment Rental and Maintenance

10 Printing and Publications
11 Travel
12 Conferences and Meetings
13 Interest
14 Insurance
15 Grants and Awards
16 Specific Assistance to Individuals
17 Depreciation
18 Other Non-personnel Expenses (detail)

a
b
c
d

19      Total Non-personnel Expenses (add lines 4 - 18)
20 Reimbursable Capital Purchases
21      TOTAL DIRECT PROGRAM EXPENSES
22 Administrative Expenses
23      TOTAL DIRECT AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
24 In-Kind Expenses
25      TOTAL EXPENSES

Attachment 6



Page ___ of ___

Schedule B, Part 1 STATE OF TENNESSEE               PROGRAM EXPENSE REPORT

CONTRACTOR/GRANTEE FEDERAL ID #

CONTRACTING STATE AGENCY REPORT PERIOD 

Program #    

Contract Number    

Grant Period    

Program Name    

Service Name    

Schedule B
Item # SOURCES OF REVENUE QUARTER TO DATE YEAR TO DATE QUARTER TO DATE YEAR TO DATE

Reimbursable Program Funds ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ---------------------------- ----------------------------------
31      Reimbursable Federal Program Funds
32      Reimbursable State Program Funds
33 Total Reimbursable Program Funds (equals line 55)

Matching Revenue Funds
34      Other Federal Funds
35      Other State Funds
36      Other Government Funds
37      Cash Contributions (non-government)
38      In-Kind Contributions (equals line 24)
39      Program Income
40      Other Matching Revenue
41 Total Matching Revenue Funds (lines 34 - 40)

42 Other Program Funds

43 Total Revenue (lines 33, 41, & 42)

Reconciliation Between Total and Reimbursable Expenses
51 Total Expenses (line 25)
52 Subtract Other Unallowable Expenses (contractual)
53 Subtract Excess Administration Expenses (contractual)
54 Subtract Matching Expenses (equals line 41)
55 Reimbursable Expenses (line 51 less lines 52,53,54)

56 Total Reimbursement To Date
57 Difference (line 55 less line 56)
58 Advances
59 This reimbursement (line 57 less line 58)

Attachment 6



Page   ___  of ___

Schedule C - Final Page STATE OF TENNESSEE   PROGRAM EXPENSE REPORT

CONTRACTOR/GRANTEE FEDERAL ID #

CONTRACTING STATE AGENCY REPORT PERIOD 

TOTAL DIRECT 
PROGRAM 
EXPENSES

TOTAL 
NONGRANT/ 

UNALLOWABLE 
EXPENSES

TOTAL 
ADMINISTRATIVE 

EXPENSES GRAND TOTAL
Schedule A Year-To-Date Information
Item # EXPENSE BY OBJECT: YEAR TO DATE YEAR TO DATE YEAR TO DATE YEAR TO DATE

1 Salaries and Wages
2 Employee Benefits & Payroll Taxes
3      Total Personnel Expenses
4 Professional Fees
5 Supplies
6 Telephone
7 Postage and Shipping
8 Occupancy
9 Equipment Rental and Maintenance

10 Printing and Publications
11 Travel
12 Conferences and Meetings
13 Interest
14 Insurance
15 Grants and Awards
16 Specific Assistance to Individuals
17 Depreciation
18 Other Non-personnel Expenses (detail)

a
b
c
d

19      Total Non-personnel Expenses
20 Reimbursable Capital Purchases
21      TOTAL DIRECT PROGRAM EXPENSES
22 Administrative Expenses
23      TOTAL DIRECT AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
24 In-Kind Expenses
25      TOTAL EXPENSES

Attachment 6



Attachment 7  
 

 

Annual (Final) Report  

1. Grantee Name:  

2. Grant Contract Edison Number: 

3. Grant Term: 

4. Grant Amount: 

5. Narrative Performance Details: (Description of program goals, outcomes, successes 

and setbacks, benchmarks or indicators used to determine progress, any activities that 

were not completed) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Submit one to: 

Rachel Hardaway, Statewide Community Outreach Director, Primary Prevention Impact 

Services, TN Department of Health; 

John D. Dreyzehner, MD, MPH, FCOEM, Commissioner, TN Department of Health; and 

fa.audit@tn.gov, TN Department of Finance and Administration  

mailto:fa.audit@tn.gov


No. 515-25 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 6, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR ON BEHALF OF HAMILTON 
COUNTY, TENNESSEE, THE HEALTH SERVICES DIVISION, OPERATING AS THE 
CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT, TO SIGN AN 
AMENDMENT TO THE CONTRACT WITH THE TENNESSEE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH TO 
PROVIDE MEDICAL CASE MANAGEMENT OF PERSONS INFECTED WITH HIV/AIDS IN 
HAMILTON COUNTY FOR THE TIME PERIOD APRIL 1, 2015  – MARCH 31, 2016 
(RESOLUTION 1214-7),   AND TO AMEND THE REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE BUDGETS 
TO DECREASE THE HIV/AIDS MEDICAL CASE MANAGEMENT  BUDGET BY $15,500.00. 
 
 
WHEREAS, the State of Tennessee, Department of Health has reduced the HIV/AIDS 

Medical Case Management budget, and 
 
WHEREAS, in anticipation of the reduction of State funds, appropriate measures 
 were planned to avoid reducing services to Hamilton County residents. 
 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 
 That the County Mayor be authorized to sign the attached contract amendment 

accepting the decrease of $15,500.00 for the provision of HIV/AIDS Medical 
Case Management and amend the revenue and expenditure budgets to decrease 
the HIV/AIDS Medical Case Management budget by $15,500.00. 

 
  
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 6, 2015 

  
Date 

 



10-20-11 AMEND-G 

 

G R AN T  A M E N D M E N T  

Agency Tracking # Edison ID Contract # Amendment # 

34360-45715 44402 GG-15-44402-01 01 

Contractor Legal Entity Name Edison Vendor ID 

Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department    4208 

Amendment Purpose & Effect(s) 

Decreasing full time position to part-time position      

Amendment Changes Contract End Date:           YES     NO End Date:          March 31, 2016 

TOTAL Contract Amount INCREASE or DECREASE per this Amendment (zero if N/A): -$15,500 

Funding — 

FY State Federal Interdepartmental Other TOTAL Contract Amount 

2015       $49,875             $49,875 

2016       $149,625             $149,625 

                                   

                                   

                              

TOTAL:       $199,500             $199,500 

American Recovery and Reinvestment Act (ARRA) Funding:       YES     NO 

Budget Officer Confirmation:  There is a balance in the 
appropriation from which obligations hereunder are required 
to be paid that is not already encumbered to pay other 
obligations. 

OCR USE 

 

 

GG-15-44402-01 

Speed Chart (optional) Account Code (optional) 

HL00007854 71301000 

 
 

 

 

 



10-20-11 AMEND-G 

1 

AMENDMENT 1 
OF GRANT CONTRACT GG-15-44402-00 

 
This Grant Contract Amendment is made and entered by and between the State of Tennessee, 
Department of Health, hereinafter referred to as the “State” and Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health 

Department, hereinafter referred to as the “Grantee.”  It is mutually understood and agreed by and 
between said, undersigned contracting parties that the subject Grant Contract is hereby amended as 
follows:  
 
1. Grant Contract section C.1. is deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following: 
 

C.1. Maximum Liability.  In no event shall the maximum liability of the State under this Grant 
Contract exceed One Hundred Ninety Nine Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($199,500) 
(“Maximum Liability”).  The Grant Budget, attached and incorporated as Attachment 4 is 
the maximum amount due the Grantee under this Grant Contract.  The Grant Budget line-
items include, but are not limited to, all applicable taxes, fees, overhead, and all other 
direct and indirect costs incurred or to be incurred by the Grantee. 

 
2. Grant Contract Attachment 4 is deleted in its entirety and replaced with the new Attachment 4 

attached hereto. 
 
Required Approvals.  The State is not bound by this Amendment until it is signed by the contract parties 
and approved by appropriate officials in accordance with applicable Tennessee laws and regulations 
(depending upon the specifics of this contract, said officials may include, but are not limited to, the 
Commissioner of Finance and Administration, the Commissioner of Human Resources, and the 
Comptroller of the Treasury). 
 
Amendment Effective Date.  The revisions set forth herein shall be effective May 1, 2015.  All other terms 
and conditions of this Grant Contract not expressly amended herein shall remain in full force and effect.  
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, 
CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT: 

 
 
 

GRANTEE SIGNATURE DATE 

 

PRINTED NAME AND TITLE OF GRANTEE SIGNATORY (above)  

HAMILTON COUNTY GOVERNMENT: 

 

 GRANTEE SIGNATURE DATE 

 

PRINTED NAME AND TITLE OF GRANTEE SIGNATORY (above)  

 

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH: 

 

JOHN J. DREYZEHNER, MD, MPH, FACOEM, COMMISSIONER DATE 
 



POLICY 03 

Object

 Line-item 

Reference

EXPENSE OBJECT LINE-ITEM CATEGORY 
1

(detail schedule(s) attached as applicable)
GRANT CONTRACT

GRANTEE 

PARTICIPATION TOTAL PROJECT

1 Salaries
2

$112,400.00 $0.00 $112,400.00

2 Benefits & Taxes
55,800.00                      $0.00 $55,800.00

4, 15 Professional Fee/ Grant & Award 
2

$7,200.00 $0.00 $7,200.00

5 Supplies
$4,000.00 $0.00 $4,000.00

6 Telephone
$1,500.00 $0.00 $1,500.00

7 Postage & Shipping
$300.00 $0.00 $300.00

8 Occupancy
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

9 Equipment Rental & Maintenance
$1,400.00 $0.00 $1,400.00

10 Printing & Publications
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

11, 12 Travel/ Conferences & Meetings
2

$2,800.00 $0.00 $2,800.00

13 Interest 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

14 Insurance
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

16 Specific Assistance To Individuals
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

17 Depreciation 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

18 Other Non-Personnel 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

20 Capital Purchase 
2

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

22 Indirect Cost (8.38% of salaries and benefits)
$14,100.00 $0.00 $14,100.00

24 In-Kind Expense
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00

25 GRAND TOTAL
$199,500.00 $0.00 $199,500.00

1
  Each expense object line-item shall be defined by the Department of Finance and Administration Policy 03, Uniform Reporting Requirements and Cost Allocation 

Plans for Subrecipients of Federal and State Grant Monies, Appendix A . (posted on the Internet at:  http://www.state.tn.us/finance/act/documents/policy3.pdf).

2
  Applicable detail attached if line-item is funded.

ATTACHMENT 4

GRANT BUDGET

(BUDGET PAGE 1)

CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT                                                  HIV/AIDS Center of Excellence

APPLICABLE PERIOD:  The grant budget line-item amounts below shall be applicable only to expense incurred during the period 

beginning April 1, 2015 and ending March 31, 2016.



SALARIES  Longevity AMOUNT

Cathy Brooks Mcelvain, Public Health Representative  $   3,439.81 x 3 x 100% $10,319.43

Cathy Brooks Mcelvain, Public Health Representative  $   3,525.80 x 9 x 100% $31,732.20

Cathy Brooks Mcelvain, Public Health Representative  $            1,275 $1,275.00

Rachel Inman, Public Health Representative  $   3,815.68 x 3 x 100% $11,447.04

Rachel Inman, Public Health Representative  $   3,911.07 x 9 x 100% $35,199.63

Rachel Inman, Public Health Representative  $               400 $400.00

First Name, Last Name, Lead Patient Health Rep (PT)  $   3,666.67 x 12 x 50%  $22,000.02

TOTAL ROUNDED $112,400.00 

PROFESSIONAL FEES AMOUNT

Kelly Services $7,200.00 

TOTAL $7,200.00 

TRAVEL / CONFERENCES & MEETINGS AMOUNT

Routine Local Travel $1,100.00 

HIV/AIDS Training Nashville $1,700.00 

TOTAL $2,800.00 

ATTACHMENT 4 (continued)

GRANT BUDGET LINE-ITEM DETAIL

(BUDGET PAGE 2)



No. 515- 26 
 

 

 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 6, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE COUNTY MAYOR ON BEHALF OF HAMILTON 
COUNTY, TENNESSEE, THE HEALTH SERVICES DIVISION, OPERATING AS THE 
CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT TO SIGN A 
CONTINUATION CONTRACT WITH THE TENNESSEE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH IN THE 
AMOUNT OF $303,400.00 TO PROVIDE TUBERCULOSIS CONTROLS SERVICES  IN 
HAMILTON COUNTY FOR A TIME PERIOD OF JULY 1, 2015 THROUGH JUNE 30, 2016.  
 
WHEREAS, Tuberculosis disease continues to be a public health threat in Hamilton 

County; and, 
 
WHEREAS, appropriate and timely diagnosis, treatment and contact identification and 

preventive treatment has been proven to be an effective means of controlling 
the disease; and, 

 
 WHEREAS, the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department provides this service to 

persons in Hamilton County; and, 
 
WHEREAS,  the Tennessee Department of Health provides funding to support this service. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN 
SESSION ASSEMBLED: 
 

That the County Mayor be authorized to sign the attached contract in the 
amount of $303,400.00 for the provision of Tuberculosis prevention and 
control services for the residents of Hamilton County.   

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND 
AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 6, 2015 

  
Date 

 



























































No. 515-27 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 6, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION TO AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR ON BEHALF OF HAMILTON COUNTY, 
TENNESSEE,  HEALTH SERVICES DIVISION, OPERATING AS THE CHATTANOOGA-HAMILTON 
COUNTY HEALTH DEPARTMENT, TO ENTER INTO AND EXECUTE A LETTER OF AGREEMENT 
WITH THE STATE OF TENNESSEE, DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH FOR THE PROVISION OF TOBACCO 
USE PREVENTION SERVICES, USING TOBACCO SETTLEMENT FUNDS RECEIVED FROM THE 
STATE OF TENNESSEE, DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH IN THE AMOUNT OF $256,649.00, AND 
THEREBY AMENDING THE FY15 REVENUE AND EXPENSE BUDGET OF THE HEALTH 
DEPARTMENT BY INCREASING THE BUDGET BY $256,649.00 THROUGH DECEMBER 31, 2015, AND 
WITH THE REMAINING REVENUE BALANCE CARRYING FORWARD TO THE NEXT FISCAL YEAR.    
 
 
WHEREAS,   the State of Tennessee, Department of Health has awarded $256,649.00 from Tobacco 

Settlement funding to  the Health Services Division of Hamilton County, Tennessee, operating 
as the Chattanooga-Hamilton County  Health Department, for the purpose of continuing to 
support funding commitments as stated in the original Letter of Agreement dated January 7, 
2014 and as  processed and approved by the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners with 
the passage of Resolution 214-31 on February 19, 2014 for programs, activities, and  services in 
the area of  tobacco use prevention; and 

 
WHEREAS,   these programs, activities and services will include tobacco use prevention educational  

       presentations,   promotion of the adoption of voluntary public and private tobacco prevention   
       and  control policies, coalition   building, health impact planning along with activities and   

        efforts geared at (1) stop smoking during pregnancy,  (2) the reduction of young children’s      
              exposure to second and third hand smoke, and (3) helping children to not begin smoking; and      

 
WHEREAS, the Chattanooga-Hamilton County Health Department is seeking to continue the Agreement 

with the  State of Tennessee, Department of Health for the provision of tobacco use prevention 
programs and services as delineated in the original  Letter of Agreement by accepting the 
March 30, 2015 receipt of $256,649.00 in additional funding thereby amending and increasing 
the FY 15 revenue and expense budget of the Health Department for the period ending 
December 31, 2015, and to amend and increase the revenue and expense budget of the Health 
Department each year in accordance with any additional funding  received for the                      
remainder of the life of the original Letter of Agreement.   

 
 
 
 
 



 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY IN SESSION 
ASSEMBLED: 
 

That the County Mayor be authorized to approve and accept $256,649.00 in Tobacco Settlement 
funds from the Tennessee Department of Health in accordance with the original Letter of Agreement 
dated January 7, 2014, andas approved by the Hamilton County Board of Commissioners with the 
passage of Resolution 214-31, and that the FY 15 revenue and expense budget be amended and 
increased by $256,640.00 for the period ending December 31, 2015, and that the revenue and 
expense budget be amended and increased each fiscal year for subsequent amounts received for the 
remaining life of the grant, and furthermore with the remaining revenue balance carrying forward to 
the next fiscal year.     

 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM AND AFTER ITS 
PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 
 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 6, 2015 

  
Date 

 







No. 515-28 
 

   

STATE OF TENNESSEE 
Hamilton County 

 

 
May 6, 2015 

Date (Month, Day, Year) 
 

Hamilton County Board of Commissioners 

RESOLUTION 

 
 
 A RESOLUTION TO MAKE CERTAIN FINDINGS RELATING TO THE 
HERITAGE-MACLELLAN APARTMENTS, LLC PROJECT, TO DELEGATE 
CERTAIN AUTHORITY TO THE HEALTH, EDUCATIONAL, AND HOUSING 
FACILITY BOARD OF THE CITY OF CHATTANOOGA, TENNESSEE, AND TO 
AUTHORIZE THE COUNTY MAYOR TO ENTER INTO AND EXECUTE AN 
AGREEMENT FOR PAYMENTS IN LIEU OF AD VALOREM TAXES. 
 

WHEREAS,    pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated, Section 48-101-312(b) Hamilton 
County (the “County”) is permitted to delegate to The Health, Educational, and 
Housing Facility Board of the City of Chattanooga (the “Corporation”) the 
authority to negotiate and accept payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes from 
lessees of the Corporation upon a finding by the County that such payments are 
deemed to be in furtherance of the Corporation’s public purposes; and, 

WHEREAS, Heritage-Maclellan Apartments, LLC (the “Company”) is contemplating the 
renovation of the historic Maclellan Building, in downtown Chattanooga, to 
provide for (in addition to ground-level commercial space) apartments with 
mixed sizes of efficiencies, and one (1) bedroom and two (2) bedroom units 
(collectively, the “Project”), and because of the substantial economic benefits to 
the City and Hamilton County resulting from the Project, has asked the Board, 
the County Commission, and the City Council to approve payments in lieu of 
ad valorem taxes; and,  

WHEREAS,  the County has determined that payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes from such 
a project would be in furtherance of the Corporation’s public purposes as set 
forth within Chapter 101 of Title 48 of the Tennessee Code Annotated;  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THIS COUNTY LEGISLATIVE BODY 
IN SESSION ASSEMBLED: 

That we do hereby find that the Heritage-Maclellan Apartments, LLC project (exclusive of the 



 

 

ground-level commercial space) referenced above is in the best interest of the County, and that 
payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes derived therefrom would be in furtherance of the 
Corporation’s public purposes; and  

That having made such a finding in this instance, we do hereby delegate to the Corporation the 
authority to negotiate and accept payments in lieu of ad valorem taxes from the Company, it 
being further noted that this delegation is for the purpose and this project only; and, 

That the County Mayor is hereby authorized to enter into an Agreement for Payments In Lieu 
Of Ad Valorem Taxes in the form attached hereto, with such changes thereto as he shall 
approve; and, 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION TAKE EFFECT FROM 
AND AFTER ITS PASSAGE, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 

 CERTIFICATION OF ACTION 

Approved: 

 
☐  

Rejected: 
 
☐ 

 
 
 

Approved: 

 
☐ 

County Clerk 
 
 

Vetoed: 
 
☐ 

 

  County Mayor 
 

May 6, 2015 

  
Date 

 






























	5-6-15 Agenda with Notes - Revised - 3
	515-_S_Minutes_Recessed Meeting - April 8. 2015 _1531_04-08-15 Recessed
	515-_S_Minutes_Agenda Session - April 8, 2015 _1532_04-08-15 Agenda
	515-_S_Minutes_Regular Meeting - April 15, 2015 _1533_04-15-15 Regular
	515-_S_Report_Trustee Monthly Report March 2015_1521_March 2015 Monthly Report
	515-_S_Report_Trustee Excess Fee Report March 2015_1522_March 2015 Excess Fee Report
	515-_S_Albert Kiser_Reports Quarterly Investment Report_1527_1147_001
	515-_S_Report_Criminal Court Clerk's Reports Revised December 2014; January and February 2015_1534_Criminal Court Clerk Report Dec 2014 Jan Feb 2015
	515-1_R_Bill Knowles_Notary_1549_05-06-15
	515-1_S_Bill Knowles_Notary Revised
	515-2_R_County Mayor_Appointment of Bart McKinney as Director of the Information Technology Services Department._1541_Appointment Bart McKinney as Director ITSD
	515-2_S_County Mayor_Appointment of Bart McKinney as Director of the Information Technology Services Department._1541_McKinney Bart Resume
	515-3_R_Appointment(s)_Chatt Ham Co Hospital Auth Appt and Reappt_1552_Appt Queen and reappt DiStefano and Hall
	515-3_S_Appointment(s)_Chatt Ham Co Hospital Auth Appt and Reappt_1552_David Queen David DiStefano Stephanie Hall Bios
	515-4_R_Appointment(s)_Appointment of Michael Kirk and reappointment of Gary Haskew to the Hamilton County Citizens Advisory Board for Recreation._1553_Appointment Kirk and Haskew
	515-4_S_Appointment(s)_Appointment of Michael Kirk and reappointment of Gary Haskew to the Hamilton County Citizens Advisory Board for Recreation._1553_Michael Stephen Kirk Gary Haskew Bio
	515-5_R_Appointment(s)_Appointment of George Wright and Don Welch to the Hamilton County Beer Board._1554_Appointment Wright and Welch
	515-5_S_Appointment(s)_Appointment of George Wright and Don Welch to the Hamilton County Beer Board._1554_George Wright  Don Welch Bio
	515-6_R_Sheriff Hammond_One High Top Cargo Van_1550_RES. (1) HIGH TOP CARGO VAN
	515-6_S_Sheriff Hammond_One High Top Cargo Van_1550_(1) High Top Cargo Van
	515-7_R_Sam Mairs_One seven passenger van_1545_RES. SEVEN PASSENGER VAN
	515-7_S_Sam Mairs_One seven passenger van_1545_Seven Passenger Van for Juvenile Court
	515-8_R_Commissioner Graham_Repayment to the County General Fund from the HCDE_1525_Repayment Ham Co General Fund
	515-9_R_Bill McGriff_Wireless Telephone Service Contract_1512_RES. WIRELESS SERVICE CONTRACT
	515-9_S_Bill McGriff_Wireless Telephone Service Contract_1512_Wireless Phone Service
	515-10_R_Bill McGriff_Apogee sound system for East Brainerd Elementary School_1548_RES. APOGEE SOUND SYSTEM FOR E. BRAINERD ELEMENTAY SCHOOL
	515-10_S_Bill McGriff_Apogee sound system for East Brainerd Elementary School_1548_Apogee for East Brainerd Elementary School
	515-11_R_Don Allen_Two (2) year Service Contract for LifePak Defibrillator Cardiac Monitors_1519_RES. PHYSIO CONTROL SERVICE CONTRACT
	515-11_S_Don Allen_Two (2) year Service Contract for LifePak Defibrillator Cardiac Monitors_1519_Physio Control Service Contract
	515-12_R_Don Allen_Litter Prevention and Trash Collection Grant_1524_Litter Prevention and Trash Collection Grant 04142015
	515-13_R_Don Allen_Medical Supplies Contract_1544_RES. MEDICAL SUPPLIES CONTRACT
	515-13_S_Don Allen_Medical Supplies Contract_1544_Medical Supplies Contact
	515-14_R_Albert Kiser_Funding to assist with building a restroom facility at East Hamilton Middle High School_1517_Comm Smedley Restroom Facility
	515-15_R_Albert Kiser_Funding to assist with the purchase of ISG Thermal SYS Model S200 Imaging Cameras with truck mount for Dallas Bay VFP_1518_Comm Haynes Cameras
	515-16_R_Albert Kiser_Fuel March 2015_1528_Fuel Resolution March 2015
	515-16_S_Albert Kiser_Fuel March 2015_1528_March 2015 docs
	515-17_R_Albert Kiser_Microsoft Surface Pro 3 and IPAD Air 2_1535_RES. MICROSOFT SURFACE PRO 3 AND IPAD AIR 2 CONTRACT
	515-17_S_Albert Kiser_Microsoft Surface Pro 3 and IPAD Air 2_1535_Microsoft Surface Pro 3 & IPAD Air 2
	515-18_R_Todd Leamon_New Subdivision Roads_1526_belleaurdg
	515-18_S_Todd Leamon_New Subdivision Roads_1526_BelleauRdgHilnds03-15_supportdocument
	515-19_R_Todd Leamon_Sale Creek Volunteer Fire Department Headquarters_1540_RES. SALE CREEK VOLUNTEER FIRE DEPT. HEADQUARTERS
	515-19_S_Todd Leamon_Sale Creek Volunteer Fire Department Headquarters_1540_Sale Creek Volunteer Fire Department Headquarters
	515-20_R_Todd Leamon_Lease Renewal_1542_Lease Renewal
	515-20_S_Todd Leamon_Lease Renewal_1542_Res. Attachment USDA Letter
	515-21_R_Todd Leamon _ Ganns Middle Valley Elementary School
	515-21_S_Todd Leamon_Ganns Middle Valley Elementary School
	515-22_R_Becky Barnes_Community Health Prevention Services_1536_Community Health Services 2015
	515-22_S_Becky Barnes_Community Health Prevention Services_1536_Grant Amendment Community Health Services 2015
	515-23_R_Becky Barnes_Health Promotion Services_1537_Health Promotion Resolution 2016
	515-23_S_Becky Barnes_Health Promotion Services_1537_Health Promotion Contract 2016
	515-24_R_Becky Barnes_TENNderCare Outreach and Welcome Baby_1538_Resolution TENNderCare for CERP1
	515-24_S_Becky Barnes_TENNderCare Outreach and Welcome Baby_1538_TENNderCare Outreach Grant 2011-2012
	515-25_R_Becky Barnes_HIV AIDS Medical Case Management_1539_Resolution Draft of decrease 2015-16-1
	515-25_S_Becky Barnes_HIV AIDS Medical Case Management_1539_Admendment 34360-42715 Chattanooga-Hamilton HIVCOE for signature Amendment 1
	515-26_R_Becky Barnes_Tuberculosis Prevention and Control Program_1546_TB Resolution 2016
	515-26_S_Becky Barnes_Tuberculosis Prevention and Control Program_1546_TB Control Contract 2016
	515-27_R_Becky Barnes_Tobacco Prevention Services_1551_Tobacco Prevention Service Resolution
	515-27_S_Becky Barnes_Tobacco Prevention Services_1551_Tennessee Tobacco Settlement Fund 2015
	515-28_R_Rheubin Taylor_Payments in Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes._1555_PILOT Agreement Heritage MaCellan Apartments
	515-28_S_Rheubin Taylor_Revised - PILOT Agreement



